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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF JBT
TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC,,
HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN
LOGISTICS INC., AND HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

Applicants

NOTICE OF APPLICATION
(CCAA Initial Order)

TO THE RESPONDENTS

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the applicant. The claim made by the
applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing:

OlIn person
OBy telephone conference

XBy video conference
at the following location:
Zoom Videoconference to follow.

on Monday, the 10" day of February 2025, at 10:00 am (Eastern Time).

AS



2
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IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the
application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an Ontario lawyer acting for
you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of Civil
Procedure, serve it on the applicant’s lawyer, or where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it
on the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your other lawyer must
appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE TO THE
COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION, you or your
lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the
applicant’s lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it,
with proof of service, in the court office where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but
at least four days before the hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN YOUR ABSENCE
AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT
ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING
A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Date: February 6, 2025 Issued by:

Local Registrar
Address of court office:

330 University Avenue, 7™ Floor
Toronto, ON M5G 1R7

TO: THE SERVICE LIST
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APPLICATION

NATURE OF APPLICATION

1.

The Applicants seek an order (the “Initial Order”) substantially in the form attached as

Tab 3 of the Applicants’ Motion Record that, among other things:

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

(f)

abridges the notice periods and validates service of the motion record;

converts the Notices of Intention to Make a Proposal of the Applicants (“NOI
Proceedings”) to proceedings under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act,

RSC 1985, ¢ C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”);

provides for an initial stay of proceedings in respect of the Applicants up to and
including February 20, 2025 or such longer time as the Court may direct (the

“Proposed Stay Period”);

appoints Dodick Landau Inc. as the court-appointed monitor of the Applicants (in

this capacity, the “Proposed Monitor”);

authorizes the Applicants to borrow up to a maximum principal amount of $250,000
under a debtor-in-possession credit facility (the “DIP Facility”) from Randy
Bowman (in his capacity as lender under the DIP Facility, the “DIP Lender”) to
finance the Applicants’ working capital requirements and to pay the costs and
expenses of this proceeding, as more fully described in the interim financing term
sheet dated February 5, 2025 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) between the Applicants and

the DIP Lender;

grants the following charges, which charge shall rank in priority to all other security
interests, trusts, liens, charges, and encumbrances in favour of any person with

the following order of priority:

A7
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(ii)

(iii)

a first-ranking priority charge that secures any Carrier’s right to payment for
the supply of services rendered to the Applicants in respect of shipments
in connection with which such Carrier was engaged by the Applicants for
the carriage of goods on or subsequent to the Filing Date, which charge is
granted on the applicable receivable associated with such shipment
received by the Applicants or any of them, from and after the Filing Date,
and the charge on the applicable receivable shall be in the amount owing
to the respective Carrier (all such charges, collectively the “Critical

Suppliers Charge”);

a second-ranking charge (“Administration Charge”) over all of the
Applicants’ current and future assets, undertakings, and properties of every
nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds
thereof (collectively, the “Property”), in the maximum amount of $250,000,
as security for the payment of the professional fees and disbursements
incurred and to be incurred by the Proposed Monitor, counsel to the
Proposed Monitor and counsel to the Applicants, in connection with the
NOI Proceedings. If the Court is inclined to grant a Comeback Hearing,
then the Applicants seek an Administration Charge in the amount of
$150,000 for the Initial Order, which will be increased to $250,000 at the

Comeback Hearing; and

a third-ranking charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) over all of the Property
of the Applicants in the maximum amount of $250,000 as security for the
Applicants’ obligations under the DIP Facility to the DIP Lender. If the Court
is inclined to grant a Comeback Hearing, then the Applicants will not seek

a DIP Lender’s Charge in the Initial Order and will seek the DIP Lender’'s

A8
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(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

Charge of $250,000 at the Comeback Hearing;

authorizes the Applicants, with the written approval of the Proposed Monitor, to
pay amounts owing to their suppliers for critical goods or services actually supplied
to the Applicants prior to the Filing Date if, in the opinion of the Applicants and the
Proposed Monitor, such payment is necessary to maintain the uninterrupted

operations of the Business;

orders that all receivables received by the Applicants on or after the Filing Date
shall be treated in accordance with the provisions of the Highway Traffic Act, RSO

1990, c. H. 8 (the “HTA”), including section 190.0.1(3) therein;

stays all Carriers (as defined in the HTA) from contacting customers of the
Applicants in respect to the Business of the Applicants, including but not limited to,
requiring customers to make payments to the Carriers, soliciting business from
such customers, from taking any enforcement action with respect to the Carrier
Trust Funds (as defined in the Initial Order) or from holding the Applicants’ load
freight product hostage on account of any outstanding indebtedness owed by the

Applicants to the Carriers prior to the Filing Date; and

if necessary, orders a comeback hearing on a date to be scheduled by the Court
that is no more than 10 days after the date of the Initial Order (the “Comeback

Hearing”); and

such further and other relief as this Honourable Court deems just.

A9
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THE GROUNDS FOR THE APPLICATION ARE:

Background of the Business

2. JBT Group is in the business of end-to-end supply chain services, transportation logistics
and warehousing services for customers across Canada, the United States and North
America (the “Business”). The Applicants’ Business has grown significantly over the past
twenty years such that they now have over 58 trucks, over 160 dry vans and refrigerated
units, and over 165,000 square feet of state-of-the-art, SQF Gold-certified food storage

and warehouse spaces.

3. The JBT Group is comprised on the following entities:

@) JBT Transport Inc. (“JBTTI”), an Ontario corporation that operates primarily in

cross-border transportation and logistics between the United States and Canada;

(b) Drumbo Transport Limited (“Drumbo”), an Ontario corporation that is largely

dormant but has some residual receivables;

(© Heritage Truck Lines Inc. (*HTL”), an Ontario corporation that operates primarily

in local transportation and logistics in Ontario;

(d) Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. (“HNL”), an Ontario corporation that is now

dormant;

(e) Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. (*‘HWD?”), an Ontario corporation that

operates the warehousing and distribution arm of the Business;

() Melair Management Inc., an Ontario corporation formed for the purposes of holding
the Applicants’ head office, which is located at 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario and

carrying out property management services; and,

A10
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(9) Waydom Management Inc. (“Waydom”), an Ontario corporation that previously

held and managed certain real estate for the JBT Group. Waydom is now dormant.

4, The core operating companies of the Applicants are JBTTI, HWD and HTL. JBT Group
has transitioned most of the accounts and operations of Drumbo, HNL and Waydom to
the core operating companies, but there are still some legacy accounts that are processed

through those entities.

5. In addition to relying on their own fleet of vehicles to offer transportation services, the
Business also works as a third-party logistics provider to coordinate the transportation of
goods from a supplier to a purchaser in exchange for a commission. The amount of money
owed from the supplier to JBT Group plus commission is known as a broker receivable.
The Applicants then pay out the broker receivable in part (i.e. minus the commission) to

the Carriers the Applicants engaged (“Broker Payables”).

Financial Difficulties

6. In February 2022, the Applicants commenced an expansion of their Business by acquiring
Drumbo, HTL, HNL, and HWD. The expansion brought an exciting opportunity for the
Business to become a full-service provider and to cover a much broader service range.
The acquisition also came with two real estate properties that required JBT Group to incur

significant costs for land development and construction.

7. Unfortunately, shortly after the expansion, in September 2022, market conditions began
to swiftly decline and the Applicants were faced with a significant downward trend in their
crossborder transportation operations. By March 2023, freight rates had declined by

31.6%. By August 2023, shipping volume had dropped by $4.9 million for JBTTI alone.

All
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By November 2023, the Applicants were sustaining significant losses and using the line
of credit with the Toronto Dominion Bank (“TD Bank”) to fund their ongoing operations.
As a result, JBT Group was assigned to TD Bank’s special loans group (“TD Special

Loans”).

TD Special Loans initiated a full review of the JBT Group’s credit facilities. Upon doing this
analysis, TD Bank realized that Broker Payables had not been included as a reserve
against the eligible accounts receivable in the borrowing base calculations for the
operating loan. Accordingly, TD Bank adjusted the calculations of the borrowing base for
the operating loan by increasing the reserve for Broker Payables, effectively reducing the
eligible accounts receivable available for loan coverage. This modification had a devasting
impact on the JBT Group’s lending capacity, particularly at a time when the Applicants

were already grappling with the challenges facing the transportation industry.

Commencing in December 2023, the Applicants took numerous steps to improve the
lending relationship between TD Bank and the JBT Group. The JBT Group also began
implementing an operational restructuring process, the goal of which was to decrease

operating costs and enhance the Applicants’ market position.

Through the Applicants’ efforts, the Applicants were able to successfully decrease the
indebtedness owed to TD Bank from approximately $25 million in January 2024 to $16.2

million in December 2024.

In December 2024, the Applicants also secured two potential transactions that would
further significantly repay TD Bank. However, TD Bank refused to permit the transactions
to proceed given, in part, the transactions had an associated timeline of a few months. It

became clear that despite the significant paydown to TD Bank and the Applicants’

Al2
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constant cooperation, TD Bank required the Applicants to pay out the entirety of the

indebtedness on an expedited basis.

Although the Applicants had never missed a principal or interest payment to TD Bank, the
Applicants were in breach of certain terms of a forbearance agreement between TD Bank
and the Applicants. Accordingly, on January 15, 2024, TD delivered a demand to the
Applicants and issued a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security under section 244 of the

BIA.

In order to preserve the Applicants’ ongoing operations and value, the Applicants each
filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal to their creditors on January 24, 2025 (the

“Filing Date”).

Since the filing of the NOI, the Applicants have, among other things:

a) continued to operate the Business in the normal course, with the oversight of the

Proposed Monitor;

b) with the assistance of the Proposed Monitor, continued to assess various

restructuring options;

c) began to develop a sale and investment solicitation process (“SISP”) with a
potential stalking horse bid with a view to canvassing the market for a transaction

and developing a proposal;

d) with the assistance of the Proposed Monitor, prepared a cash flow forecast
statement for the period ending the week of April 19, 2025 (the “Cash Flow

Forecast”);

e) negotiated and arranged the DIP Facility, which will allow the Applicants to sustain

Al3
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their operations during the NOI Proceedings;

f) engaged with their employees, vendors, and customers to address any questions

about the NOI Proceedings;

Q) engaged with TD Bank to build consensus in the NOI Proceedings and this CCAA

proceeding;
h) disclaimed two leases of real property in order to decrease operational costs; and
i) continued to maintain and foster relationships with their suppliers and customers.

Conversion to CCAA Proceeding

16. The Applicants seek to continue the NOI Proceedings under the CCAA pursuant to section
11.6 of the CCAA. Given the complicated factual and legal issues currently facing the
Applicants, the CCAA is the best forum for these insolvency proceedings and presents the

best possible chance of maximizing value for all stakeholders of the Applicants.

17. The purpose of the CCAA proceeding is to allow the Applicants to conduct a SISP that will
maximize recovery for stakeholders, while also maintaining going concern operations to
safeguard employment for the Applicants’ 83 full-time employees and preserve value for

the Applicants’ stakeholders.

18. The Proposed Monitor supports the Applicants’ motion to continue the NOI Proceedings

under the CCAA.

Al4
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Stay of Proceedings

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

The Applicants seek a stay of proceedings for ten days until February 20, 2025 or such
later time as the Court may direct. The Applicants require a stay of proceedings, including

in respect of secured parties, to prevent creditors from taking enforcement steps.

The intention of the stay of proceedings is to provide the Applicants with the necessary
breathing room to preserve value and stabilize the Business as a going concern while

developing a viable restructuring plan for the benefit of all stakeholders.

The Proposed Stay Period is critical to maximizing the realization of the Business for
creditors and stakeholders and avoiding the destruction of value that would result from a
shut-down of operations. If the Business is forced to shut down, the Applicants would
immediately suffer an irreparable loss in asset value given that their primary assets—their
goodwill and reputation, client relationships, accounts receivable, and permits—require an

operating Business to retain value.

The Applicants have acted and will continue to act with good faith and with due diligence.

No creditors will be materially prejudiced by the Proposed Stay Period.

The Cash Flow Forecast, prepared by the Applicants, with the assistance of the Proposed
Monitor, demonstrates that the Applicants will have sufficient cash flow to operate during

the Proposed Stay Period with the use of the DIP Facility.

The Proposed Monitor is supportive of the Proposed Stay Period.

Approval of DIP Facility and DIP Lender’s Charge

25.

The Applicants seek the approval of the DIP Facility in the maximum principal amount of

$250,000 and the corresponding DIP Lender’s Charge.

Al5
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The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that the Applicants require access to immediate
interim financing in the week ending March 1, 2025 and throughout the next 12 weeks in
the approximate amount of $250,000 to meet the Applicants’ ordinary course of business
and restructuring expenses during the Proposed Stay Period. The DIP Facility is expected
to provide sufficient liquidity to allow the Applicants to operate and meet their ongoing

obligations.

The key terms and conditions of the DIP Term Sheet are as follows:

@) the DIP Lender is a director and officer of the Applicants;

(b) a maximum loan amount of $250,000;

(© interest accruing at a rate of 10% per annum; and

(d) advances under the DIP Facility are conditional upon Court approval of the DIP
Term Sheet, Court approval of the SISP, and the granting of a super-priority DIP
Lender's Charge in favour of the DIP Lender over all of the Property of the

Applicants, subject only to the Administration Charge.

The DIP Lender's Charge will secure all the funds advanced to the Applicants under the
DIP Facility. The DIP Lender’s Charge will not secure any obligations incurred prior to the

filing of the NOI Proceedings.

Without the DIP Lender’s Charge, the DIP Lender would not provide the DIP Facility under
the DIP Term Sheet resulting in the Applicants inability to finance their operations, which

would be detrimental to the stakeholders of the Applicants.

The Applicants believe that the terms of the DIP Facility are fair and reasonable in the

circumstances, and that the DIP Facility represents the best available interim financing

Al6
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arrangement that could be arranged by the Applicants within the time frame needed to

meet the Applicants’ cash flow needs.

31. The Proposed Monitor is supportive of the approval of the DIP Facility and the DIP

Lender’s Charge.

Administration Charge

32. The Applicants seek an Administration Charge over the Property of the Applicants in the
amount of $150,000 to secure the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Applicants,
the Proposed Monitor, and counsel to the Proposed Monitor incurred in connection with
this NOI Proceedings. The Administration Charge is proposed to rank in priority to all other

security interests and charges.

33. The Administration Charge is necessary as the Applicants require the expertise,
knowledge and continued participation of their advisors and professionals during these
NOI Proceedings in order to complete a successful restructuring. Each of the beneficiaries

of the Administration Charge have a distinct role in the Applicants’ restructuring.

34. The quantum of the Administration Charge is reasonable and appropriate.

35. The Proposed Monitor supports the Administration Charge.

Critical Suppliers Charge and Segregating of Carrier Receivables

36. The Applicants are seeking an order that:

(@) the Applicants will hold Carrier Trust Funds received after the Filing Date in a separate
trust account, which will be monitored by the Proposed Monitor, and that all funds

therein will be paid in accordance with section 191.0.1(3) of the HTA,

Al7
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(b) grants a Critical Suppliers Charge which provides each Carrier a charge on the
applicable receivable associated with such shipment received by the Applicants or
any of them, from and after the Filing Date, and the charge on the applicable

receivable shall be in the amount owing to the Carrier; and

(c) stays all Carriers from contacting customers of the Applicants in respect to the
Business of the Applicants, including but not limited to, requiring customers to make
payments to the Carriers, soliciting business from such customers, from taking any
enforcement action with respect to the Carrier Trust Funds or from holding the
Applicants load freight product hostage on account of any outstanding indebtedness

owing by the Applicants to Carriers prior to the Filing Date.

This relief will prevent Carriers from using enforcement remedies and/or appropriating the
Applicants’ Business, which would deteriorate value for the Applicants’ stakeholders. The
relief also seeks to provide comfort to all Carriers that their rights to the Carrier Trust Funds
on a post-filing basis will be protected during the CCAA proceeding. This stability will
ensure the Applicants to further progress the restructuring process including the

implementation of a SISP.

Unfortunately, since filing the NOI Proceedings, the Applicants have faced numerous
issues where Carriers have (1) held loads hostage pending payment of pre-filing amounts
that the JBT Group is stayed from paying, (2) gone directly to customers to cut out the
Applicants’ role as broker and corresponding commission, and (3) held loads hostage
while demanding direct payment from customers, rather than through the JBT Group.
These issues are causing significant issues for the Applicants and the Applicants are

seeking this emergency relief in order to prevent any further damage.

Al8
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39. The Critical Suppliers Charge would rank before the Administration Charge and the DIP

Lender’s Charge.

40. The Proposed Monitor is support of the requested relief with respect to the Carriers

including the Critical Suppliers Charge.

Further Grounds

41. The BIA, including section 50.4.

42. The provisions of the CCAA, including sections 2(1), 3(1), 10(2), 11.02, 11.2, 11.4, 11.52,

11.6, and 11.7.

43. Rules 1.04(1), 2.01(1), 2.03, 3.02, 37 and 39 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, RSO 1990,

Reg 194.

44, The inherent jurisdiction of this Court.

45, Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may

permit.
THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE WILL BE USED AT THE HEARING OF THE
APPLICATION:
46. The Affidavit of Denis Medeiros, sworn February 6, 2025;

47. The Report of the Proposed Monitor, to be filed; and

48. Such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may

permit.

Al19
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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, RSC 1985,
c C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF JBT
TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC.,
HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE
NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., AND HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS
(Sworn February 6, 2025)
I, DENIS MEDEIROS, of the City of Cambridge, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH

AND SAY:

1. I am the President of JBT Transport Inc., Waydom Management Inc., Melair Management
Inc., Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Drumbo Transport Limited, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., and
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. (the “JBT Group” or “Applicants”), which are the
applicant companies in this proceeding. | have been in this role since the inception of the JBT
Group in 2002. As such, | have personal knowledge of the matters set out below unless otherwise
stated to be based on information and belief. Where | have relied on information from others, |

state the source of such information and verily believe it to be true.

2. All references to currency in this affidavit are references to Canadian dollars unless

otherwise indicated.
l. OVERVIEW

3. On January 24, 2025 (the “Filing Date”), the seven Applicants each filed a Notice of

A23
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Intention to Make a Proposal (“NOI”) under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, ¢ B-
3, as amended (together, the “NOI Proceedings”). Dodick Landau Inc. (“DLI") was appointed as
Proposal Trustee in the NOI Proceedings. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “A” is a copy

of the Certificates of Filing of a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal for each of the Applicants.

4. This affidavit is submitted in support of the Applicants’ motion seeking an Order (the “Initial
Order”) in the form of the draft order included as Tab 3 of the motion record that, among other

things:
@ abridges the notice periods and validates service of the motion record;

(b) converts the NOI Proceedings to proceedings under the Companies’ Creditors

Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, ¢ C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”);

(© provides for an initial stay of proceedings in respect of the Applicants up to and
including February 20, 2025 or such longer time as the Court may direct (the

“Proposed Stay Period”);

(d) appoints DLI as the court-appointed monitor of the Applicants (in this capacity, the

“Proposed Monitor”);

(e) authorizes the Applicants to borrow up to a maximum principal amount of $250,000
under a debtor-in-possession credit facility (the “DIP Facility”) from Randy
Bowman (in his capacity as lender under the DIP Facility, the “DIP Lender”) to
finance the Applicants’ working capital requirements and to pay the costs and
expenses of this proceeding, as more fully described in the interim financing term
sheet dated February 5, 2025 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) between the Applicants and

the DIP Lender;

0] grants the following charges, which charge shall rank in priority to all other security
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interests, trusts, liens, charges, and encumbrances in favour of any person with

the following order of priority:

0] a first-ranking priority charge that secures any Carrier’s right to payment
for the supply of services rendered to the Applicants in respect of
shipments in connection with which such Carrier was engaged by the
Applicants for the carriage of goods on or subsequent to the Filing Date,
which charge is granted on the applicable receivable associated with such
shipment received by the Applicants or any of them, from and after the
Filing Date, and the charge on the applicable receivable shall be in the
amount owing to the respective Carrier (all such charges, collectively the

“Critical Suppliers Charge”);

(i) a second-ranking charge (“Administration Charge”) over all of the
Applicants’ current and future assets, undertakings, and properties of
every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including all
proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Property”), in the maximum amount of
$250,000, as security for the payment of the professional fees and
disbursements incurred and to be incurred by the Proposed Monitor,
counsel to the Proposed Monitor and counsel to the Applicants, in

connection with the NOI Proceedings; and

(iii) a third-ranking charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) over all of the
Property of the Applicants in the maximum amount of $250,000 as security

for the Applicants’ obligations under the DIP Facility to the DIP Lender;

(9) authorizes the Applicants, with the written approval of the Proposed Monitor, to

pay amounts owing to their suppliers for critical goods or services actually supplied
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to the Applicants prior to the Filing Date if, in the opinion of the Applicants and the
Proposed Monitor, such payment is necessary to maintain the uninterrupted

operations of the business;

(h) orders that all receivables received by the Applicants on or after the Filing Date
shall be treated in accordance with the provisions of the Highway Traffic Act, RSO

1990, c. H. 8 (the “HTA”), including section 190.0.1(3) therein;

0] stays all Carriers (as defined in the HTA) from contacting customers of the
Applicants in respect to the business of the Applicants, including but not limited to,
requiring customers to make payments to the Carriers, soliciting business from
such customers, from taking any enforcement action with respect to the Carrier
Trust Funds (as defined below) or from holding the Applicants’ load freight product
hostage on account of any outstanding indebtedness owed by the Applicants to

the Carriers prior to the Filing Date; and

a) if necessary, orders a comeback hearing on a date to be scheduled by the Court
that is no more than 10 days after the date of the Initial Order (the “Comeback

Hearing”).

5. The JBT Group is in the business of end-to-end supply chain services, transportation
logistics and warehousing services. The companies are a family-run business that have been

operating and providing supply chain services across North America since their inception in 2002.

6. Although the JBT Group started small, the companies have expanded significantly over
the years. In particular, in February 2022, the JBT Group commenced an expansion of their
business that resulted in the Applicants having over 200 trucks, over 500 dry vans and refrigerated

units, and over 600,000 square feet of state-of-the-art, GDP Gold-certified food storage and
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warehouse spaces.
7. Unfortunately, shortly after the expansion, in September 2022, market conditions swiftly

declined, and the Applicants began to see a downward trend in their cross-border transportation
operations. As a result, the Applicants began sustaining significant losses and were required to
turn to the line of credit (“LOC”) extended by their principal secured creditor, the Toronto-

Dominion Bank (“TD Bank”) to fund ongoing operations.

8. By October 2023, the Applicants were in breach of the LOC borrowing limit in the amount
of approximately $800,000. Thereafter, the Applicants’ financial distress was further exacerbated
by TD Bank’s sudden decision to limit the borrowing base availability on the LOC by increasing
the reserve for Broker Payables (defined below). This effectively reduced the accounts
receivables eligible for loan coverage. The modification of the borrowing base had a devasting
impact on the JBT Group’s lending capacity, particularly at a time when the Applicants were

already grappling with the challenges facing the transportation industry.

9. Notwithstanding the financial stress on the business, since October 2023, the Applicants
worked diligently to cooperate with and paydown TD Bank, including engaging a financial advisor
mandated by TD Bank, effecting the sale of various real property and other assets to pay down
the Indebtedness owed to TD Bank, and implementing an operational restructuring, the goal of
which was to decrease operating costs and enhance the Applicants’ market position. The
operational restructuring involved a downsizing of the Applicants’ cross-border operations by
releasing 50 owner-operators, increasing the Logistics Business (as defined below), decreasing
reliance on their own fleet transportation services, increasing rates per mile, and implementing

faster receivables collections.

10. Through the Applicants’ concerted efforts, the Indebtedness (as defined below) owed to

TD Bank was significantly reduced from approximately $25 million in January 2024 to $16.2
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million in December 2024. The Applicants were able to do so while also remarkably paying all

monthly principal and interest payment to TD Bank.

11. Pursuant to various forbearance agreements executed with TD Bank, the Applicants were
required to pay TD Bank in full by no later than January 31, 2025. Accordingly, through the later
qguarter of 2024, the Applicants were in the process of, and had negotiated for, an arrangement
with eCapital Commercial Finance Corp. (“eCapital”) and Pillar Financial Services Inc. (“Pillar”)
to refinance the Indebtedness by early 2025. However, TD Bank rejected the proposed deal on
the basis that it wished to have the LOC fully paid out as soon as possible and, accordingly, it
was unwilling to accept any further deferral of a full repayment. On January 15, 2025, TD Bank

issued demands and sent Notices of Intent to Enforce.

12. Enforcement steps by TD Bank would decimate the value of the Applicants given that their
value is derived from assets that require a going concern business. A cessation of the Applicants’
business as a going concern would be detrimental to their stakeholders, including their 83
employees as well as their suppliers, most of which are small businesses operating in Ontario.

Accordingly, the Applicants commenced the NOI Proceedings.
13.  The relief sought by the Applicants on this motion is therefore intended to:

(a) stabilize and preserve the going concern operations of the JBT Group for the
benefit of their stakeholders (including employees, customers, suppliers, and

creditors);

(b) allow the Applicants to conduct an operational restructuring including a downsizing

of their warehouse footprint; and

(© provide the Applicants with the breathing room to develop and implement a sale
and investment solicitation process that will thoroughly canvass the market to find

a value maximizing transaction for the benefit of their stakeholders.
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. BACKGROUND OF THE APPLICANTS

14. The JBT Group is in the business of providing end-to-end supply chain services,
transportation logistics and warehousing services for customers across Canada, the United
States and North America (the “Business”). | started the JBT Group in 2002 with five highway
trucks and one local truck with my colleague, Randy Bowman, who is the Vice-President and a

director for each of the Applicants.

15. As a result of consistent hard work and high levels of client service, the Applicants’
Business grew significantly. Today, the Applicants have over 58 trucks, 162 dry vans and
refrigerated units, and over 100,000 square feet of state-of-the-art, GDP Gold-certified food

storage and warehouse spaces.

16. The Applicants provide a simple, friendly and streamlined approach to end-to-end supply
chain needs. They offer direct service between Canada and the US, intra-Canada service

between Ontario, Quebec and the Western Provinces, as well as local Ontario cartage.
17.  The JBT Group is comprised of the following entities:

@) JBT Transport Inc. (“*JIBTTI”), an Ontario corporation that operates primarily in

crossborder transportation and logistics between the United States and Canada;

(b) Drumbo Transport Limited (“Drumbo”), an Ontario corporation that is largely

dormant but has some residual receivables;

(© Heritage Truck Lines Inc. (“HTL”), an Ontario corporation that operates primarily

in local transportation and logistics in Ontario;

(d) Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. (“HNL”), an Ontario corporation that is now

dormant;

(e) Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. (*HWD?”), an Ontario corporation that
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operates the warehousing and distribution arm of the Business;
) Melair Management Inc. (‘MM Inc.”), an Ontario corporation formed for the

purposes of holding the Applicants’ head office, which is located at 425 Melair
Drive, Ayr, Ontario (the “Head Office”) and carrying out property management

services; and,

(9) Waydom Management Inc. (“Waydom”), an Ontario corporation that previously

held and managed certain real estate for the JBT Group. Waydom is now dormant.
The corporate profile reports for each of the JBT Group are attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.

18.  The core operating companies of the Applicants are JBTTI, HWD and HTL. As part of its
operational restructuring, the JBT Group transitioned most of the accounts and operations of
Drumbo, HNL and Waydom to the core operating companies, but there are still some legacy

accounts that are processed through those entities.

19. The JBT Group also has two related United States entities, Heritage Southern
Transportation Inc. and Heritage Southern Logistics, Inc. (collectively, the “US Entities”), which
are primarily responsible for the operation of the Business in the United States. The US Entities
are not a part of the NOI Proceedings or any other restructuring proceeding. A copy of the JBT

Group’s organizational chart is attached hereto as Exhibit “C”.

20.  To support the Business operations, the JBT Group employs 83 full-time employees: 42
of whom are employed at JBTTI, 23 at HTL, and 18 at HWD. None of the employees are
unionized. JBT Group also contracts with 23 independent owner-operators, which are individuals

with their own trucks and businesses with whom we contract for transportation work.
A. Location of Operations

21.  The Applicants own the Head Office. They use their Head Office to house their corporate
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operations and corporate employees. The yard at the Head Office also stores the Applicants’
transportation fleet of approximately 58 trucks, 162 dry vans and refrigerated units, and owner-

operator trucks.

22. In addition to the Head Office, the Applicants lease three properties for the purpose of

providing warehouse and distribution services:
(a) 60 Steckle Place, Kitchener, Ontario (the “Steckle Warehouse”);
(b) 325 Stirling Avenue South, Kitchener, Ontario (“Stirling Property”); and
(c) 180 Boychuk Drive, Cambridge, Ontario (“Boychuk Property”).

The Steckle Warehouse

23. The JBT Group’s warehouse and distribution services are primarily located at the Steckle
Warehouse. The Steckle Warehouse is approximately 100,000 square feet. It is a state-of-the-art
facility that is equipped with advanced technology to ensure the safe storage and handling of
goods. The JBT Group leases the Steckle Warehouse pursuant to a lease between DIR

Properties (GP) Inc. as landlord, and HWD as tenant, dated February 3, 2022.
The Stirling Property

24. The JBT Group leases the Stirling Property pursuant to a lease between 13658724
Canada Inc. and HWD dated September 1, 2022. Historically, the Applicants used the Stirling
Property as part of their warehouse and distribution services. HWD also sublets a portion of the

Stirling Property to Guru Motors Inc. (“Guru”) pursuant to a sublease dated October 1, 2024.

25.  As aresult of the JBT Group’s financial difficulties, the Applicants are no longer able to
sustain operations from the Stirling Property. On January 27, 2025, HWD disclaimed the lease
for the Stirling Property with the approval of the Proposal Trustee. Attached hereto and marked

as Exhibit “D” is a copy of the Notice to Disclaim for the Stirling Property.
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26. The JBT Group also provided notice of the disclaimer of the Stirling Property to Guru by
letter dated January 28, 2025. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “E” is a copy of the letter

from counsel for the JBT Group to Guru.
The Boychuk Property

27. The JBT Group leases the Boychuk Property pursuant to a lease between Intermarket
Cam Ltd. and HWD dated October 24, 2022. Historically, the Applicants used the Boychuk
Property to operate their warehouse and distribution services. However, because of the JBT
Group’s financial difficulties, the Applicants ceased operating from the Boychuk Property in

February 2024.

28. In March 2024, the JBT Group was able to secure a subtenant, Karmar Delivery Service
Inc. dba Wellington Supply Chain (“Wellington Supply”), to sublease the Boychuk Property
pursuant to a sublease with Wellington Supply, as subtenant, and HWD, as sublandlord, dated
March 8, 2024 (“WS Sublease”). The head landlord, Intermarket Cam Ltd., consented to the WS

Sublease pursuant to a Consent to Sublease dated March 8, 2024.

29.  Although the WS Sublease resulted in Wellington Supply covering a portion of the rent for
the Boychuk Property, Wellington Supply did not cover the entirety of the rent owed from the JBT
Group to the landlord. As a result, the JBT Group funded the shortfall in rent to the landlord, which

was approximately $30,000 per month.

30.  Given the Applicants’ financial difficulties, the JBT Group is no longer able to fund the rent
for the Boychuk Property, particularly when they are no longer operating from the premises. As a
result, on January 27, 2025, HWD disclaimed the lease for the Boychuk Property with the approval
of the Proposal Trustee. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “F” is a copy of the Notice to

Disclaim for the Boychuk Property.
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31. The JBT Group also provided notice of the disclaimer of the Boychuk Property to
Wellington Supply by letter dated January 27, 2025. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “G”

is a copy of the letter from counsel for the JBT Group to Wellington Supply.
B. Logistics Business

32. In addition to relying on their own fleet of vehicles to offer transportation services, the
Applicants also work as a third-party logistics provider to coordinate the transportation of goods
from the supplier to the purchaser in exchange for a broker commission (the “Logistics

Business”).

33. In recent months, the JBT Group’s Logistics Business has grown exponentially such that

it now comprises 40 to 42% of the total transportation revenue.

34.  The flow of funds in the Logistics Business is an important part of the Applicants’ assets
and liabilities. The amount of money owed from a shipper who engages the JBT Group to ship
goods, plus a commission of 10-15%, is known as a broker receivable (“Broker Receivables”).
Broker Receivables are an asset. The Applicants then pay out the Broker Receivables in part (i.e.
the receivable less the commission) to the carriers they engage, which is known as a broker

payable (“Broker Payables”). Broker Payables are a liability on the balance sheet.

35. Under section 191.01.1(3) of the HTA, a broker who arranges for a carrier to transport
goods is required maintain each Broker Receivable in trust until the corresponding Broker Payable
for the Carrier has been paid. Until that time, Broker Payables cannot be used to pay other
account payables or costs. Funds impressed with a trust pursuant to section 191.0.1(3) of the

HTA are referred to herein in as “Carrier Trust Funds”.

36. In the event of non-payment, Carriers can enforce their right to take the payment of the

Carrier Trust Funds directly from the customer who receives and pays for the goods, instead of
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that payment going to the broker. In all my years of operating the JBT Group, we have never had

any enforcement against the Carrier Trust Funds.
C. Licenses, Permits, and Certifications

37. The Applicants hold certain licenses, permits, and certifications that are critical to the

operation of their Business, including:

(@) commercial vehicle operator’s registrations, which are legally required to monitor

the safety performance of the Applicants;
(b) department of Transportation licenses;
(© driver’s licenses for commercial vehicles;

(d) broker certificates, which permit the JBT Group to legally operate as a middleman
connecting shippers with carriers to transport goods. This certificate ensures they
meet regulatory standards set by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration
(FMCSA), guaranteeing reliability and financial responsibility to protect both

shippers and carriers involved in the transportation process;

(e) C-PTAT certification, which provides the truck loads with enhanced protection and

faster passage through ports of entry when crossing the border and customers;

() state transportation permits for over ten US states, which allow for freight

transportation in those jurisdictions; and

(9) SQF certificates, which adds value to the Business by confirming the Business

meets the food safety standards recognized by the Global Food Safety Initiative.

38. These licenses, permits and certifications are critical to the value of the Business as the

Applicants cannot operate without them. They cannot easily be transferred, if at all. As such, the

A34



Docusign Envelope ID: 3CF2A783-609C-4AD5-86C9-B0509828CE57

31
13 A35

licenses, permits and certifications would be lost in any process that does not involve the debtors
remaining in possession and continuing to operate in the ordinary course. In these circumstances,

the value of the Business would deteriorate to the detriment of the Applicants’ stakeholders.
D. Banking and Cash Management System

39. The Applicants maintain bank accounts at TD Bank and the Royal Bank of Canada

(‘RBC’).

40. The Applicants maintain eight Canadian dollar bank accounts at TD Bank: two bank
accounts for JTII, and one bank account for each of the other Applicants. JTII, HTL and HWD
also each maintain a US dollar account. Randy Bowman and | are signing officers on the TD Bank

accounts, along with Kelly Gates, a manager at the company.

41. The Applicants currently maintain three Canadian dollar bank accounts and three US
dollar bank accounts at RBC: one Canadian and one US for each of JTII, HTL, and HWD. The
Applicants are in the process of opening four further Canadian bank accounts at RBC so that

each of the Applicants will have a bank account at RBC.

42. The Applicants receive most of their receivables by electronic deposit; however, some

funds are received by cheque, which are deposited into the appropriate bank account.

43. In most cases, the payables and receivables for each of the entities of the JBT Group are
deposited and paid from the corresponding RBC or TD Bank account. In limited circumstances,
the JBT Group will process deposits and payments (i.e. loan funds) from the account of one of
the Applicants to cover the costs of another entity if there are insufficient funds available. When

money is loaned, it is recorded in the financial reporting as an intercompany loan.

44, | am advised by the Proposed Monitor that it will continue to monitor the receipts and

disbursements from the Applicants’ bank accounts during the CCAA proceeding in its capacity as
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Monitor.
1. FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE APPLICANTS

45, As of December 31, 2024, the book value of the Applicants’ assets exceeds the book

value of their liabilities by approximately $4,876,123.

46. A copy of the most recent compiled financial statements of each of the JBT Group, for the
fiscal year ending August 31, 2023, is attached as Exhibit “H” (the “2023 FS”). The 2023 FS

were compiled by Grant Thornton LLP.

47.  The Applicants have compiled an unaudited, consolidated financial statement for the fiscal

year ending December 31, 2024 (the “2024 FS”). The 2024 FS is attached as Exhibit “1”.

A. Assets of the Applicants

48.  The 2024 FS show that as of December 31, 2024, the JBT Group had consolidated assets

with a current book value of $30,873,022. The primary assets of the JBT Group are as follows:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $56,810
Accounts Receivable $5,557,226
Inventory $198,261
Prepaid Expenses $670,439
Intercompany Receivables $2,193,014
Other Current Assets $836,897
Fixed Assets $21,296,612
Other Assets $63,764
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B. Liabilities of the Applicants

49. The 2024 FS show that as of December 31, 2024, the JBT Group had consolidated

liabilities with a book value of $35,749,146. The primary liabilities of the JBT Group are as follows:

Accounts Payable $3,874,696
Other/Accrued Payables $494,228
Current Portion of Capital Leases $63,133

Current Portion of Long-Term Liabilities $9,777,269

Line of Credit (TD) $4,929,288
Capital leases $160,420
Long Term Debt $3,776,771

Liability Portion of Special Shares Issued

to Shareholders $4.732,000
Future Income Taxes $1,971,100
Intercompany Debt $5,970,243

i Secured Liabilities

50. Asof December 31, 2024, the Applicants owe approximately $18.4 million to their secured
creditors. The Applicants’ primary secured creditors are the TD Bank and various entities that

advanced equipment financing to the JBT Group.

Indebtedness to TD Bank

51. TD Bank is the Applicants’ principal secured creditor. The JBT Group has had a

relationship with TD since 2020.

52. Over the years, the lending facilities between the TD Bank and the JBT Group have

changed with the needs of the JBT Group. The current lending relationship between the TD Bank
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and the JBT Group is memorialized in a Letter of Agreement dated May 18, 2023, as amended
by an amending agreement dated January 10, 2024 (the “Loan Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Loan Agreement, TD Bank provided various facilities to the JBT Group including an operating
loan, a leasehold loan, and term facilities totalling approximately $25,000,000. Attached hereto

as Exhibit “J” is a copy of the Loan Agreement.

53. Each member of the JBT Group is a borrower under the Loan Agreement. In addition,
each member of the JBT Group provided guarantees for the obligations of the other under the
Loan Agreement. The obligations to TD Bank under the Loan Agreement are secured by a general
security agreement provided by each of the Applicants as well as by a charge/mortgage over the

Head Office.

54.  The Applicants also have four equipment financing loan agreements with TD Equipment
Finance Canada (the “TD Equipment Loans”). Two of the loan agreements for the TD Equipment

Loans are attached hereto as Exhibit “K”.

55.  Asof January 14, 2025, the JBT Group is indebted to TD Bank in the approximate amount

of $16.2 million (the “Indebtedness”). The Indebtedness is comprised of approximately the

following:
Facility Type Total Payout Amount | Interest Per Diem
Operating Loan — LOC $4,716,924.74
TD Visa $13,777.77
TD Equipment Loans $1,353,317.52
Committed Reducing Term Facility $1,882,604.74 $343.07
Committed Reducing Term Facility | $765,690.41 $107.54
Committed Reducing Term Facility | $7,458,657.48 $763.62
Letter of Credit — US Bank Visa | $50,000.00
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(USD)
Total (CAD) $16,190,972.66 $1,214.23
Total (USD) $50,000.00
Equipment Financing
56. In addition to TD Bank, the JBT Group has secured obligations owing to various entities

that provided the JBT Group with equipment financing. The security of these equipment financiers
has been registered in the Ontario Personal Property Registry for the respective entity of the JBT
Group. Attached as Exhibits “L” to “R” are searches for the Ontario Personal Property

Registries for each of the Applicants.

57.  As of December 31, 2024, the Applicants owe approximately $2.2 million with respect to

their loans for equipment financing.
ii. HST and Property Taxes

58.  The Applicants are current on their HST payments up to December 31, 2024 except for
MM Inc.. MM Inc. owes approximately $70,000 for the year ending June 30, 2024, which the
Applicants intend to file shortly. For the Applicants other than MM Inc., the Applicants are in the

process of completing their HST filings for the month ending January 31, 2025.

59. The JBT Group has no arrears of property taxes for the Head Office. Property taxes are

paid monthly with the next payment being March 1, 2025.
iii. Payroll Obligations

60. The Applicants are current on all payroll obligations other than wages and source
deductions which accrue in the normal course between bi-monthly pay periods, and vacation pay,
which is paid out as taken. Group benefit premiums are paid up to and including January 31,

2025.
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iv. Carrier Trust Funds

61. Given the Applicants’ Logistics Business, a portion of the Broker Receivables collected by

the JBT Group are subject to a trust for Broker Payables.

62. Historically, the JBT Group did not hold funds for the Broker Payables in a segregated
trust account. To ensure the Broker Receivables collected since the filing date of January 24,
2025 are protected, the draft Initial Order requires that all Broker Receivables collected by the
JBT Group on or after January 24, 2025 will be segregated in a separate trust account and paid
in accordance with section 191.0.1(3) of the HTA. This account will be monitored by the Proposed

Monitor.

V. Unsecured Liabilities

63. The Applicants’ primary unsecured liabilities include, among other things,

@) approximately $1.2 million in trade payables accrued in the ordinary course

including payables related to warehouse costs and fleet costs;

(b) in excess of $3.5 million in respect of amounts owing to related investors pursuant
to unsecured promissory notes and loans payable. The investors are primarily
related companies, employees and shareholders who have advanced funds on an

unsecured basis as an investment in the Applicants;

(© approximately net $3.8 million in intercompany debt owed amongst the JBT Group

as well as to the related US Entities; and

(d) approximately $160,000 in rental arrears for the Stirling Property.
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V. THE APPLICANTS’ FINANCIAL DIFFICULTIES

64. As part of financing their operations through market downturns and shifts in 2020, the JBT
Group had a line of credit and other loan facilities with RBC. These facilities included the ability
to leverage the Applicants’ Broker Receivables, meaning that the Applicants could borrow against
funds they received and held through their Logistics Business. However, RBC suggested at
several meetings that it would reduce the leverage on the Broker Receivables and it would not
lend additional funds against a property we previously held at 235 Waydom (the “Waydom

Property”) because it did not want to expand its mortgage portfolio.

65. In late 2020, the Applicants decided to refinance with and move our lending needs to TD
Bank. TD Bank approached us as it was looking to partner with more companies in the
transportation market. It indicated that if the Applicants moved their business to TD Bank, it was
willing to provide loans that leveraged the Broker Receivables, lend against the equity of the
Waydom Property, and would calculate owner-operator payables at 31 days instead of 30 days.
These changes would be a significant improvement to the borrowing base and allowed the

Applicants to navigate and grow the Business.

66. On January 6, 2021, TD Bank provided a letter summarizing the credit facilities it was
prepared to offer JBTTI and Waydom (the “First Letter”). Contrary to the representations of TD
Bank that the JBT Group would be able to fully leverage the Broker Receivables, the First Letter
provided that the accounts receivable to be included in the calculation for the LOC would be net

of Broker Payables. A copy of the First Letter is attached as Exhibit “S”.

67. After receiving the First Letter, | raised my concerns with TD Bank that, despite TD Bank’s
verbal assurances, Broker Payables were not being included in the available leverage calculation
for the LOC. | was assured by TD Bank that it would not enforce that provision, which was merely

included as a formality, and that we could still use our Broker Receivables as an asset. To provide
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us with comfort, TD Bank provided us with a breakdown of covenant calculations under the
proposed facility without any mention of a reserve for Broker Payables or other statutory

receivables. This email is attached hereto as Exhibit “T”.

68. Following this email and some further discussions with TD Bank, we signed the First Letter

on January 8, 2021.

69. Between January 2021 and May 2023, the Applicants’ financing arrangements with TD
Bank continued to change depending on the Applicants’ needs. At the peak in late January 2022,

the Applicants had an upper financing limit of approximately $31,143,574 from TD Bank.

70. Ultimately, on May 18, 2023, we executed the present version of the loan. As discussed
above, the Loan Agreement provided us with approximately $24,576,464 in available financing.
It also contained the clause that the available LOC would be net of any Broker Payables and
statutory payables, but TD Bank continued not to enforce that provision and the Applicants were

able to continue to borrow against the Broker Receivables.
A. Market Downturns, Further Financial Difficulties and Restructuring

71. In February 2022, the JBT Group commenced an expansion of their Business by acquiring
Drumbo, HTL, HNL, and HWD. The expansion brought an exciting opportunity for the Business
to become a full-service provider and to cover a much broader service range. The acquisition also
came with two real estate properties that required JBT Group to incur significant costs for land

development and construction.

72. Unfortunately, shortly after the expansion, in September 2022, market conditions began
to swiftly decline, and we began to see a downward trend in our cross-border transportation
operations. By March 2023, freight rates had declined by 31.6%. By August 2023, shipping

volumes had dropped by $4.9 million for JBTTI alone.
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73. By October 2023, the Applicants were sustaining significant losses and using the line of
credit with TD Bank to fund their ongoing operations. On or about October 24, 2023, the
Applicants received an email with a letter from TD Bank advising that we were in breach of the
LOC borrowing limit in the amount of approximately $800,000 (the “Breach Letter”). Attached

hereto as Exhibit “U” is a copy of the Breach Letter from TD Bank.

74. Prior to receiving the Breach Letter, | received a phone call from Eric Bergeron of TD Bank
advising me that the JBT Group was going to receive the Breach Letter. | was advised by TD

Bank that the Breach Letter was merely a formality and not to worry about it.

75. Despite TD Bank’s assurances, eventually the breach resulted in the JBT Group being
assigned to TD Bank’s Special Loans Group (“TD Special Loans”). Thereafter, TD Special Loans
initiated a full review of the JBT Group’s credit facilities. Upon doing this analysis, TD Special
Loans realized that Broker Payables were, in fact, being included in the borrowing base
calculations for the LOC. TD Bank then adjusted the borrowing base calculations for the LOC by
increasing the reserve for Broker Payables, effectively reducing the eligible accounts receivables
available for loan coverage. This modification had a devasting impact on the JBT Group’s lending
capacity, particularly at a time when the Applicants were already grappling with the challenges

facing the transportation industry.

76. I reminded TD Bank of its oral agreement to permit the JBT Group to leverage the Broker
Payables for the calculations of the LOC, but TD Bank declined to honour the oral agreement.
Instead, TD Bank pointed to the clause in the Loan Agreement permitting TD Bank to remove

Broker Payables from the borrowing base for the LOC.

77. On December 8, 2023 and January 10, 2024, the JBT Group received two further letters
advising that they were in breach of the LOC borrowing limit. Attached hereto and marked as

Exhibit “V” is a copy of the letter from TD Bank to JBTTI dated December 8, 2023. Attached
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hereto and marked as Exhibit “W” is a copy of the letter from TD Bank to JBTTI dated January

10, 2024.

78. From December 2023 to April 2024, the Applicants took numerous and significant steps

to improve the lending relationship between TD Bank and the JBT Group. These efforts included:

a. posting the Head Office property on the market in and around late November/early

December 2023, which has remained on the market since that time;

b. posting the property located at 105 Guthrie (the “Guthrie Property”) for sale or

lease;
c. investigating subleasing opportunities for leased properties;
d. selling $1.8 million of trailer assets to pay down the line of credit;

e. obtaining SQF certification on December 4, 2023 to improve food warehousing and

bring in new contracts;

f. negotiating rent relief for two leased warehouses—the Stirling Property and the

space that was formerly leased at 530 Manitou—which led to cost savings;

g. obtaining a $1.5 million bridge loan against the Head Office, but which TD Bank

refused to entertain as a mechanism to replace its $2 million charge;

h. arranging a vendor take-back mortgage against the Head Office in the amount of

$17 million, which TD Bank refused;

i. negotiating a purchase of the Head Office and Guthrie Property for a total of $18

million, which ultimately fell through; and

j. arranging a further potential purchase of the Head Office and the Guthrie Property

for $19 million with a $2 million vendor take-back mortgage, which TD Bank
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refused.

79. In addition to the above, in November 2023, at TD Bank’s behest, the Applicants engaged
Grant Thornton LLP to assist with reviewing our operations and implementing a restructuring
process, the goal of which was to decrease operating costs and enhance the Applicants’ market
position. The process included downsizing our cross-border operations by releasing 50 owner-
operators, increasing our reliance on the Logistics Business, decreasing our reliance on our own
fleet transportation services, increasing rates per mile, and implementing faster receivables

collection.

80.  Within a short time of commencing the operational restructuring, the JBT Group was able
to begin paying down the LOC to TD Bank in addition to continuing to pay interest payments of
approximately $200,000 per month to TD Bank, as well as to their other financiers. In fact, the
JBT Group has never missed a loan principal or interest payment to TD Bank until filing the NOI

Proceedings.

81. JBT Group worked very hard and diligently to right the ship during chaotic market
conditions. Despite the initial success of the operational restructuring, the Applicants continued
to suffer liquidity challenges as market conditions fluctuated through 2024 due to high interest
rates and the long-term effects of COVID-19 on the transportation industry: volumes were down
in warehouses, new contracts were being delayed, and freight rates and warehousing rates were
also decreasing across North America. As a result, the Applicants remained in breach of their

borrowing limit under the TD LOC.

82. In order to address the default, the Applicants agreed to enter into a forbearance
agreement dated April 13, 2024 (the “Forbearance Agreement”). Pursuant to the Forbearance
Agreement, TD Bank agreed to forbear from exercising its rights and remedies against the

Applicants until the earlier of July 31, 2024 or the date that a default of the Forbearance
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Agreement occurred in exchange for the Applicants selling the Head Office and the Guthrie
Property pursuant to specific milestones set out therein. The Forbearance Agreement also made
certain reductions to the borrowing limit under the Loan Agreement. A copy of the Forbearance

Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “X”.

83.  Through April and May 2024, the JBT Group continued to pursue various strategies to pay
down the Indebtedness owed to TD Bank, including marketing for sale the Head Office and the
Guthrie Property. However, by June 2024, the Applicants had been unable to sell the Head Office
or the Guthrie Property. The Applicants also failed to maintain the minimum unadjusted EBITDA

threshold for April 2024 as set by the Forbearance Agreement.

84. In order to address the failure to sell the real properties and other defaults, the Applicants
agreed to enter into a Forbearance Amending Agreement dated June 26, 2024 (the “First
Amendment”). Pursuant to the First Amendment, TD Bank agreed to forbear from exercising its
rights and remedies against the Applicants until the earlier of October 31, 2024 or the date that a
default of the Forbearance Agreement occurred in exchange for the Applicants selling the Head
Office and the Guthrie Property pursuant to specific milestones set out therein. A copy of the First

Amendment is attached hereto as Exhibit “Y”.

85.  The Applicants were able to successfully sell the Guthrie Property, with the consent of TD

Bank, for $5.5 million in October 2024.

86. As a result of the sale of the Guthrie Property and the Applicants’ other diligent efforts, the
JBT Group decreased the Indebtedness owed to TD Bank from approximately $25 million in

January 2024 to $16.2 million in December 2024.
B. Pursuing Refinancing

87. Despite the significant paydown to TD Bank and the Applicants’ constant cooperation, TD

Bank continued to pressure the Applicants to sell the real property and pay out the TD loan on an
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expedited basis. Left with no other choice, the JBT Group began to seek out other lenders with

more comprehensive financing options that could provide a refinancing of TD Bank.

88. In July 2024, we began to pursue an arrangement with eCapital, which was willing to

provide takeout financing of TD Bank’s LOC.

89.  Throughout September and October 2024, the JBT Group worked through due diligence
on the potential loan. As eCapital’s operations are largely based in the US, eCapital had to verify
that the terms were acceptable to their crossborder policy team and credit committee. Initially
eCapital was willing to provide lending with a borrowing base calculation that included the
Applicants’ receivables, including all Broker Payables aged less than 90 days, and with a 97%
loan to value ratio. This would have resulted in a favourable borrowing base reserve that was

12% more than the current arrangement with TD Bank.

90. As eCapital was not interested in providing financing to take out the TD equipment loans
we were introduced to Pillar to pursue separate financing as against unencumbered equipment.
The financing would be structured as a third-party financing, so Pillar would provide the equipment

loan but eCapital would manage both loans with JBT Group to keep costs down.

91. While we were negotiating with eCapital and Pillar, the Applicants agreed to enter into a
Second Forbearance Amending Agreement dated December 13, 2024 (the “Second
Amendment”). Pursuant to the Second Amendment, TD Bank agreed to forbear from exercising
its rights and remedies against the Applicants until the earlier of January 31, 2025 or the date that
a default of the Forbearance Agreement occurred. A copy of the Second Amendment is attached

at Exhibit “Z”.

92.  The Applicants worked diligently to negotiate a deal with eCapital and were successful in
doing so, however, the terms were not as lucrative as initially anticipated. eCapital advised that

they would only lend against Broker Payables that were 45 days aged or less, instead of the 90
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days initially put forward. On those new terms, unless TD Bank was willing to wait until the spring
when the Applicants’ Business would have a sufficient volume of receivables to fully pay out the

LOC, TD Bank would suffer a shortfall from a full payout of the LOC.

93.  The Applicants provided information on the proposed deals with eCapital and Pillar to TD
Bank on December 20, 2024. TD Bank rejected the offers on the basis that it wished to have the
LOC fully paid out now and was unwilling to accept any further deferral of a full repayment of the

LOC.

94. Since the eCapital transaction had not met the timelines in the Second Amendment of the
Forbearance Agreement, on January 15, 2025, TD Bank delivered demands to the Applicants
and issued accompanying Notice of Intention to Enforce Security pursuant to s. 244 of the BIA

(“Demand Notices”). A copy of the demand letters and notices are appended as Exhibit “AA”.
95.  The breaches in the Demand Notices were:

@ failing to enter into a binding financial commitment with eCapital by December 20,

2024;
(b) failing to verify there were funds available to payout the LOC;
(© failing to keep outstanding advances from the LOC within limit; and

(d) failing to maintain a minimum EBITDA for October 2024 as set out in the Second

Amendment.

96. On January 20, 2025, JBTTI opened a new account with RBC and moved the available
cash from its TD Bank account to RBC. The transfers were done to preserve the Applicants’

critical operating funds to retain access during the NOI Proceedings.

97. On January 24, 2025, before the expiry of TD Bank’s Demand Notices, the Applicants filed

their NOls.
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C. The Applicants are Insolvent

98. As described in this affidavit, due to their deteriorating financial condition, the Applicants
have insufficient cash to meet their obligations as they become due. Among other things,
approximately $16.2 million is immediately due and owing to TD Bank. The Applicants also have
approximately $1.2 million in unsecured trade liabilities that they have been unable to pay. The

Applicants’ current liabilities exceed their cash on hand of approximately $960,448.

D. Purpose of the CCAA Proceeding

99. Due to their insolvency, there is no reasonable prospect that the Applicants’ financial
condition will improve without an operational and financial restructuring and without interim
financing being made available. Without the interim financing, the Applicants would be forced to
shut down operations, which would be detrimental to the Applicants’ stakeholders, including

employees, customers, and suppliers.

100. The Applicants are therefore seeking the Initial Order which, among other things, approves
the DIP Facility. The Applicants believe that relief under the CCAA is in the best interests of the

Business, creditors, and stakeholders for the following reasons, among others:

@) the protections afforded under the CCAA will maintain the status quo, as well as
provide the breathing room required to conduct an operational restructuring and
develop and implement a court supervised sale and investment solicitation process

(“SISP?);

(b) the Applicants require immediate interim financing, which financing would not
otherwise be available on reasonable terms and in a timely manner without the

accompanying Court-ordered charges that are available under the CCAA,;
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(c) the Applicants are reliant on the continued supply of goods and services to conduct
their Business and the disruption of supply without the protection of a stay of

proceedings would decimate the Business; and

(d) the involvement of a Court-appointed monitor under the CCAA will lend stability
and assurance to the Applicants’ stakeholders, including their suppliers, lenders,

and employees.

101. If the requested relief is granted under the CCAA, the Applicants intend to work with the
Proposed Monitor to implement a comprehensive operational and financial restructuring plan with

appropriate milestones for such restructuring.

102. The Applicants have already begun using the NOI Proceedings to conduct an operational
restructuring that will assist in reducing costs for the Business. For example, the Applicants have
already significantly downsized their warehouse space by disclaiming the Stirling Property and
the Boychuk Property leases and have initiated a corresponding decrease in their warehouse

staff.

103. The Applicants and their advisors have also begun preparing a SISP, which is intended to
formally canvass the market for purchasers of the Business as a going concern or refinancing of
the Business. The Applicants anticipate that the SISP will involve a stalking horse bid, which
would facilitate the preservation of the majority of the Applicants’ core Business and set the floor

price for the SISP in order to maximize realization for creditors.

104. Although the Applicants have previously attempted to sell the real estate on piecemeal
basis, there has never been a robust sale process run for the sale of the Business as a going
concern. | believe a fulsome SISP is the most reasonable next step to ensure a maximization of

value for stakeholders.
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E. Cash Flow Forecast

105. With the assistance of the Proposed Monitor, the Applicants have conducted a cash flow
analysis to determine the amount required to finance their ordinary course business operations,
assuming the Initial Order is granted, over the 12-week period from the week ending February 1,
2025 to April 19, 2025 (the “Cash Flow Forecast”). | understand that the Cash Flow Forecast will

be attached to the first report of the Proposed Monitor.

106. The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that the Applicants require approximately $80,000
in interim financing as early as the week ending March 1, 2025 and a total of $220,000 over the

12-week period.

107. The Applicants seek approval to borrow a total of $250,000 under the DIP Facility to
provide them with the flexibility to navigate non-material or timing variations in the Cash Flow

Forecast.

108. The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that if the relief sought under the Initial Order is
granted, the Applicants will have sufficient liquidity to meet their ordinary course obligations over

the Proposed Stay Period.

V. RELIEF BEING SOUGHT

A. Conversion to CCAA Proceeding

109. The Applicants are seeking to convert the NOI Proceedings to a CCAA proceeding to
permit them additional time to develop a SISP that will maximize value for their stakeholders and
creditors. A CCAA proceeding will also allow them to obtain special relief like what we are
requesting below for our Carriers. Given the complicated factual and legal issues currently facing

the Applicants, | believe that the CCAA is a better forum to restructure the Applicants due to its
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flexible nature.

110. | am advised by Rahn Dodick of DLI that the Proposed Monitor supports the Applicants’

motion to continue the NOI Proceedings under the CCAA.

111. | am not aware of any creditors who would be prejudiced by the conversion of the NOI

Proceedings into a CCAA proceeding.

B. Stay of Proceedings

112. The Applicants seek a stay of proceedings for ten days until February 20, 2025 or such
later time as the Court may direct. The Applicants require a stay of proceedings, including in
respect of secured parties, to prevent creditors from taking enforcement steps. The intention of
the stay of proceedings is to provide the Applicants with the necessary breathing room to preserve
value and stabilize the Business as a going concern while developing a viable restructuring plan

for the benefit of all stakeholders.

113. The Proposed Stay Period is critical to maximizing the realization of the Business for
creditors and stakeholders and avoiding the destruction of value that would result from a shut-
down of operations. If the Business is forced to shut down, the Applicants would immediately
suffer an irreparable loss in asset value given that their primary assets—their goodwill and
reputation, client relationships, accounts receivable, and permits—require an operating Business

to retain value.

114. Further, by maintaining operations, the Applicants mitigate the risk of brokers exercising
their rights to a priority over the Carrier Trust Funds because those funds are impressed with a
trust. This means that the relevant carriers could begin enforcement immediately, significantly
reducing the operating cash available and halting a significant and necessary portion of
operational liquidity.
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115. The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that the Applicants will have sufficient cash to
operate over the Proposed Stay Period with the availability of the DIP Facility. In the meantime,
the Applicants continue to work with due diligence and in good faith to develop and implement a

SISP and complete a restructuring.

C. Appointment of DLI as Monitor

116. The Applicants seek the appointment of DLI as Monitor. DLI is currently the Proposal
Trustee and has consented to act as Monitor, subject to this Court’s approval. | understand the

consent of DLI will be attached to the report of the Proposed Monitor.

117. 1 am advised by Rahn Dodick that DLI is a licensed insolvency trustee within the meaning
of section 2 of the BIA and is not precluded from acting as Monitor as a result of any restrictions

under subsection 11.7(2) of the CCAA.

D. Approval of the DIP Facility and DIP Lender’s Charge

118. The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that the Applicants require approximately
$250,000 in interim financing to meet ordinary course of business expenses, to fund the CCAA
proceeding and the upcoming SISP. The interim financing will also assist the Applicants in

meeting their trust obligations in respect of the Carrier Trust Funds.

119. Inthe circumstances that the Court would prefer a Comeback Hearing, the Applicants will
not seek approval of the DIP Facility and the DIP Lender’'s Charge until the Comeback Hearing

given the Applicants have sufficient liquidity until the week ending March 1, 2025.

120. The Applicants have secured debtor-in-possession financing from the DIP Lender to fund
the Applicants’ operational and restructuring expenses during the restructuring period, subject to

various terms and conditions as described in the DIP Term Sheet. An executed copy of the DIP

A53



Docusign Envelope ID: 3CF2A783-609C-4AD5-86C9-B0509828CE57

50
32 A54

Term Sheet is appended hereto as Exhibit “BB”.

121. The DIP Term Sheet represents the best available interim financing arrangement that
could be arranged by the Applicants within the time frame needed to meet the Applicants’ cash

flow needs particularly given it is unlikely any other party would provide interim financing.
122. The key terms and conditions of the DIP Term Sheet are as follows:

(@) the DIP Lender is an officer and director of the Applicants;

(b) a maximum loan amount of $250,000;

(© interest accruing at a rate of 10% per annum;

(d) the reimbursement of the DIP Lender’s reasonably incurred costs, including all
legal expenses incurred by the DIP Lender in connection with the DIP Term Sheet,

subject to the terms and conditions of the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP Facility;

(e) a termination date of the earlier of (i) the implementation of a Plan of Arrangement
or Proposal in the CCAA proceeding, (ii) the closing of a sale transaction, (iii) the
refinancing of the DIP Facility upon the written consent of the DIP Lender and
Applicants, (v) the date on which the CCAA proceeding is terminated or is
converted into a bankruptcy proceeding under the BIA, (vi) payment in full of the
obligations under the DIP Facility; or (vii) the occurrence of an Event of Default (as

defined in the DIP Term Sheet); and

() advances under the DIP Facility are conditional upon Court approval of the DIP
Term Sheet, and the granting of a super-priority DIP Lender’s Charge in favour of
the DIP Lender over all of the Property of the Applicants, subordinate only to the

Administration Charge, the Critical Suppliers Charge, and TD Bank’s security over
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the Head Office.

123. The DIP Facility is expected to provide sufficient liquidity to allow the Applicants to operate

and meet their obligations during the pendency of the CCAA proceeding.

124. The DIP Lender requires all obligations under the DIP Term Sheet to be secured by a
court-ordered priority charge, namely the DIP Lender’s Charge. The DIP Lender’s Charge will
secure all the funds advanced to the Applicants under the DIP Facility. The DIP Lender’s Charge

will not secure any obligations incurred prior to the filing of the NOI.

125. The amount of the DIP Lender's Charge requested is necessary and limited to what is
reasonably necessary for the continued operations of the Business in the ordinary course of
business during the CCAA proceeding. Without the DIP Lender’s Charge, the DIP Lender will not
provide the DIP Facility resulting in the Applicants’ inability to finance their operations leading to

bankruptcy, which would be detrimental to the Applicants’ stakeholders.

126. The Proposed Monitor has advised that it is supportive of the approval of the DIP Term

Sheet and the corresponding DIP Lender’s Charge.

E. Approval of the Administration Charge

127. The Applicants seek a Court-ordered Administration Charge over their Property, up to a
maximum amount of $250,000, to secure the fees and disbursements incurred by the Proposed
Monitor, counsel to the Proposed Monitor, and counsel to the Applicants in connection with the
CCAA proceeding. The Applicants request that the Administration Charge be subordinate only to
the Critical Suppliers Charge on Broker Receivables and otherwise rank in priority to all other
security interests, claims of secured creditors, trusts, liens, charges, and encumbrances, statutory
or otherwise in favour of any person. In the circumstances that the Court would prefer a Comeback
Hearing, the Applicants will seek an Administration Charge of $150,000 in the Initial Order, which
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they will seek to increase to $250,000 at the Comeback Hearing.

128. The Applicants have relied heavily upon each of the restructuring professionals that are
the beneficiaries of the Administration Charge during the CCAA proceeding. Each of these
professionals have contributed, and will continue to contribute, significant value to the

advancement of the CCAA proceeding and the completion of a successful restructuring.

129. The Administration Charge is necessary to ensure that the Applicants have the continued
expertise, knowledge and participation of the restructuring professional during the Proposed Stay
Period, including to effectively liaise with creditors, and assist in other restructuring initiatives.
Each of the restructuring professionals who are the beneficiaries of the Administration Charge

have a critical and discrete role in the restructuring of the Applicants.

130. The Applicants worked with the Proposed Monitor to estimate the quantum of the
Administration Charge. Based on those discussions, the quantum of the Administration Charge
is fair and reasonable in the circumstances as it is commensurate with the expected complexity

of the Applicants’ Business and anticipated restructuring.

F. Payment of Pre-Filing Amounts

131. The Applicants are seeking authorization to pay, with the written approval of the Proposed
Monitor, amounts owing to their suppliers for critical goods or services actually supplied to the
Applicants prior to the Filing Date if, in the opinion of the Applicants and the Proposed Monitor,
such payment is necessary to maintain the uninterrupted operations of the business. The

Applicants have reflected these payments in their Cash Flow Forecast.

132. The Applicants rely heavily on contractors who provide specialized logistics services.
These contactors are necessary to the uninterrupted operation of the Business and include,

among other things, owner-operators who transport deliveries and critical Carriers. As one
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example, one carrier has specific training for the JBT Group’s food-related deliveries.

133. Given the fast-paced nature of the Applicants’ operations, there are few vendors who can
supply the specific services that the JBT Group requires at a reasonable cost and in a timely
manner. Where the contractors are Carriers within the definition of the HTA, any Broker

Receivables collected post-filing are subject to a trust in favour of such Carriers in any event.

134. Due to the Applicants’ cash-flow pressures as well as the timing of invoices, the Applicants
have failed to pay some of their critical suppliers for services provided prior to the filing of the NOI
Proceedings. On review of these amounts with the Proposed Monitor, the Applicants believe it is
necessary to pay the pre-filing amounts owed to the critical suppliers to maintain their services

notwithstanding the stay of proceedings.

135. If these critical suppliers are not paid their pre-filing arrears, they will abruptly stop
providing services, which will result in the Applicants facing a material risk to their Business given
that these suppliers are critical to the Applicants’ Logistics Business. Some of these critical
suppliers are already holding deliveries hostage until pre-filing arrears are paid, in violation of the

stay.

G. Critical Suppliers Charge and Segregating of Carrier Trust Funds

136. As noted above, the Applicants are also seeking three forms of relief from the Court with

respect to Carriers:

(a) an order that the Applicants will hold Carrier Trust Funds received after the filing
date in a separate trust account, which will be monitored by the Proposed Monitor,
and that all funds therein will be paid in accordance with section 191.0.1(3) of the

HTA,
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(b) a Critical Suppliers Charge that, in order to secure any Carrier’s right to payment
for the supply of services rendered to the Applicants in respect of shipments in
connection with which such Carrier was engaged by the Applicants for the carriage

of goods on or subsequent to the Filing Date, grants each Carrier a charge on the
applicable receivable associated with such shipment received by the Applicants or

any of them, from and after the Filing Date, and the charge on the applicable

receivable shall be in the amount owing to the Carrier; and

(©) an order staying all Carriers from contacting customers of the Applicants in respect
to the business of the Applicants, including but not limited to, requiring customers
to make payments to the Carriers, soliciting business from such customers, from
taking any enforcement action with respect to the Carrier Trust Funds or from
holding the Applicants load freight product hostage on account of any outstanding

indebtedness owing by the Applicants to Carriers prior to the Filing Date.

137. This relief will prevent Carriers from using enforcement remedies and/or appropriating the
Applicants’ Business, which would deteriorate value for the Applicants’ stakeholders. The relief
also seeks to provide comfort to all Carriers that their rights to the Carrier Trust Funds on a post-

filing basis will be protected during the CCAA proceeding.

138. Unfortunately, since filing the NOI Proceedings, the Applicants have faced numerous
issues where Carriers have (1) held loads hostage pending payment of pre-filing amounts that
the JBT Group is stayed from paying, (2) gone directly to customers to cut out the Applicants’ role
as broker and corresponding commission, and (3) held loads hostage while demanding direct
payment from customers, rather than through the JBT Group. These issues are causing
significant issues for the Applicants and the Applicants are seeking this emergency relief in order

to prevent any further damage.
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H. SISP

139. The Applicants will work with the Proposed Monitor, TD Bank, and other stakeholders to
prepare a SISP and stalking horse agreement, for which the Applicants intend to seek Court

approval at a later date.

VL. CONCLUSION

140. | swear this affidavit in support of the JBT Group’s requested relief and for no other or

improper purpose.

SWORN REMOTELY BY Denis
Medeiros stated as being located in
Cambridge, Ontario, before me at Toronto,
Ontario, this 6th day of February, 2025, in
accordance with O. Reg 431/20,
Administering Oath or  Declaration
Remotely.

N e e N N N N N

DocuSigned by:

S4E3CRERAZOR4CE

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits., DENIS MEDEIROS
Jasmine Landau
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “A” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

[~

A COMMISSIONE(‘? FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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Court File No. 57

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS A61

ARRANGEMENT ACT, RSC 1985, ¢ C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF JBT TRANSPORT INC. et al.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceedings commenced at Toronto

MOTION RECORD OF THE APPLICANTS
(Returnable February 10, 2025)

RECONSTRUCT LLP
80 Richmond Street West, Suite 1700
Toronto, ON M5H 2A4

Caitlin Fell LSO No. 60091H
cfell@reconllp.com
Tel: 416.613.8282

Brendan Bissell LSO No. 40354V
bbissell@reconllp.com
Tel: 416.613.0066

Jessica Wuthmann LSO No. 72442W
jwuthmann@reconllp.com
Tel: 416.613.8288

Jasmine Landau LSO No. 74316K
jlandau@reconllp.com
Tel: 416.613.4880

Lawyers for the Applicants
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AG2
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178767
Estate No.  35-3178767

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

JBT Transport Inc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 11:28
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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A63
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178803
Estate No.  35-3178803

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Waydom Management Inc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 12:14
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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Ab4
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178904
Estate No. 35-3178904

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Melair Management Inc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 14:42
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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AGS
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178758
Estate No. 35-3178758

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Heritage Truck LinesInc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 11:22
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada

ABS
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AG66
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178683
Estate No.  35-3178683

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Drumbo Transport Limited

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 09:48
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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A67
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178693
Estate No.  35-3178693

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 09:58
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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A68
I*I Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of  Ontario
Division No. 08 - Waterloo
Court No.  35-3178893
Estate No.  35-3178893

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a proposal of:

Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.

Insolvent Person

DODICK LANDAU INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: January 24, 2025

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 (1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the af orenamed insolvent person
filed aNotice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

Pursuant to subsection 69. (1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of the date of
filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: January 27, 2025, 14:29
E-File/Dépbt Electronique Official Receiver

. Federal Building - London, 451 Talbot Street, Suite 303, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A5C9, (877)376-9902

Canada
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “B” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025
)
A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 0657@449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

JBT TRANSPORT INC. as of November 26, 2024

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name JBT TRANSPORT INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 1993683

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Amalgamation September 01, 2018

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A?O

Page 1 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065?‘?5449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

Active Director(s)

Minimum Number of Directors 1

Maximum Number of Directors 5

Name RANDY BOWMAN

Address for Service 19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada

Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began September 01, 2018

Name DINIS MEDEIROS

Address for Service 514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began September 01, 2018

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. AL7 1

Page 2 of 8



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name
Position
Address for Service

Date Began

Name
Position
Address for Service

Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065?%449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
September 01, 2018

DINIS MEDEIROS

President

514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

September 01, 2018

DINIS MEDEIROS

Secretary

514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

September 01, 2018

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&);? 2

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06§?¢;§g49
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

Corporate Name History
Name JBT TRANSPORT INC.

Effective Date September 01, 2018

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A?s
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06&?4%449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, 16:15

Amalgamating Corporations

Corporation Name THE FACE INC.
Ontario Corporation Number 2378726
Corporation Name JBT TRANSPORT INC.
Ontario Corporation Number 2013663

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. AL74
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06&?&449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. AL7 5
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06§?ﬂ§449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, T6:15

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. AL? 6
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Document List
Filing Name

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: DINIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: Dinis MEDEIROS

BCA - Articles of Amendment

Annual Return - 2020
PAF: DENIS MIDEIROS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019
PAF: DENIS MIDEIROS - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return
PAF: DANIEL J. CLARKE - OTHER

BCA - Articles of Amalgamation

73

Transaction Number: APP-A10

637?449
Report Generated on November 26, 2024, 16:15

Effective Date

September 04, 2024

March 26, 2024

February 03, 2022

January 24, 2022

November 29, 2020

March 15, 2020

September 07, 2018

September 01, 2018

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&);? 7

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 8 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06@?%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:35

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 2039484

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Incorporation January 20, 2004

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repo
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A? 9
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Minimum Number of Directors
Maximum Number of Directors

Active Director(s)
Name

Address for Service
Resident Canadian
Date Began

Name

Address for Service
Resident Canadian
Date Began

Name
Address for Service

Resident Canadian
Date Began

Name
Address for Service

Resident Canadian
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06&?3@904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:35

RANDY BOWMAN

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
Yes

December 14, 2020

JANINE RACHEL DESJARLAIS

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
Yes

January 20, 2004

DINIS MEDEIROS

514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

Yes

December 14, 2020

MARIA F. MEDEIROS

514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

Yes

January 20, 2004

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&)éo

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 2 of 8



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name
Position
Address for Service

Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quindonid o

Director/Registrar

W
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:35

JANINE RACHEL DESJARLAIS

President

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
January 20, 2004

JANINE RACHEL DESJARLAIS

Secretary

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
September 01, 2016

MARIA F. MEDEIROS

Treasurer

514 Grand Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

January 20, 2004

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&)é 1

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:35

Corporate Name History
Name WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC.

Effective Date January 20, 2004

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Agz
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:35

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ags
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065?%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 12:35

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A84
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065?%904
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:35

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change September 04, 2024
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change April 03, 2024

PAF: DINIS MEDEIROS

Archive Document Package February 04, 2022
CIA - Notice of Change December 14, 2020

PAF: DINIS MEDEIROS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2020 November 29, 2020
PAF: JANINE DESJARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019 February 23, 2020
PAF: JANINE DESJARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2018 September 30, 2018
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2017 February 11, 2018
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2016 February 05, 2017
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

CIA - Notice of Change January 17,2017
PAF: WILLIAM TIMOTHY LOWES - OTHER

Annual Return - 2015 February 06, 2016
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2014 February 14, 2015
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2013 January 25, 2014
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A85
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065%904
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:35

CIA - Notice of Change September 18, 2013
PAF: WILLIAM TIMOTHY LOWES - OTHER

Annual Return - 2012 February 02, 2013
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2011 October 01, 2011
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2010 November 27, 2010
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2009 January 27, 2010
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2004 February 05, 2005
PAF: JANINE DESARLAIS - OFFICER

CIA - Initial Return February 27, 2004
PAF: WILLIAM TIMOTHY LOWES - OTHER

BCA - Articles of Incorporation January 20, 2004

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A86
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06?33%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025 T2:36

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 1000101200

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Amalgamation February 01, 2022

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. A88

Page 1 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 0653%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025 T2:36

Minimum Number of Directors 1
Maximum Number of Directors 10

Active Director(s)

Name RANDY BOWMAN

Address for Service 19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada

Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began February 01, 2022

Name DENIS MEDEIROS

Address for Service 514 Grand River Ridge Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9,
Canada

Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began February 01, 2022

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Agg

Page 2 of 8



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quindonid o

Director/Registrar

W
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06598@262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:36

RANDY BOWMAN

Secretary

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
February 01, 2022

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

19 Windrush Trail, Kitchener, Ontario, N2P 2A7, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS
President

514 Grand Ridge Dr., Cambridge, Ontario, N1S 4Y9, Canada

February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&)bo

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 3 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 0659‘3%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:36

Corporate Name History
Name MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC.

Effective Date February 01, 2022

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ag 1
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 065%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:36

Amalgamating Corporations

Corporation Name MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC.
Ontario Corporation Number 1000086922

Corporation Name 1969285 ONTARIO INC.
Ontario Corporation Number 1969285

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ag 2

Page 5 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A1 06559‘}%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:36

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ags
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 0659‘3%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 12:36

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ag4

Page 7 of 8



91

Transaction Number: APP-A1 0659‘%262
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:36

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change September 04, 2024
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change March 26, 2024
PAF: DENIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Initial Return March 21, 2022
PAF: Denis MEDEIROS

BCA - Articles of Amalgamation February 01, 2022

All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ag 5
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 06?9917008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 12:37

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC. as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 1077948

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Incorporation June 07, 1994

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ag 7

Page 1 of 8



Minimum Number of Directors
Maximum Number of Directors

Active Director(s)
Name

Address for Service
Resident Canadian
Date Began

Name

Address for Service
Resident Canadian
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

94

Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

Transaction Number: APP-A10

RANDY BOWMAN

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
No

February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
No

February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&)b 8

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 2 of 8



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

83

Transaction Number: APP-A1 065?%008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

President

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

Secretary

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the rj&)b 9

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 3 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A1 r)61%008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

Corporate Name History
Name HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC.

Effective Date June 07, 1994

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aioo
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 72:37

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aio 1

Page 5 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A1 r)69%008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aioz

Page 6 of 8



Document List

Filing Name

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: DENIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: Denis MEDEIROS

Annual Return - 2020
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2018
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2017
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2016
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2015
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2014
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

BCA - Articles of Amendment

Annual Return - 2013
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Transaction Number: APP-A1

99

Report Generated on January 20, 2

Effective Date

September 04, 2024

March 26, 2024

February 03, 2022

January 03, 2021

March 22, 2020

January 26, 2020

January 20, 2019

June 10, 2018

December 25, 2016

December 19, 2015

January 10, 2015

February 28, 2014

November 30, 2013

008
L T2:37

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aios
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$§)9 008
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 12:37

Annual Return - 2008 November 22, 2008
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

Annual Return - 2007 October 20, 2007
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

Annual Return - 2006 December 09, 2006
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

Annual Return - 2005 December 17, 2005
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

CIA - Notice of Change October 11, 2005
PAF: SHEREEN ROWE - OTHER

Annual Return - 2003 December 04, 2004
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - OFFICER

Annual Return - 2002 November 23, 2003
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - OFFICER

Annual Return - 2001 November 24, 2002
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - OFFICER

Annual Return - 2000 December 02, 2001

CIA - Notice of Change February 14, 2000
PAF: TREVOR J. UNRUH - OTHER

Annual Return - 1995 April 11, 1996
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return June 23, 1994
PAF: THEODORE G. GIESBRECHT - OTHER

BCA - Articles of Incorporation June 07, 1994

All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aio4
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 1969284

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Amalgamation May 08, 2017

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. AiOG

Page 1 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 48
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; 12:37

Minimum Number of Directors 1
Maximum Number of Directors 10

Active Director(s)

Name RANDY BOWMAN

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Name DENIS MEDEIROS

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aio7
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Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

104
Transaction Number: APP-A1
Report Generated on January 20, 2

948
L T2:37

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

President

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

Secretary

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the re

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

AT08
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025; T2:37

Corporate Name History
Name DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED

Effective Date May 08, 2017

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Aiog
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%§ 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:37

Amalgamating Corporations

Corporation Name 2565789 ONTARIO INC.
Ontario Corporation Number 2565789

Corporation Name DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED
Ontario Corporation Number 207995

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai j_o
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$ 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, 72:37

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai i 1
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$ 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:37

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai iz

Page 7 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$§_ 948
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:37

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change September 04, 2024
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change March 26, 2024
PAF: DENIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Notice of Change February 03, 2022
PAF: Denis MEDEIROS

Annual Return - 2020 January 17, 2021
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2018 June 07, 2019
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

BCA - Articles of Amendment April 11, 2019

Annual Return - 2017 January 29, 2018
PAF: TAVARES CARLOS - DIRECTOR

CIA - Notice of Change January 19, 2018
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return May 15, 2017
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

BCA - Articles of Amalgamation May 08, 2017

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai 13
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$ 694
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:38

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 2695420

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Incorporation May 09, 2019

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai j_5

Page 1 of 7
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$ 694
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:38

Minimum Number of Directors 1
Maximum Number of Directors 10

Active Director(s)

Name RANDY BOWMAN

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Name DENIS MEDEIROS

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai j_6

Page 2 of 7



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

113

Transaction Number: APP-A1%$§_ 94
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, 12:38

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

President

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

Secretary

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the re

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

AT17
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$§_ 94
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:38

Corporate Name History
Name HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

Effective Date May 09, 2019

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai j_8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$§_ 94
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, T2:38

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai j.9
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Transaction Number: APP-A1@%94
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:38

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai?o
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 694
Report Generated on January 20, 2025, 72:38

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change September 04, 2024
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change March 26, 2024
PAF: DENIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Notice of Change February 03, 2022
PAF: Denis MEDEIROS

Annual Return - 2020 January 03, 2021
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019 January 12, 2020
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return May 09, 2019
PAF: WARREN D. GRIFFIN - OTHER

BCA - Articles of Incorporation May 09, 2019

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai? 1
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 052
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:39

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. as of January 20, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 2003057

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Incorporation May 15, 2001

Registered or Head Office Address 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB1EO, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai?s

Page 1 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1%$ 052
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 12:39

Minimum Number of Directors 1
Maximum Number of Directors 10

Active Director(s)

Name RANDY BOWMAN

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Name DENIS MEDEIROS

Address for Service 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
Resident Canadian No

Date Began February 01, 2022

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai?4

Page 2 of 8



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

121
Transaction Number: APP-A1
Report Generated on January 20, 2

052
. T2:39

RANDY BOWMAN

Treasurer

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

President

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO, Canada
February 01, 2022

DENIS MEDEIROS

Secretary

105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EQ, Canada
February 01, 2022

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the re

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

A125
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Transaction Number: APP-A1 052
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:39

Corporate Name History

Name HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
Effective Date September 15, 2005

Previous Name HERITAGE FREIGHT FORWARDING INC.

Effective Date May 15, 2001

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai? 6
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Transaction Number: APP-A1@§?17052
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 12:39

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai? 7

Page 5 of 8



124

Transaction Number: APP-A1@%52
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:39

Expired or Cancelled Business Names

Name HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION
Business Identification Number (BIN) 130461924

Status Inactive - Expired

Registration Date April 23, 2003

Expired Date April 22, 2008

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on th'aeT)é 8

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
Page 6 of 8
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Transaction Number: APP-A1@?%O52
Report Generated on January 20, 20257 T2:39

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change September 04, 2024
PAF: DANIEL CLARKE

CIA - Notice of Change March 26, 2024
PAF: DENIS MEDEIROS

CIA - Notice of Change February 03, 2022
PAF: Denis MEDEIROS

Annual Return - 2020 January 03, 2021
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2019 January 12, 2020
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2018 January 06, 2019
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2017 January 14, 2018
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2016 January 01, 2017
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2016 November 20, 2016
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2015 November 14, 2015
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2014 November 01, 2014
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2013 November 09, 2013
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2010 October 30, 2010
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the repor;
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format. Ai? 9
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Annual Return - 2008
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

Annual Return - 2007
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

Annual Return - 2006
PAF: STEVEN LOWE

CIA - Notice of Change
PAF: THEODORE GIESBRECHT - OTHER

Annual Return - 2005
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - OFFICER

BCA - Articles of Amendment

Annual Return - 2003
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2003
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2003
PAF: STEVEN LOWE - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return
PAF: THEODORE G GIESBRECHT - OTHER

BCA - Articles of Incorporation

1

Transaction Number: APP-A1

Report Generated on January 20

November 22, 2008

October 20, 2007

December 09, 2006

November 28, 2006

February 13, 2006

September 15, 2005

November 13, 2004

March 06, 2004

January 03, 2004

June 06, 2001

May 15, 2001

26

5?%)%)52
, 2 . T2:39

All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the re

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

AT30
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “C” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

e
v

A COMMISSIONER'FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU

Al31



128
Al132

Beneficiary

Randy
Bowman

Denis
Medeiros

Randy Bowman Holdings Inc.

Jakyle Holdings Inc. 4 Family Trust Family Trust
100% 100%
c/s c/s Janine Maria
Desarlais Medeiros

100%

c/s 100% Randy

c/s Bowman
15% A
C/S
Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. Windrush Holdings Inc.
45%
55%
S/S
S/S /
55% 45%
C/sS C/S
A\ 4
JBT Transport Drumbo Transport Heritage Heritage Truck Lines Heritage Northern Heritage Southern Heritage Southern Melair Waydom
Inc. Ltd. Warehousing & Inc. Logistics Inc. Transportation Inc. Logistics, Inc. Management Management
Distrubution Inc. Inc. Inc.

Al132
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “D” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

Q\Mﬂ

[
A COMMIS%IONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU

A133
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Al34

FORM 45

Notice to Lessor to Disclaim or Resiliate a Lease by Commercial Tenant
(Rule 95)

To: 13658724 Canada Inc., Lessor
1-30 Topflight Drive,
Mississauga, ON L5S 0A8
Surjit@armour-insurance.com

Take notice that:

1. A notice of intention to make a proposal in respect of the undersigned commercial lessee was
filed under subsection 50.4(1) of the Act on January 24, 2025.

2. Pursuant to subsection 65.2(1) of the Act, the commercial lessee hereby gives you, the lessor,
30 days' notice of its disclaimer or resiliation of the lease that the lessee signed on September 1,
2022, which lease granted possession of the property situated at 325 Stirling Avenue South,
Kitchener, Ontario, N2M 3H6.

3. The disclaimer or resiliation of the lease will become effective on February 26, 2025.

4, You may apply to the court, within 15 days after the day on which you are given this notice, for a
declaration that subsection 65.2(1) of the Act does not apply in respect of the lease mentioned above.

5. If you make such an application, the court, on notice to such parties as it may direct, shall make
such a declaration unless the commercial lessee satisfies the court that the lessee would not be able
to make a viable proposal, without its disclaimer or resiliation of the lease and all other leases that the
lessee has disclaimed or has resiliated under subsection 65.2(1) of the Act.

Dated at Toronto, this 27th day of January, 2025. DocuSigned by:

o —
HERITAGEWAREHOUSING
& DISTRIBUTION INC.

Al34


mailto:Surjit@armour-insurance.com
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “E” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025
(D

A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU

Al135
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Jessica Wuthman

1 Associate A136
T: +1.416.613.8288
F: +1.416.613.8290

E: jwuthmann@reconllp.com
RECONSTRUTCT W: reconllp.com

January 28, 2025
SENT BY EMAIL

GURU MOTORS INC.

2-325 Stirling Avenue South
Kitchener, ON N2M 3H6
gurumotorserivice@gmail.com

Attention: Ranjit S. Randhawa
Dear Mr. Randhawa,

RE: Sublease Agreement between Guru Motors Inc. and Ranjit S. Randhawa
(collectively, the “Subtenant”) and Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. (the
“Sublandlord”) dated October 1, 2024 (the “Sublease”) for premises located on the
property with a municipal address of 325 Stirling Avenue South, Kitchener, Ontario
(the “Leased Premises”)

We are legal counsel to the Sublandlord. As you may be aware, the Sublandlord, as well as its
related entities, filed a Notice of Intention to File a Proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act on January 24, 2025 (the “NOI Proceeding”).

As part of the NOI Proceeding, the Sublandlord has disclaimed the Lease Agreement between it
and 13658724 Canada Inc. (the “Head Lease”) for the Leased Premises effective February 26,
2025. Accordingly, the Head Lease for the Leased Premises will be terminated effective February
26, 2025.

Pursuant to section 2 of the Sublease, the Sublease shall automatically and simultaneously
terminate if the Head Lease is terminated for any reason. Therefore, this letter serves as notice
that the Sublease for the Leased Premises will be terminating effective February 26, 2025.

We encourage you to speak directly to 13658724 Canada Inc. about any go-forward
arrangements that may be available for the Leased Premises.

Yours truly,

RECONSTRUCT LLP

by~

Jessica Wuthmann
JW/jw

cc. 13658724 Canada Inc.

A136

Reconstruct LLP
Richmond-Adelaide Centre, 120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2500, Toronto ON, M5H 1T1


mailto:gurumotorserivice@gmail.com
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “F” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

QW

/
A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU

Al137
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FORM 45

Notice to Lessor to Disclaim or Resiliate a Lease by Commercial Tenant
(Rule 95)

To: Intermarket Cam Ltd., Lessor
c/o Intermarket Real Estate Group
489 Queen Street East, Suite 201
Toronto, Ontario M5A 1V1
mmk@intermarketinc.com

Take notice that:

1. A notice of intention to make a proposal in respect of the undersigned commercial lessee was
filed under subsection 50.4(1) of the Act on January 24, 2025.

2. Pursuant to subsection 65.2(1) of the Act, the commercial lessee hereby gives you, the lessor,
30 days' notice of its disclaimer or resiliation of the lease that the lessee signed on October 24,
2022, which lease granted possession of the property situated at 180 Boychuk Drive, Cambridge,
Ontario, N3H 4R6.

3. The disclaimer or resiliation of the lease will become effective on the 26th day of February, 2025.

4, You may apply to the court, within 15 days after the day on which you are given this notice, for a
declaration that subsection 65.2(1) of the Act does not apply in respect of the lease mentioned above.

5. If you make such an application, the court, on notice to such parties as it may direct, shall make
such a declaration unless the commercial lessee satisfies the court that the lessee would not be able
to make a viable proposal, without its disclaimer or resiliation of the lease and all other leases that the
lessee has disclaimed or has resiliated under subsection 65.2(1) of the Act.

DocuSigned by:

37¥D

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING
& DISTRIBUTION INC.

Dated at Toronto, this 27th day of January, 2025.

A138
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “G” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025
qw
[

4
A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU

A139
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Jessica Wuthman

1 Associate A14O
T: +1.416.613.8288
F: +1.416.613.8290

E: jwuthmann@reconllp.com
RECONSTRUTCT W: reconllp.com

January 27, 2025
SENT BY EMAIL

KARMAR DELIVERY SERVICE INC.
7419 McLean Road West

Puslinch, ON NOB 2J0
mlunshof@wellingtonsupplychain.com

Attention: Mark Lunshof
Dear Mr. Lunshof,

RE: Sublease Agreement between Karmar Delivery Service Inc. (the “Subtenant”) and
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. (the “Sublandlord”) dated March 8, 2024
(the “Sublease”) for premises located on the property with a municipal address of
180 Boychuk Drive, Cambridge, Ontario (the “Leased Premises”)

We are legal counsel to the Sublandlord and JBT Transport Inc. (the “Indemnifier”). As you may
be aware, the Sublandlord and Indemnifier, as well as their related entities, filed a Notice of
Intention to File a Proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act on January 24, 2025 (the
“NOI Proceeding”).

As part of the NOI Proceeding, the Sublandlord has disclaimed the Lease Agreement between it,
the Indemnifier, and Intermarket CAM Inc. (the “Head Lease”) for the Leased Premises effective
February 26, 2025. Accordingly, the Head Lease for the Leased Premises will be terminated
effective February 26, 2025.

Pursuant to section 5 of the Consent to Sublease dated March 8, 2024 between Intermarket CAM
Inc., the Subtenant, the Sublandlord, and the Indemnifier, the Sublease shall automatically and
simultaneously terminate if the Head Lease is terminated for any reason. Therefore, this letter
serves as notice that the Sublease for the Leased Premises will be terminating effective February
26, 2025.

We encourage you to speak directly to Intermarket CAM Inc. about any go-forward arrangements
that may be available for the Leased Premises.

Yours truly,

RECONSTRUCT LLP

S~

Jessica Wuthmann
JW/jw
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RECONSTRUCT

cc. Intermarket CAM Inc.
489 Queen Street East, Suite 201
Toronto, Ontario
M5A 1V1
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “H” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

(j\&vw

[

A COMMISSIONER VFOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 800

171 Queens Avenue
London, ON

N6A 5J7

T+1519672 3154
F +1 519672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

Financial Reporting Package
JBT Transport Inc.
August 31, 2023

Action items for your immediate attention:

1. HST adjustment

We made adjustments to your HST balances. Please record the adjustments as described in our
HST memorandum on your next reminttance.

2. Adjusting journal entries

Enclosed you will find a copy of the adjusting journal entries. Please post the entries to your
general ledger on the date as indicated. Once the entries have been posted, it is best to disable
the ability to post into the prior year again.
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Grant Thornton LLP
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London, ON
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T+1519672 3154
F +1 519672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

April 11, 2024

JBT Transport Inc.
105 Guthrie St.
Ayr, ON NOB 1EOQ

Attention: Mr. Denis Medeiros

Dear Denis Medeiros:

We are pleased to provide you with the financial reporting package for JBT Transport Inc. (“the
Company”, “you” or “your”) for the year ending August 31, 2023. This financial reporting package
contains all the engagement deliverables for the current fiscal year. Be sure to review the items

carefully and get back to us with any questions or concerns you may have.

We would like to take the opportunity to share the following information to aid you in the year ahead.
Corporate Income Tax Return

It is important to carefully review the return and alert us immediately of any changes that may be
necessary. When you receive the Notice of Assessment or any subsequent Notice of Reassessment,
please advise us of any changes that occurred. If you are unsure, please forward us a copy. If you
would like to make a change, you have 90 days from the date of the notice.

Automobiles

CRA is becoming more and more particular about the taxable benefits of company owned vehicles.
Whenever a company owns a vehicle that is driven by an employee, there are taxable benefits that
need to be considered. The taxable benefit has two parts: a standby charge and an operating benefit.

The standby charge benefit exists simply because a vehicle is made "available for use" any time you
wish, whether you use it or not. The operating benefit is a per kilometre amount for your actual
personal usage. In both cases it is very important that you have a log book to show how much the
vehicle is used either for business (transporting goods and passengers) or personal use. The
operating benefit is quite easy to calculate as it is 27¢ per km for the actual personal use of the
vehicle.

The standby charge however depends on a few factors:

If you lease a vehicle, unless your business use each and every month is 90%, there will be a taxable
benefit that should be computed and added to your personal income. This benefit is based on the
value of the vehicle and the amount of the monthly lease.

On the other hand, if you purchase the vehicle, the Company will need to compute the taxable benefit
which may include both an operating benefit and a stand by charge. There are some special rules for
a “truck van or similar vehicle" used 90% to “transport goods and passengers” in the year of
purchase. These rules may help to reduce the amount of the taxable benefit.

In order to compute these required taxable benefits we will need you to tell us how many kilometres
you drive your company owned vehicle each year (January to December) and how many of those
kilometres are for personal use.

This letter is prepared solely for the information of management and those charged with governance
and is not intended for any other purpose. We accept no responsibility to a third party who uses this
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communication.

Please contact us if you need help with, or have questions about any of these items.

Yours sincerely,
Grant Thornton LLP

9:..,4—/1,:52 L7

Christine DeVouge, CPA, CA
Principal
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Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 800

171 Queens Avenue
London, ON

N6A 5J7

T+1519672 3154
F +1 519 672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

Independent Practitioner's Review Engagement
Report

To the Shareholders of
JBT Transport Inc.

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of JBT Transport Inc. that comprise the
balance sheet as at August 31, 2023, and the statements of loss, retained earnings and cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Practitioner's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for
review engagements, which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for
review engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures,
primarily consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate,
and applying analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from,
those performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial
statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JBT Transport Inc.
as at August 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

A150
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Independent Practitioner's Review Engagement
Report (continued)

Material uncertainty related to going concern

Without modifying our conclusion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which
indicates that JBT Transport Inc. experienced a net loss in the current year and has a working capital
deficiency as at the balance sheet date. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

gﬁm LLP

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
April 11, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants

Al51
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JBT Transport Inc.

Statement of Loss

Year ended August 31 2023 2022

Revenue $ 30,457,211 $§ 35,371,147

Direct costs
Owner operators 10,285,007 10,132,632
Fuel, repairs and maintenance 4,307,764 5,128,557
Broker services 4,058,726 6,039,875
Highway drivers' wages and benefits 2,243,548 2,136,086
City drivers' wages and benefits 2,101,289 1,848,836
Amortization - trucks and trailers 1,878,267 1,653,860
Insurance 1,588,015 1,404,684
Salaries and benefits 706,373 530,079
Tolls, permits and fines 633,094 533,975
Rent 563,462 892,941
Licenses and decals 544,908 248,574
Security 189,617 124,747
Settlement and lumper 109,411 13,705
Transport equipment operating leases 64,992 47,312
Commission 6,831 12,483

29,281,304 30,748,346

Gross profit 1,175,907 4,622,801
Expenses (Schedule 1) 5,507,509 3,563,730
(Loss) income before other income and income taxes (recovery) (4,331,602) 1,059,071

Other income

Gain on sale of property and equipment 372,913 1,390,018
Gain on foreign exchange 183,496 79,493
Freight management fees 2,150,000 -
2,706,409 1,469,511
(Loss) income before income taxes (recovery) (1,625,193) 2,528,582
Income taxes (recovery)
Current (142,020) 133,188
Future (174,101) 1,011,235

(316,121) 1,144,423

Net (loss) income $ (1,309,072)$ 1,384,159

Al152

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 3
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JBT Transport Inc.
Statement of Retained Earnings
Year ended August 31 2023 2022
Retained earnings, beginning of year $ 2542291 $§ 3,503,988
Net (loss) income (1,309,072) 1,384,159
Dividends paid - (2,345,856)
Retained earnings, end of year $ 1,233,219 $§ 2,542,291
Al153

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 4
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JBT Transport Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Accounts receivable $ 4928197 $ 5,166,115
Inventory 202,651 84,354
Income taxes recoverable 142,020 -
Prepaid expenses 313,340 321,508
5,586,208 5,571,977
Due from related parties (Note 4) 6,304,827 2,963,879
Property and equipment (Note 5) 12,542,727 7,043,206

$ 24,433,762 $§ 15,579,062

Al54

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 5
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JBT Transport Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness (Note 6) $ 6,205,499 $ 3,564,596
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 3,977,195 1,834,747
Due to owner operators 81,200 101,500
Income taxes payable - 131,773
Due to related parties (Note 4) 1,295,997 1,872,797
Redeemable special share liability (Note 8) 4,550,000 4,550,000
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9) 5,426,044 898,537
Current portion of capital lease obligations (Note 10) 59,059 667,028
21,594,994 13,620,978
Due to related parties (Note 4) 2,964,420 316,834
Long-term debt (Note 9) 1,728,503 2,256,320
Capital lease obligations (Note 10) 244,088 -
Future income taxes (Note 11) 1,218,100 1,392,201

27,750,105 17,586,333

Shareholders’ deficiency
Share capital

Issued
590 voting Class A common shares 59 59
490 voting Class B common shares 49 49
108 108
Other deficiency relating to redeemable special shares (Note 12) (4,549,670) (4,549,670)
Retained earnings 1,233,219 2,542,291

(3,316,343) (2,007,271)

$ 24,433,762 $ 15,579,062

Lease commitments (Note 13)
Guarantees (Note 14)
Subsequent event (Note 16)

On behalf of the Board

Director

Al155

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 6
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JBT Transport Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended August 31 2023 2022
Increase (decrease) in cash
Operating
Net (loss) income $ (1,309,072)$ 1,384,159
Items not affecting cash
Amortization 2,330,460 1,707,638
Future income taxes (174,101) 1,011,235
Gain on sale of property and equipment (372,913) (1,390,018)
Foreign exchange gain (183,496) -
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - (4,020)
290,878 2,708,994
Change in non-cash working capital items
Accounts receivable 237,918 (569,869)
Inventory (118,297) (7,788)
Income taxes (273,793) 133,188
Prepaid expenses 8,168 (36,510)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,142,448 (86,615)
Due to owner operators (20,300) (45,500)
2,267,022 2,095,900
Financing
Proceeds on bank indebtedness 2,640,903 1,555,677
Proceeds on advances from related parties 2,070,786 1,882,797
Repayment of long-term debt (2,330,712) (3,031,459)
Proceeds of long-term debt 6,330,402 3,674,178
Repayment of capital lease obligations (690,395) (887,279)
Share capital issued - 108
Dividends paid - (2,345,856)
8,020,984 848,166
Investing
Payment of advances to related parties (3,340,948) (2,526,887)
Purchase of property and equipment (8,092,058) (1,949,731)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 1,145,000 1,532,552
(10,288,006) (2,944,066)
Increase in cash - -
Cash
Beginning of year - -
End of year $ - -
Al156
See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 7
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

1. Nature of operations

JBT Transport Inc., (the "Company"), was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of
Ontario on July 11, 2002. The Company is principally engaged in transportation and logistics
services throughout North America.

2. Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles applicable to a going
concern. The going concern basis assumes that the Company will continue its operations for the
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments
in the normal course of business.

As at August 31, 2023, the Company had current liabilities that exceeded current assets by
$16,008,786 (2022 - $8,049,001) and a net loss of $1,309,072 (2022 - net income of $1,384,159).
The Company has guaranteed certain loans payable by related parties as described in Note 14.
There is material uncertainty regarding the ability of the related parties to continue as a going
concern. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account
all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

Initiatives implemented by management of the Company and the related parties to mitigate the
factors giving rise to the going concern uncertainty include the sale of trailers that are not required
for operations, consolidation of operations, reduction in the use of owner/operators, identification
and elimination of unprofitable routes, increased focus on logistics operations and an investment in
accounting systems.

As the outcome of management’s actions is dependent on future events, there is no certainty that
management will be able to successfully resolve these issues. Should the Company and its related
parties be unable to continue as a going concern, the Company may be unable to realize the
carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due. The carrying amounts of
the assets, liabilities and expenses presented in these financial statements and the balance sheet
classifications have not been adjusted as would be required if the going concern assumption was
not appropriate. Such adjustments could be material.

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation

The Company has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for private enterprises (“ASPE”). The preparation of these financial statements in
conformity with ASPE requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
current period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to income as
appropriate in the year they become known.

Al57
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue consists of freight revenue. Freight revenue is recognized when the hauled goods are
delivered. This point in time coincides with when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the
price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Furthermore, it is upon
delivery that the Company has completed all significant acts and retains no continuing involvement
in the services provided

Freight management fee income is recognized in the month that the subject services are provided.
Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks, including bank overdrafts with balances that
fluctuate frequently from being positive to overdrawn. Consistent bank borrowings are considered to
be financing activities.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments in arm's length transactions

The Company considers any contract creating a financial asset, liability or equity instrument as a
financial instrument, except in certain limited circumstances. The Company accounts for the
following as financial instruments:

accounts receivable
bank indebtedness
accounts payable

due to owner operators
long-term debt

L] L] L] L] L]

A financial asset or liability is recognized when the Company becomes party to contractual
provisions of the instrument.

The Company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities from arm's length
transactions at fair value.

The Company subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized
cost.

The Company removes financial liabilities, or a portion of, when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

A158
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there are any indications that
financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost may be impaired. When there is any such
indication of impairment, the Company determines whether a significant adverse change has
occurred during the period in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows from that financial
asset. Where this is the case, the carrying amount of the assets are reduced to the highest of the
expected value that is actually recoverable from the assets either by holding the assets, by their
sale or by exercising the right to any collateral, net of disposal cost. The carrying amounts of the
assets are reduced directly or through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
reduction is recognized as an impairment loss in net income.

Retractable or mandatorily redeemable shares issued in a tax planning arrangement

The Company presents the Class A and the Class B Special shares, which were issued in a tax
planning arrangement, as a financial liability because the holders of the special shares do not
control the Company. The special shares are measured at their redemption amount. Such shares
cannot subsequently be presented as equity.

Financial instruments in related party transactions

Financial assets and financial liabilities in related party transactions are initially measured at cost,
with the exception of certain instruments which are initially measured at fair value. The Company
does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities in related party transactions which are
initially measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising on initial measurement differences are generally recognized in net income
when the transaction is in the normal course of operations, and in equity when the transaction is not
in the normal course of operations, subject to certain exceptions.

Financial assets and financial liabilities recognized in related party transactions are subsequently
measured based on how the Company initially measured the instrument. Financial instruments
initially measured at cost are subsequently measured at cost, less any impairment for financial
assets. Financial instruments initially measured at fair value, of which the Company has none,
would be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value based on certain conditions.

A159
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Assets and obligations under capital lease

Capital leases are leases where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of
the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to entities in the Company.

A capital lease is accounted for as an asset as well as an obligation. Accordingly, capital leases are
recognized by recording an asset and a liability at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, excluding the portion thereof relating to executor costs. However, the maximum value
recorded for the asset and obligation will not exceed the leased asset’s fair value.

The capitalized value of a depreciable asset is amortized over the lease term. However, if the
ownership is to eventually pass to the Company, or a bargain purchase option is allowed, the
amortization period will be the economic useful life of the asset.

An obligation under a capital lease is similar to a loan. Lease payments are allocated to a reduction
of the obligation, interest expense and any related executor costs. The interest expense is
calculated using the discount rate used in computing the present value of the minimum lease
payments applied to the remaining balance of the obligation.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease where substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
the property are not transferred to the Company.

Lease rentals under operating leases are included in the determination of net income over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method.

Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the cost of inventories is estimated to not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if those inventories have been
damaged, become obsolete, selling prices have declined or their estimated costs of completion or
the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sale have increased.

The amount of any write-downs of inventories to net realizable value and all losses of inventories
are recognized as an expense, and included in cost of sales, in the period the write-down or loss
occurs.

When the circumstances that previously caused the inventories to be written down below cost no
longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of a
changed economic circumstance, the amount of write-down is reversed in the period of change.

The amount of any reversal of write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realizable
value, shall be recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs. The reversal is limited to the amount of the original write-
down.

A160
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided on a declining and straight line basis over the

estimated useful life of the asset.

The following rates applied on a method as described below will apply the cost over the estimated
useful lives of property and equipment:

Transport equipment

- Trucks 6 years Straight-line, 10%

residual value
- Trailers 20% Declining balance
Vehicles 30% Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 10 years Straight-line
Computer and tracking equipment 30% Declining balance
Paving 8% Declining balance
Furniture and fixtures 20% Declining balance
Warehouse equipment 20% Declining balance

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company tests long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows resulting from its
use and eventual disposition. The impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

Foreign currency transactions

All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses arising from a foreign currency
transaction are translated using the exchange rate in effect on the date the transaction occurred.
Translation gains and losses are included in income.

Income taxes

The Company has elected to apply the future income taxes method of accounting. Future tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Enacted or substantively enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when these differences
reverse are used to calculate future income taxes. To the extent that the Company does not
consider it to be more likely than not that a future tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation
allowance against the excess.

The Company classifies future income tax assets and future income tax liabilities as non-current
regardless of the date that the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Alel
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Use of estimates

Management reviews the carrying amounts of items in the financial statements at each balance
sheet date to assess the need for revision or any possibility of impairment. Many items in the
preparation of these financial statements require management's best estimate. Management
determines these estimates based on assumptions that reflect the most probable set of economic
conditions and planned courses of action.

These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to net income as appropriate
in the year they become known.

Iltems subject to significant management estimates include allowance for doubtful accounts,
estimates related to the amortization of capital assets (such as useful lives and salvage values), the
discount rate used to compute capital lease obligation, future income taxes, accruals and the
amount of any liabilities that may result from guarantees.

Guarantees

The Company enters into guarantees on behalf of related parties. Contracts under which the
Company may be required to make payments if a related party does not follow the terms and
conditions of a contract and contracts under which the Company provides indirect guarantees of
another party’s indebtedness, are considered guarantees to be disclosed, and in some instances
recognized in the financial statements. The Company records liabilities for guarantees when there is
an obligation to make a payment on behalf of a related party and the payment is likely.

4. Related party balances and transactions

Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. and Windrush Holdings Inc. are shareholders of the Company. The
Company is related through common control to Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Heritage Warehousing &
Distribution Inc., Drumbo Transport Ltd., Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Melair Management Inc.
and Waydom Management Inc. Jakyle Holdings Inc. is the holder of the Company's Class A Special
shares. Randy Bowman Holdings Inc. is the holder of the Company's Class B Special shares.
Jakyle Holdings Inc. formerly held a non-controlling interest in Grand Porter Logistics Inc.

Due from related parties

2023 2022
Due from Grand Porter Logistics Inc. $ - $ 169,349
Due from director 7,667 7,667
Due from Heritage Truck Lines Inc. 5,084,159 2,780,535
Due from Melair Management Inc. 173,568 6,328
Due from Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. 5,671 -
Due from Windrush Holdings Inc. 4,709 -
Due from Drumbo Transport Ltd. 494,704 -
Due from Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. 53,380 -
Due from Heritage Warehousing and Distribution Inc. 480,969 -

$ 6,304,827 $§ 2,963,879

Al62
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JBT Transport Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
4. Related party balances and transactions (continued)
Due to related parties
Current

2023 2022
Due to Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. $ - $ 49,429
Due to Drumbo Transport Ltd. - 114,792
Due to Waydom Management Inc. 1,295,997 1,649,576
Due to Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. - 59,000

$ 1,295,997 $§ 1,872,797

Long term

2023 2022
Due to Jakyle Holdings Inc. $ 2792144 $ 152,144
Due to Randy Bowman Holdings Inc. 172,276 164,690

$ 2,964,420 $ 316,834

The balances due to and due from related parties are unsecured and without specified terms of
repayment. The balances due to and due from related parties are non-interest bearing, except for
the balance due to Waydom Management Inc. which bears interest at a rate of 3.9% per annum.

Jakyle Holdings Inc. and Randy Bowman Holdings Inc. have waived the right to demand repayment
until September 1, 2024.

In addition to the foregoing, during the year the Company participated in the following transactions
with related parties:

(a) Revenue was earned from services provided to Heritage Truck Lines Inc. totalling $nil (2022 -
$1,330,603);

(b) Revenue was earned from services provided to from Drumbo Transport Ltd. totalling $nil (2022
- $95,965);

(c) Rentwas paid to Waydom Management Inc. totalling $150,000 (2022 - $150,000);

(d) Rentwas paid to Melair Management Inc. totalling $203,400 (2022 - $203,000);

(e) Direct costs were paid to Heritage Truck Lines Inc. totalling $nil (2022 - $150,107);

(f) Interest was paid to Waydom Management Inc. totalling $64,608 (2022 - $39,862); and

(g) Freight management fee income was received from Heritage Truck Lines Inc. totalling
$2,150,000 (2022 - $nil)

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount agreed upon by the related parties.

Property and equipment was purchased from Drumbo Transport Limited totalling $237,955 (2022-
$nil). These transactions were not in the normal course of operations and were measured at the
carrying value.

A163
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JBT Transport Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
5. Property and equipment 2023 2022
Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Cost Amortization Value Value
Transport equipment $ 17939477 $ 9,697,946 $ 8,241,531 $ 4,892,582
Vehicles 656,851 269,833 387,018 154,045
Leasehold improvements 3,426,104 346,665 3,079,439 228,563
Computer and tracking
equipment 834,506 668,565 165,941 50,315
Paving 40,000 12,490 27,510 29,902
Furniture and fixtures 501,115 156,150 344,965 5,611
Warehouse equipment 37,155 35,497 1,658 2,072
23,435,208 11,187,146 12,248,062 5,363,090
Trailers under capital lease 324,540 29,875 294,665 1,680,116
$ 23,759,748 $ 11,217,021 $ 12,542,727 $ 7,043,206

Amortization of capital leases totalled $29,875 ($420,018 for 2022).

6. Bank indebtedness

The Company shares credit facilities with Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Drumbo Transport Limited,
Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc., Waydom Management
Inc. and Melair Management Inc. (collectively the "Companies") (Note 4), including a demand
operating loan to a maximum of $7,500,000 ($5,000,000 as at August 31, 2022). The combined
operating loan utilized as at August 31, 2023 was $6,740,000 and bears interest at a fluctuating rate
of the bank's prime lending rate plus 0.5% (7.7% as at August 31, 2023).

As security, the Company has provided the following:

(i) General security agreements from the Companies representing a first charge on all present

and after acquired personal property;

(i) Unlimited guarantees of advances executed by the Companies;

(iii) Assignment of fire insurance from the Companies;

(iv) Continuing collateral mortgages, representing a first charge, totalling $12,200,000 beneficially
owned by and registered in the name of Waydom Management Inc. on real property.;

(v) Continuing collateral mortgage, representing a first charge, in the principal amount of
$7,800,000 beneficially owned by and registered in the name of Melair Management Inc. on

real property; and

(vi) Postponement and assignment of creditor's claim executed by the Companies’ common

shareholders.

Al64
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

6. Bank indebtedness (continued)

Financial covenants are monitored and communicated, as required by the terms of the credit
agreement, by management to ensure compliance with the agreement. The covenants are
calculated on a combined basis for the Company, Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Drumbo Transport
Limited, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc., Waydom
Management Inc. and Melair Management Inc. (Note 4) to be measured as at the end of each fiscal
year.

At August 31, 2023, the Companies were in violation of the lending covenant with the Toronto-
Dominion Bank, and as such, the Toronto-Dominion Bank can demand payment of the loans.

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts owing to various government
agencies totalling $453,545 ($108,605 as at August 31, 2022).

8. Redeemable special share liability 2023 2022
2,485,648 Class A Special shares $ 2,485,648 $ 2,485,648
2,064,352 Class B Special shares 2,064,352 2,064,352

$ 4,550,000 $ 4,550,000

The redeemable and retractable special shares do not have any set terms of repayment.

9. Long-term debt 2023 2022

BMO loan; formerly repayable in monthly blended payments
totalling $15,807, including interest at 6.50% $ - $ 629,745

TD loan; repayable in monthly blended payments totalling $4,280

(formerly interest only payments until January 2023), including

interest at the bank's prime lending rate plus 1% (8.2% as at

August 31, 2023), secured as described in Note 6, maturing

December 2025 110,743 138,997

TD Equipment Finance Canada loans; repayable in monthly

blended payments totalling $67,496 (2022 - $44,540), including

interest rates ranging from 2.88% to 6.95%, maturing on dates

between July 2024 and February 2030, secured by the assets

financed (net book value - $2,568,252), and as described in Note 7 2,902,736 2,046,279

Volvo Financial Services loans; repayable in monthly blended

payments totalling $41,595 (2022 - $12,580), including interest

rates ranging from 3.99% to 6.65%, maturing on dates between

September 2023 and December 2026, secured by the assets

financed (net book value - $1,266,459) 1,056,863 21 7,0%165
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Al166
JBT Transport Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
9. Long-term debt (continued) 2023 2022
RBC loans; repayable in monthly blended payments totalling
$1,998, including interest rates ranging from 0.00% to 3.49%,
maturing on dates between November 2023 and March 2025,
secured by the assets financed (net book value - $57,284) 36,136 90,415
LBC Capital Inc. loans; repayable in monthly blended payments
totalling $13,843 (2022 - $10,942), including interest rates ranging
from 4.99% to 7.15%, maturing November 2027, secured by the
assets financed (net book value - $589,068) 607,259 32,356
TD loan; repayable in monthly blended payments totalling $15,102,
including interest at 6.82%, secured as described in Note 6,
maturing December 2027 711,647 -
TD loan; repayable in monthly blended payments totalling $19,896,
including interest at 6.82%, secured as described in Note 6,
maturing May 2028 966,780 -
PNC Vendor Finance Corporation Canada loan; repayable in
monthly blended payments totalling $14,558, including interest at
7.49%, maturing October 2026, secured by the asset financed (net
book value - $513,428) 491,120 -
GM Financial loans; repayable in monthly blended payments
totalling $5,187, including interest rates ranging from 5.49% to
5.99%, maturing on dates between September 2026 and October
2026, secured by the assets financed (net book value - $219,416) 178,140 -
Mercedes-Benz Financial Services loan; repayable in monthly
blended payments totalling $2,903, including interest at 7.64%,
maturing August 2026, secured by the asset financed (net book
value - $80,440) 93,123 -
7,154,547 3,154,857

Less current portion 5,426,044 898,537
Due beyond one year 1,728,503 2,256,320
Estimated principal repayments are as follows:

2024 5,426,044

2025 706,031

2026 639,966

2027 318,664

2028 63,842

7,154,547
Al166
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JBT Transport Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
10. Capital lease obligations 2023 2022
R & S Trailer Leasing Limited capital leases; formerly repayable in
blended monthly payments totalling $68,807, including interest
ranging from 5.98% to 7.12% $ - $ 667,028
LBC Capital Inc. capital lease; repayable in monthly payments of
$6,563 including imputed interest at 7.78%, maturing February
2028 303,147 -
303,147 667,028
Less current portion 59,059 667,028
Due beyond one year $ 244,088 $ -
Estimated principal repayments are as follows:
2024 $ 59,059
2025 63,517
2026 68,312
2027 73,469
2028 38,790
$ 303,147

11. Future income taxes

The amount of future income taxes attributable to each type of temporary difference, unused tax
losses and unused income tax reductions is as follows:

2023 2022
Excess of capital cost allowance over amortization $ 1,990,907 $ 1,123,733
Obligations under capital lease (80,334) 268,468
Non-capital loss carry forward (692,473) -

$ 1,218,100 $ 1,392,201

12. Other deficiency relating to redeemable special shares

Other deficiency of $4,549,670 relates to the issuance of retractable or mandatorily redeemable
shares presented as financial liabilities and will be reclassified to retained earnings as the shares
are called for redemption.

Al67
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

13. Operating lease commitments

The Company is committed to monthly payments for the lease of various vehicles. The minimum
total lease payments due over the next two years are as follows:

2024 $ 30,542
2025 27,997
$ 58,539

14. Guarantees

The Company, together with others, has guaranteed certain loans payable by Heritage Truck Lines
Inc., Drumbo Transport Limited, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing &
Distribution Inc., Waydom Management Inc. and Melair Management Inc. (Note 4). The combined
balance of the subject loans outstanding at August 31, 2023 was $15,516,867 (2022 -
$15,176,770). It is not possible at this time to determine the amount of any liability that may result
from these guarantees. As such, no liability is recognized on the Company's balance sheet in
relation to these guarantees.

15. Financial instruments

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the Company’s risk exposures and concentrations at August 31, 2023.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or expected future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk (commodity risk). The Company is exposed to currency
risk, interest rate risk and commaodity risk.

(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Approximately 12% of the Company’s
sales are in foreign currency (2022 - 17%). Consequently, some assets are exposed to foreign
exchange fluctuations. As at August 31, 2023 accounts receivable of $392,351 and accounts
payable of $70,670 (2022 - $715,288 and $72,202) respectively are denominated in US
dollars and converted into Canadian dollars. There was no significant change in exposure from
the prior year.

(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest
rate risk on its fixed and floating interest rate financial instruments. Given the current
composition of long-term debt, fixed-rate instruments subject the Company to a fair value risk
while the floating-rate instruments subject it to a cash flow risk. There was no significant
change in exposure from the prior year.

A168
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JBT Transport Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

15. Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(iii) Commodity risk
Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic
value due to commodity price fluctuations. The Company is exposed to price risk from
fluctuations in the price for fuel. To mitigate this risk, the Company has a fuel surcharge
program in place with its customers. The Company manages consumption to ensure the fleet
operates as effectively as possible. There was no significant change in exposure from the prior
year.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company’s main credit risks relate to its accounts
receivable. The entity provides credit to its clients in the normal course of its operations. There was
no significant change in exposure from the prior year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its
bank indebtedness, accounts payable, capital lease obligations and long-term debt. There was no
significant change in exposure from the prior year.

16. Subsequent events

Subsequent to year end, the Company sold property and equipment totalling $2,219,000.

Al169
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JBT Transport Inc.
Schedule to the Financial Statements
Year ended August 31
Schedule of expenses Schedule 1

2023 2022
Salaries and related benefits $ 2457622 $ 2,107,902
Interest on long-term debt 728,904 285,238
Computer services 523,335 325,538
Amortization 452,193 53,778
Automotive 393,917 201,230
Advertising and promotion 346,714 196,590
Interest and bank charges 215,525 150,957
Office 146,437 84,169
Life insurance 97,374 88,585
Professional fees 76,397 19,162
Repairs and maintenance 64,509 9,835
Telephone and utilities 50,704 32,329
Warehousing, security and bonding 8,162 4,538
Insurance - 3,320
Bad debts (recovered) (54,284) 559

$ 5,507,509 $ 3,563,730

Al170
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Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of
Waydom Management Inc.

On the basis of information provided by Management, we have compiled the balance sheet of
Waydom Management Inc. as at July 31, 2023, the statement of income and retained earnings for the
year then ended, and Note 1, which describes the basis of accounting applied in the preparation of
the compiled financial information ("financial information").

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of
accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS)
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of
assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

g}wzg—m L7

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
January 30, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants
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Al75
Waydom Management Inc.
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
Year ended July 31 2023 2022
Revenue
Rental 289,000 $ 230,640
Consulting and warehousing 3,948 55,473
Interest income 246,337 110,636
539,285 396,749
Expenses
Mortgage interest 230,741 221,541
Amortization 206,983 105,149
Professional fees 3,551 8,205
Interest and bank charges 8,014 54,907
Property taxes 1,140 1,707
Repairs and maintenance - 21,150
450,429 412,659
Income (loss) before other income and income taxes 88,856 (15,910)
Other income
Gain on sale of rental property - 7,545,463
Income before income taxes 88,856 7,529,553
Income taxes 51,552 89,051
Net income 37,304 $ 7,440,502
Retained earnings, beginning of year 7,324,196 $ 37,923
Net income 37,304 7,440,502
Dividends paid - (23,000)
Refundable dividend taxes paid (81,430) (140,046)
Refundable dividend tax recovered - 8,817
Retained earnings, end of year 7,280,070 $ 7,324,196
Al75
See accompanying note to the financial information. 2
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Waydom Management Inc.
Balance Sheet
July 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Cash $ 28,877 § -
Accounts receivable 30,950 46,791
Deposits - 18,384
59,827 65,175
Rental property
Land 3,291,160 3,291,160
Buildings 5,311,061 5,257,473
8,602,221 8,548,633
Less accumulated amortization 312,132 105,149

8,290,089 8,443,484

Due from related parties 6,173,858 5,665,559

$ 14,523,774 $§ 14,174,218

Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness $ - $ 24,056
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,108 16,286
Income taxes payable 113,440 211,408
Due to shareholders 705,875 705,875
Current portion of long-term debt 416,423 264,600
1,241,846 1,222,225
Long-term debt 6,001,758 5,627,697

7,243,604 6,849,922

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 7,280,070 7,324,196

7,280,170 7,324,296

$ 14,523,774 $§ 14,174,218

On behalf of the Board

Director

Al76

See accompanying note to the financial information. 3
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Waydom Management Inc.

Note to the Compiled Financial Information
July 31, 2023

1. Basis of accounting

The preparation of the balance sheet of Waydom Management Inc. as at July 31, 2023 and the
statement of income and retained earnings for the year then ended is on the accrual basis of
accounting, including the following:

(a) refundable dividend taxes paid has been charged to retained earnings during the year

(b) revenue-producing property is amortized in accordance with amounts allowable for income tax
purposes

(c) income taxes payable are accrued as at the reporting date
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Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 800

171 Queens Avenue
London, ON
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F +1 519 672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of
Melair Management Inc.

On the basis of information provided by Management, we have compiled the balance sheet of Melair
Management Inc. as at August 31, 2023, the statement of loss and deficit for the year then ended,
and Note 1, which describes the basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the compiled
financial information ("financial information").

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of
accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS)
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of
assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

g}wzg—m L7

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
February 26, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants
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A182
Melair Management Inc.
Statements of Loss and Deficit
Period ended August 31 2023 2022

(12 months)

(7.5 months)

Rental revenue $ 387,600 $ 356,090
Expenses
Interest on long-term debt 523,447 259,726
Amortization 132,888 79,094
Property taxes 28,047 26,499
Interest and bank charges 23,313 403
Utilities 20,940 10,868
Accounting and legal 4,230 13,229
Waste removal - 917
Office - 5,728
732,865 396,464
Loss before other expense and income taxes (recovery) (345,265) (40,374)
Other expense - (34,523)
Loss before income taxes (recovery) (345,265) (74,897)
Income taxes (recovery) (6,587) 6,587
Net loss $ (338,678) $ (81,484)
Deficit, beginning of period $ (81,484) $ -
Net loss (338,678) (81,484)
Deficit, end of period $ (420,162) $ (81,484)
Al182
See accompanying note to the financial information. 2
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Al183
Melair Management Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Cash $ 81,926 $ 48,262
Income taxes recoverable 7,960 -
Due from related parties - 133,267
89,886 181,529
Property and equipment
Land 9,618,473 8,784,800
Buildings 3,977,753 3,977,753
Paving 93,516 93,516
Fences 15,450 15,450
Equipment 5,450 5,450
13,710,642 12,876,969
Less accumulated amortization 927,778 794,891
12,782,864 12,082,078
$ 12,872,750 $ 12,263,607
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 63,723 $ 129,297
Income taxes payable - 15,677
Due to related parties 4,638,919 3,323,166
Current portion of mortgages payable 290,963 288,000
4,993,605 3,756,140
Mortgages payable 8,299,207 8,588,851
13,292,812 12,344,991
Shareholders’ deficiency
Share capital
Issued
100 Common shares 100 100
Deficit (420,162) (81,484)
(420,062) (81,384)
$ 12,872,750 $ 12,263,607
Al183
See accompanying note to the financial information. 3
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Melair Management Inc.

Note to the Compiled Financial Information
August 31, 2023

1. Basis of accounting

The preparation of the balance sheet of Melair Management Inc. as at August 31, 2023 and the
statement of loss and deficit for the year then ended is on the accrual basis of accounting, including

the following:

(a) revenue-producing property is amortized in accordance with amounts allowable for income tax
purposes
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Financial Reporting Package
Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
August 31, 2023
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Independent Practitioner's Review Engagement
Report

To the Shareholders of
Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Heritage Truck Lines Inc. that comprise
the balance sheet as at August 31, 2023, and the statements of loss and retained earnings and cash
flows for the period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Practitioner's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for
review engagements, which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for
review engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures,
primarily consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate,
and applying analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from,
those performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

A190
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Independent Practitioner's Review Engagement
Report (continued)

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial
statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Heritage Truck Lines
Inc. as at August 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

Without modifying our conclusion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which
indicates that Heritage Truck Lines Inc. experienced a net loss in the current year and has a working
capital deficiency as at the balance sheet date. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

gﬁm LLP

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
April 11, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants

Al191
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Statements of Loss and Retained Earnings
Period ended August 31 2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)

Revenue $ 14,874,668 $ 12,380,897

Direct costs
Sub-contracts 4,502,283 6,328,472
Fuel 2,455,798 862,599
Wages and benefits 2,177,091 1,487,732
Freight management fees 2,150,000 -
Amortization 742,432 377,245
Repairs and maintenance 496,649 346,025
Insurance and licenses 405,790 367,739
Equipment rentals 255,063 191,648
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board premium 130,561 35,573
Freight costs and claims 9,285 28,287
Road expenses 6,669 18,953
Warehouse - 10,809

13,331,621 10,055,082

Gross profit 1,543,047 2,325,815
Expenses (Schedule 1) 2,318,724 1,624,131
(Loss) income before other income (expense) and income taxes
(recovery) (775,677) 701,684
Other income (expense)
Gain on sale of property and equipment 162,661 34,900
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange 43,978 (17,209)
206,639 17,691
(Loss) income before income taxes (recovery) (569,038) 719,375

Income taxes (recovery)

Current (78,984) 79,826
Future (72,942) 478,287
(151,926) 558,113

Net (loss) income $ (417,112) $ 161,262
Retained earnings, beginning of period $ 816,659 $ 655,397
Net (loss) income (417,112) 161,262
Retained earnings, end of period $ 399,547 $ 816,659

Al192

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 3
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Accounts receivable 3,451,425 $ 2,922,264
Inventory 51,911 59,930
Income taxes recoverable 5,058 -
Prepaid expenses 731,695 761,524
4,240,089 3,743,718
Investment (Note 3) 30,000 36,979
Due from related parties (Note 4) 958,050 693,595
Property and equipment (Note 5) 4,346,442 4,335,266
9,574,581 $ 8,809,558
A193
See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 4
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness (Note 6) $ 316,390 $ 456,808
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 441,027 1,617,324
Deposits 5,000 30,188
Loan payable (Note 8) - 310,992
Income taxes payable - 78,984
Due to related parties (Note 4) 5,537,551 2,846,606
Redeemable special share liability (Note 9) 182,000 182,000
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 1,217,090 477,745
Current portion of capital lease obligation (Note 11) 69,061 79,208
7,768,119 6,079,855
Long-term debt (Note 10) 653,815 1,018,056
Capital lease obligation (Note 11) - 68,946
Future income taxes (Note 12) 753,000 825,942

9,174,934 7,992,799

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Issued

100 Common shares 100 100
Retained earnings (net of $181,800 relating to ROMRS classified
as a financial liability (2022 - $181,800)) 399,547 816,659

399,647 816,759

$ 9,574,581 $§ 8,809,558

Guarantees (Note 13)

On behalf of the Board

Director

Al194

See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 5
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
Period ended August 31 2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)
Increase (decrease) in cash
Operating
Net (loss) income (417,112) $ 161,262
Items not affecting cash
Amortization 742,432 377,245
Future income taxes (72,942) 478,287
Gain on sale of property and equipment (162,661) (34,900)
89,717 981,894
Change in non-cash working capital items
Marketable securities - 308
Accounts receivable (529,161) (865,987)
Inventory 8,019 68,852
Income taxes (84,042) 78,984
Prepaid expenses 29,829 (98,811)
Government assistance receivable - 23,326
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,176,297) (113,478)
Deposits (25,188) 30,188
(1,687,123) 105,276
Financing
(Repayment of) proceeds on bank indebtedness, net (140,418) 411,381
Repayment of long-term debt (750,490) (303,146)
Proceeds of long-term debt 1,125,594 143,057
Repayment of capital lease obligation (79,093) (44,686)
Proceeds on advances from related parties 2,690,945 107,961
Proceeds on loan payable - 556,129
Repayment of loan payable (310,992) (245,137)
2,535,546 625,559
Investing
Payment of advances to related parties (264,455) (539,835)
Purchase of property and equipment (1,036,267) (248,400)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 452,299 57,400
(848,423) (730,835)
Increase in cash - -
Cash
Beginning of period - -
End of period - -
A195
See accompanying notes and schedule to the financial statements. 6
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

1. Nature of operations

Heritage Truck Lines Inc., (the "Company"), was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act
of Ontario on June 7, 1994. The Company is primarily engaged in the provision of freight
transportation services.

2. Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles applicable to a going
concern. The going concern basis assumes that the Company will continue its operations for the
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments
in the normal course of business.

As at August 31, 2023, the Company had current liabilities that exceeded current assets by
$3,528,030 (2022 - $2,336,137) and a net loss of $417,112 (2022 - net income $161,262). The
Company has guaranteed certain loans payable by related parties as described in Note 13. There
is material uncertainty regarding the ability of the related parties to continue as a going concern.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account
all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

Initiatives implemented by management of the Company and the related parties to mitigate the
factors giving rise to the going concern uncertainty include the sale of trailers that are not required
for operations, consolidation of operations, reduction in the use of owner/operators, identification
and elimination of unprofitable routes, increased focus on logistics operations and an investment in
accounting systems.

As the outcome of management’s actions is dependent on future events, there is no certainty that
management will be able to successfully resolve these issues. Should the Company and its related
parties be unable to continue as a going concern, the Company may be unable to realize the
carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due. The carrying amounts of
the assets, liabilities and expenses presented in these financial statements and the balance sheet
classifications have not been adjusted as would be required if the going concern assumption was
not appropriate. Such adjustments could be material.
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation

The Company has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for private enterprises (“ASPE”). The preparation of these financial statements in
conformity with ASPE requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
current period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to income as
appropriate in the year they become known.

On January 31, 2022, Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. and Windrush Holdings Inc (Note 4) purchased
100% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. The fiscal year end of the Company
was changed to August 31 resulting in a 7 month period ended August 31, 2022.

Revenue recognition

Revenue consists of freight revenue. Freight revenue is recognized when the hauled goods are
delivered. This point in time coincides with when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the
price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Furthermore, it is upon
delivery that the Company has completed all significant acts and retains no continuing involvement
in the services provided.

Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks, including bank overdrafts with balances that
fluctuate frequently from being positive to overdrawn. Consistent bank borrowings are considered to
be financing activities.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments in arm's length transactions

The Company considers any contract creating a financial asset, liability or equity instrument as a
financial instrument, except in certain limited circumstances. The Company accounts for the
following as financial instruments:

accounts receivable
bank indebtedness
accounts payable
loan payable
long-term debt

A financial asset or liability is recognized when the Company becomes party to contractual
provisions of the instrument.

The Company initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities from arm's length
transactions at fair value.

The Company subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized

cost.
Al197
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The Company removes financial liabilities, or a portion of, when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there are any indications that
financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost may be impaired. When there is any such
indication of impairment, the Company determines whether a significant adverse change has
occurred during the period in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows from that financial
asset. Where this is the case, the carrying amount of the assets are reduced to the highest of the
expected value that is actually recoverable from the assets either by holding the assets, by their
sale or by exercising the right to any collateral, net of disposal cost. The carrying amounts of the
assets are reduced directly or through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
reduction is recognized as an impairment loss in net income.

Retractable or mandatorily redeemable shares issued in a tax planning arrangement

The Company elected to present the Class A special shares, which were issued in a tax planning
arrangement, as a financial liability measured at the redemption amount. Such shares cannot
subsequently be presented as equity.

Financial instruments in related party transactions

Financial assets and financial liabilities in related party transactions are initially measured at cost,
with the exception of certain instruments which are initially measured at fair value. The Company
does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities in related party transactions which are
initially measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising on initial measurement differences are generally recognized in net income
when the transaction is in the normal course of operations, and in equity when the transaction is not
in the normal course of operations, subject to certain exceptions.

Financial assets and financial liabilities recognized in related party transactions are subsequently
measured based on how the Company initially measured the instrument. Financial instruments
initially measured at cost are subsequently measured at cost, less any impairment for financial
assets. Financial instruments initially measured at fair value, of which the Company has none,
would be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value based on certain conditions.
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Assets and obligations under capital lease

Capital leases are leases where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of
the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to entities in the Company.

A capital lease is accounted for as an asset as well as an obligation. Accordingly, capital leases are
recognized by recording an asset and a liability at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, excluding the portion thereof relating to executor costs. However, the maximum value
recorded for the asset and obligation will not exceed the leased asset’s fair value.

The capitalized value of a depreciable asset is amortized over the lease term. However, if the
ownership is to eventually pass to the Company, or a bargain purchase option is allowed, the
amortization period will be the economic useful life of the asset.

An obligation under a capital lease is similar to a loan. Lease payments are allocated to a reduction
of the obligation, interest expense and any related executor costs. The interest expense is
calculated using the discount rate used in computing the present value of the minimum lease
payments applied to the remaining balance of the obligation.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease where substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
the property are not transferred to the Company.

Lease rentals under operating leases are included in the determination of net income over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method.

Investment

The Company's long-term investment, consisting of non-voting preference shares of Polaris
Segregated Portfolio, is recorded at cost. Polaris Segregated Portfolio provides insurance coverage
for the Company.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided on a declining and straight line basis over the

estimated useful life of the asset.

The following rates applied on a method as described below will apply the cost over the estimated
useful lives of property and equipment:

A199
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Trailers 14 years Straight-line, varying

residual value
Trucks 6 years Straight-line, varying

residual value
Equipment 20% Declining balance
Computer equipment 30% Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 5 years Straight-line
Satellites 7 years Straight-line

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company tests long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows resulting from its
use and eventual disposition. The impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

Foreign currency transactions

All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses arising from a foreign currency
transaction are translated using the exchange rate in effect on the date the transaction occurred.
Translation gains and losses are included in income.

Income taxes

The Company has elected to apply the future income taxes method of accounting. Future tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Enacted or substantively enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when these differences
reverse are used to calculate future income taxes. To the extent that the Company does not
consider it to be more likely than not that a future tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation
allowance against the excess.

The Company classifies future income tax assets and future income tax liabilities as non-current
regardless of the date that the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

A200
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Use of estimates

Management reviews the carrying amounts of items in the financial statements at each balance
sheet date to assess the need for revision or any possibility of impairment. Many items in the
preparation of these financial statements require management's best estimate. Management
determines these estimates based on assumptions that reflect the most probable set of economic
conditions and planned courses of action.

These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to net income as appropriate
in the year they become known.

Iltems subject to significant management estimates include allowance for doubtful accounts,
estimates related to the amortization of capital assets (such as useful life and salvage values), the
discount rates used to compute capital lease obligations, future income taxes, accruals and the
amount of any liabilities that may result from guarantees.

Pension plan

The Company offers a defined contribution pension plan to employees. An expense is recorded in
the period when the Company is obligated to make contributions for services rendered by the
employee. Any unpaid contributions are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
balance sheet.

Guarantees

The Company enters into guarantees on behalf of related parties. Contracts under which the
Company may be required to make payments if a related party does not follow the terms and
conditions of a contract and contracts under which the Company provides indirect guarantees of
another party’s indebtedness, are considered guarantees to be disclosed, and in some instances
recognized in the financial statements. The Company records liabilities for guarantees when there is
an obligation to make a payment on behalf of a related party and the payment is likely.

4. Related party balances and transactions

Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. and Windrush Holdings Inc. are shareholders of the Company. The
Company is related through common control to JBT Transport Inc., Heritage Warehousing &
Distribution Inc., Drumbo Transport Ltd., Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Southern
Logistics, Inc., Melair Management Inc. and Waydom Management Inc.

Due from related parties

2023 2022
Due from Heritage Southern Logistics, Inc. $ 351,479 $ 99,638
Due from Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. 259,922 291,630
Due from Drumbo Transport Limited 35,036 302,327
Due from Melair Management Inc. 144,373 -
Due from Waydom Management Inc. 167,240 -

$ 958,050 $ 693,595
A201
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
4. Related party balances and transactions (continued)
Due to related parties
2023 2022

Due to Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. $ 16,278 $ 34,390
Due to JBT Transport Inc. 5,084,159 2,741,166
Due to Melair Management Inc. - 55,050
Due to Waydom Management Inc. - 16,000
Due to Aiden-Ella Holdings Inc. 240,413 -
Due to Windrush Holdings Inc. 196,701 -

$ 5,537,551 $ 2,846,606

The balances due to and due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing with no

specific terms of repayment.

During the period the Company participated in the following transactions with related parties:

(i) Rentwas paid to Melair Management Inc. totalling $142,200 ($126,000 in 2022);

(i) Rent was paid to Waydom Management Inc. totalling $136,000 ($96,000 in 2022);

(i) Revenue was received from JBT Transport Inc. totalling nil ($150,107 in 2022);

(iv) Revenue was received from Drumbo Transport Ltd. totalling nil ($273,550 in 2022);

(v) Revenue was received from Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. totalling nil ($32,801 in 2022);
(vi) Revenue was received from Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. totalling nil ($129,628 in

2022);

(vii) Direct costs were paid to JBT Transport Inc. totalling nil ($1,330,603 in 2022); and

(viii) Freight management fees was paid to JBT Transport Inc. totalling $2,150,000 (nil in 2022).

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount agreed upon by the related parties.

5. Property and equipment 2023 2022
Accumulated Net Book Net Book

Cost Amortization Value Value
Trailers $ 479,150 $ 2,269,631 $ 2,526,519 $ 2,398,296
Trucks 4,326,778 2,775,269 1,551,509 1,618,935
Equipment 320,844 278,774 42,070 52,588
Computer equipment 250,495 233,115 17,380 24,828
Leasehold improvements 89,571 53,180 36,391 7,830
Satellites - - - 5,683
Trucks under capital lease 377,198 204,625 172,573 227,106
$ 10,161,036 $ 5814594 $ 4,346,442 $ 4,335,266

Amortization of capital leases totalled $54,533 ($26,951 in 2022).
A202
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

6. Bank indebtedness

The Company shares credit facilities with JBT Transport Inc., Drumbo Transport Limited, Heritage
Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc., Waydom Management Inc. and
Melair Management Inc. (collectively the "Companies") (Note 4), including a demand operating loan
to a maximum of $7,500,000 ($5,000,000 as at August 31, 2022). The combined operating loan
utilized as at August 31, 2023 was $6,740,000 and bears interest at a fluctuating rate of (7.7% as at
August 31, 2023) of the bank's prime lending rate plus 0.5%.

As security, the Company has provided the following:

(i) General security agreements from the Companies representing a first charge on all present
and after acquired personal property;

(i) Unlimited guarantees of advances executed by the Companies;

(iii) Assignment of fire insurance from the Companies;

(iv) Continuing collateral mortgage, representing a first charge, in the principal amount of
$12,200,000 beneficially owned by and registered in the name of Melair Management Inc. on
real property;

(v) Postponement and assignment of creditor's claim executed by the Company's common
shareholders; and

(vi) Continuing collateral mortgage, representing a first charge, in the principal amount of
$7,800,000 beneficially owned by and registered in the name of Waydom Management Inc. on
real property.

Financial covenants are monitored and communicated, as required by the terms of the credit
agreement, by management to ensure compliance with the agreement. The covenants are
calculated on a combined basis for the Company, JBT Transport Inc., Drumbo Transport Limited,
Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc., Waydom Management
Inc. and Melair Management Inc. (Note 4) to be measured as at the end of each fiscal year.

At August 31, 2023, the Company was in violation of its lending covenant with the Toronto-
Dominion Bank, and as such, the Toronto-Dominion Bank can demand payment of the loans.

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Included within accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts owing to various government
agencies totalling $66,695 ($76,682 as at August 31, 2022).

8. Loan payable

CAFO Inc. continuous premium installment contract loan payable, bearing interest at 3.5% per
annum with monthly blended payments of $51,446. The loan was repaid in full during the year
ended August 31, 2023.

A203
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
9. Redeemable special share liability 2023 2022
182,000 Class A Special shares, non-voting $ 182,000 $ 182,000
The redeemable and retractable special shares do not have any set terms of repayment.
10. Long-term debt 2023 2022

TD Equipment Finance Canada loan (denominated in US dollars),

repayable in monthly blended payments totalling $7,627, including

interest at 2.97%, maturing April 2026, secured by the asset

financed (net book value - $317,049) and as described in Note 6  $ 233,834 $ 307,730

TD Equipment Finance Canada loans; repayable in monthly

blended payments totalling $20,483, including interest rates

ranging from 3.03% to 3.74%, maturing on dates between April

2026 and August 2027, secured by the assets financed (net book

value - $807,677), and as described in Note 6 703,638 1,045,015

Volvo Financial Services loans; repayable in monthly blended

payments totalling $11,699 (2022 - $3,888), including interest rates

ranging from 6.45% to 6.49%, maturing on dates between August

2025 and October 2026, secured by the assets financed (net book

value - $391,187) 354,984 143,056

BMO Transportation Finance loan, repayable in monthly blended

payments totalling $1,646, including interest at 7.49%, maturing

December 2026, secured by the asset financed (net book value -

$64,050) 58,114 -

Meridian OneCap Credit Corp loan, repayable in monthly blended

payments totalling $4,913, including interest at 7.49%, maturing

December 2026, secured by the assets financed (net book value -

$192,149) 173,445 -

RCap Leasing loan, repayable in monthly blended payments
totalling $4,913, including interest at 7.49%, maturing December
2026, secured by the assets financed (net book value - $192,149) 173,445 -

Hyundai Translead Trailer Finance loan, repayable in monthly

blended payments totalling $4,913, including interest at 7.49%,

maturing December 2026, secured by the assets financed (net

book value - $192,149) 173,445 -

1,870,905 1,495,801

Less current portion 1,217,090 477,745
Due beyond one year $ 653,815 $ 1,018,056
A204
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023
10. Long-term debt (continued)
Estimated principal repayments are as follows:

2024 $ 1,217,090

2025 299,990

2026 273,793

2027 80,032

$ 1,870,905

11. Capital lease obligation 2023 2022
Volvo Financial Services capital lease, repayable in monthly
blended payments of $7,034 including interest at 4.632%, maturing
June 2024, secured by the assets financed (net book value -
$172,573) $ 69,061 $ 148,154
Less current portion 69,061 79,208
Due beyond one year $ - $ 68,946

12. Future income taxes

The amount of future income taxes attributable to each type of temporary difference, unused tax
losses and unused income tax reductions is as follows:

2023 2022
Excess of capital cost allowance over amortization $ 879,767 $ 865,203
Obligations under capital lease (18,301) (39,261)
Non-capital loss carry forward (108,466) -

$ 753,000 $ 825,942

13. Guarantees

The Company, together with others, has guaranteed certain loans payable by JBT Transport Inc.,
Drumbo Transport Limited, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distribution
Inc., Waydom Management Inc. and Melair Management Inc. (Note 4). The combined balance of
the subject loans outstanding at August 31, 2023 was $21,197,610 (2022 - $19,020,767). It is not
possible at this time to determine the amount of any liability that may result from these guarantees.
As such, no liability is recognized on the Company's balance sheet in relation to these guarantees.

A205
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

14. Pension plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution pension plan. Contributions made to the plan during
the period were $22,772 (2022 - $17,900).

15. Financial instruments

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the Company’s risk exposures and concentrations at August 31, 2023.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or expected future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Company is exposed to currency risk, interest rate
risk and commodity risk.

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Approximately 18% of the Company’s
sales are in foreign currency. Consequently, some assets are exposed to foreign exchange
fluctuations. As at August 31, 2023, cash and accounts receivable of $181,035 and $674,087
(2022 - $82,722 and $263,821) respectively are denominated in US dollars and converted into
Canadian dollars. In addition, the Company has a loan of $173,210 (2022 - $234,711) at the
end of the period, which is dominated in US dollars and converted to Canadian dollars. There
was no significant change in exposure from the prior year.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest
rate risk on its fixed and floating interest rate financial instruments. Given the current
composition of long-term debt, fixed-rate instruments subject the Company to a fair value risk
while the floating-rate instruments subject it to a cash flow risk. There was no significant
change in exposure from the prior year.

(iii) Commodity risk

Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic
value due to commodity price fluctuations. The Company is exposed to price risk from
fluctuations in the price for fuel. To mitigate this risk, the Company has a fuel surcharge
program in place with its customers. The Company manages consumption to ensure the fleet
operates as effectively as possible. There was no significant change in exposure from the prior
year.

A206
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
August 31, 2023

15. Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company’s main credit risks relate to its accounts
receivable and amounts due from related parties. The entity provides credit to its clients in the
normal course of its operations. There was no significant change in exposure from the prior year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its
bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, capital lease obligations and long-term
debt. There was no significant change in exposure from the prior year.

16. Subsequent events

Subsequent to year end, the Company sold property and equipment totalling $1,120,700.
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Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
Schedule to the Financial Statements
Period ended August 31
Schedule of expenses Schedule 1
2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)
Office salaries $ 1,138,670 $ 680,770
Employee benefits 304,118 317,035
Rent 254,628 258,250
Office 158,244 28,915
Interest on long-term debt 102,000 41,959
Travel 73,329 1,243
Computer expense 55,058 39,351
Property repairs and maintenance 54,488 69,182
Utilities 51,894 14,031
Professional fees 44,531 13,335
Interest and bank charges 34,937 16,890
Telephone and internet 30,078 44,267
Advertising and promotion 14,958 11,923
Vehicle 8,870 10,791
Management salaries and bonuses - 20,300
Professional development - 3,929
Management fees - 3,784
Bad debts (recovered) (7,079) 48,176

$ 2,318,724 $ 1,624,131

A208
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Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of
Drumbo Transport Limited

On the basis of information provided by Management, we have compiled the balance sheet of
Drumbo Transport Limited as at August 31, 2023, the statement of loss and deficit for the year then
ended, and Note 1, which describes the basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the
compiled financial information ("financial information").

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of
accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS)
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of
assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

g}wzg—m L7

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
February 23, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants
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Drumbo Transport Limited
Statements of Loss and Deficit
Period ended August 31 2023 2022

(12 months) (7 months)

Revenue

Cost of sales (Schedule 1)
Gross (loss) profit

Expenses

Interest and bank charges

Amortization

Professional fees

Office (recovery)

Telephone

Repairs and maintenance

Advertising and promotion

Bad debts (recovered)

Salaries and related benefits (recovered)
Rent (recovered)

Loss before other income (expense) and future income taxes

Other income (expense)

Interest
Loss on foreign exchange
Gain on disposal of property and equipment

Loss before future income taxes

Future income taxes

Net loss

$ 500445 $ 1,441,523

1,005,807 1,417,475

(505,362) 24,048
58,574 30,867
11,546 6,420
11,304 9,322
4,924 (7,414)
4,309 3,879
765 11,317

- 1,332
(384) 18,365
(8,752) 68,433
(11,400) 13,750
70,886 156,271
(576,248) (132,223)
- (267)
(15,645) (2,437)

6,000 -

(9,645) (2,704)
(585,893) (134,927)
- 22,460

$ (585,893) $ (157,387)

(Deficit) retained earnings, beginning of period
Net loss

Deficit, end of period

$ (46,362) $ 111,025

(585,893) (157,387)

$ (632,255) $ (46,362)

A213
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Drumbo Transport Limited
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Accounts receivable $ 53,446 327,066
Prepaid expenses 10,050 20,302
63,496 347,368
Due from related parties 259,884 213,479
Property and equipment 464,474 859,162
Goodwill 186,686 186,686
$ 974,540 1,606,695
Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness $ 69,379 63,768
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 56,928 137,675
Due to related parties 1,315,028 1,054,394
Current portion of long-term debt 78,743 142,508
Current portion of capital lease obligations 86,593 90,294
1,606,671 1,488,639
Long-term debt - 78,743
Capital lease obligations - 85,551
1,606,671 1,652,933
Shareholders’ deficiency
Share capital
Issued
1,284 Class A common shares 124 124
Deficit (632,255) (46,362)
(632,131) (46,238)
$ 974,540 $ 1,606,695
On behalf of the Board
Director
A214
See accompanying note and schedule to the financial information. 3
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Drumbo Transport Limited

Note to the Compiled Financial Information
August 31, 2023

1. Basis of accounting

The preparation of the balance sheet of Drumbo Transport Limited as at August 31, 2023 and the
statement of loss and deficit for the year then ended is on the accrual basis of accounting, including
the following:

(a) prepaid expenses are recorded based on the terms of the invoice
(b) property and equipment are recorded at historical cost and are amortized over their useful lives
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Drumbo Transport Limited

Schedule to the Financial Information
Period ended August 31 2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)

Schedule 1 - Cost of sales

Wages and employee benefits $ 359,959 $ 373,468
Fuel 291,236 357,491
Amortization 146,009 69,428
Sub-contracts 121,912 365,542
Repairs and maintenance 51,699 113,399
Licences and permits 23,992 40,745
Insurance 11,000 92,038
Road expense - 5,364

$ 1,005,807 $ 1,417,475
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Compiled Financial Information
Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.

August 31, 2023

A218



Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.

Contents

Compilation Engagement Report
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
Balance Sheet

Note to the Compiled Financial Information

215
A219

Page

A219



216
Q Grant Thornton A220

Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 800

171 Queens Avenue
London, ON

N6A 5J7

T+1519672 3154
F +1 519 672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of
Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.

On the basis of information provided by Management, we have compiled the balance sheet of
Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. as at August 31, 2023, the statement of income and retained
earnings for the year then ended, and Note 1, which describes the basis of accounting applied in the
preparation of the compiled financial information ("financial information").

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of
accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS)
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of
assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

g}wzg—m L7

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
February 26, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants
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Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
Period ended August 31 2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)
Revenue $ 766,911 $ 1,612,420
Cost of sales 669,524 1,358,171
Gross profit 97,387 254,249
Expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits 50,848 96,430
Professional fees 13,844 3,075
Rent 6,000 21,000
Interest and bank charges 5,082 4,280
Amortization 5,032 2,924
Office - 926
Subcontract - 41,000
Computer expense - 6,562
Insurance - 3,905
Bad debts (recovered) (2,106) 11,077
78,700 191,179
Income before other income and income taxes 18,687 63,070
Other income
Gain on foreign exchange 565 477
Income before income taxes 19,252 63,547
Income taxes 2,350 3,417
Net income $ 16,902 $ 60,130
Deficit, beginning of period $ (3,270) $ (63,400)
Net income 16,902 60,130
Retained earnings (deficit), end of period $ 13,632 $ (3,270)
A221
See accompanying note to the financial information. 2
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Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Cash 37,928 $ 42,331
Accounts receivable 127,506 291,411
Income taxes recoverable 1,150 -
Due from related parties 16,278 88,896
182,862 422,638
Property and equipment
Leasehold improvements 25,160 25,160
Less accumulated amortization (15,952) (10,920)
9,208 14,240
192,070 $ 436,878
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14150 $ 301,043
Income taxes payable - 3,417
Due to related parties 164,278 135,678
178,428 440,138
Shareholders' equity (deficiency)
Share capital
Issued
100 voting Common shares 10 10
Retained earnings (deficit) 13,632 (3,270)
13,642 (3,260)
192,070 $ 436,878
On behalf of the Board
Director
A222
See accompanying note to the financial information. 3
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Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.

Note to the Compiled Financial Information
August 31, 2023

1. Basis of accounting

The preparation of the balance sheet of Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. as at August 31, 2023 and
the statement of income and retained earnings for the year then ended is on the accrual basis of
accounting, including the following:

(a) property and equipment are recorded at historical cost and are amortized on the same basis
as for income tax
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Compiled Financial Information
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.

August 31, 2023
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Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 800

171 Queens Avenue
London, ON

N6A 5J7

T+1519672 3154
F +1 519 672 7983
www.GrantThornton.ca

Compilation Engagement Report

To the Management of
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.

On the basis of information provided by Management, we have compiled the balance sheet of
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. as at August 31, 2023, the statement of income and
retained earnings for the year then ended, and Note 1, which describes the basis of accounting
applied in the preparation of the compiled financial information ("financial information").

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of
accounting.

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS)
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information.

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of
assurance on the financial information.

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes.

g}wzg—m L7

London, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants
February 29, 2024 Licensed Public Accountants
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Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
Period ended August 31 2023 2022
(12 months) (7 months)

Revenue
Revenue $ 9,799,838 $ 3,224,451

Expenses
Rent - warehouse 4,375,262 1,146,917
Salaries, wages and benefits 2,801,609 908,945
Office and miscellaneous 627,047 144,401
Repairs and maintenance 238,271 81,175
Equipment rental 226,843 33,544
Amortization 215,349 97,204
Utilities 163,268 16,961
Insurance 90,611 14,665
Professional fees 49,172 8,469
Interest and bank charges 47,457 8,515
Advertising and promotion 1,343 3,290
Travel and automotive 1,333 -
Rent - 6,234
Bad debts (recovered) (23) 610

8,837,542 2,470,930
Income before other income and income taxes (recovery) 962,296 753,521

Other income

Gain on disposal of property and equipment 18,756 40,931
Interest income 200 -
Gain on foreign exchange 12,454 21,687
31,410 62,618
Income before income taxes (recovery) 993,706 816,139
Income taxes (recovery) (74,757) 122,195
Net income $ 1,068,463 $ 693,944
Retained earnings (deficit), beginning of period $ 581,843 $ (112,101)
Net income 1,068,463 693,944
Retained earnings, end of period $ 1,650,306 $ 581,843
A228

See accompanying note to the financial information. 2
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A229
Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Assets
Current
Cash $ 221,528 $ 391
Accounts receivable 1,294,437 1,180,885
Prepaid expenses and deposits 881,285 602,755
Income taxes recoverable 90,245 -
Due from JBT Transport Inc.; non-interest bearing, unsecured
and without specified terms of repayment - 50,704
Due from Drumbo Transport Ltd.; non-interest bearing,
unsecured and without specified terms of repayment - 55,706
Due from Heritage Southern Transportation Inc.; non-interest
bearing, unsecured and without specified terms of repayment 27,062 -
2,514,557 1,890,441
Property and equipment
Equipment 1,202,310 496,577
Vehicles 31,400 67,400
Furniture and fixtures 263,544 -
Computer equipment 400,386 230,374
Leasehold improvements 781,761 158,300
Signs 25,654 -
2,705,055 952,651
Less accumulated amortization 768,076 584,482
1,936,979 368,169
$ 4,451,536 $ 2,258,610
A229
See accompanying note to the financial information. 3
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Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.
Balance Sheet
August 31 2023 2022
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 507,339 $ 230,569
Deposits - 78,000
Operating loan - 35,000
Income taxes payable - 65,298
Due to JBT Transport Inc.; non-interest bearing, unsecred and
without specified terms of repayment 480,969 -
Due to Heritage Truck Lines Inc.; non-interest bearing,
unsecured and without specified terms of repayment 259,922 305,451
Due to Drumbo Transport Inc.; non-interst bearing, unsecured
and without specified terms of repayment 100,000 -
Current portion of long-term debt 205,879 10,283
Current portion of capital lease obligation 10 7,534
1,554,119 732,135
Long-term debt 302,479 -
1,856,598 732,135
Shareholders’ equity
Common shares
Issued
100 Class A Common shares 864,375 864,375
301,000 Class A Special shares 80,257 80,257
944,632 944,632
Retained earnings 1,650,306 581,843
2,594,938 1,526,475
$ 4,451,536 $ 2,258,610
On behalf of the Board
Director
A230
See accompanying note to the financial information. 4
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Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.

Note to the Compiled Financial Information
August 31, 2023

1. Basis of accounting

The preparation of the balance sheet of Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. as at August 31,
2023 and the statement of income and retained earnings for the year then ended is on the accrual
basis of accounting.
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “I” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025

qw

/
A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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JBT Group (Combined Balance Sheet)
December 31, 2024 Actual reporting

Actual
Balance Sheet Dec-24
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 56,810
Accounts Receivable 5,557,226
Inventory 198,261
Prepaid Expenses 670,439
Intercompany Receivables 2,193,014
Other Current Assets 836,897
Non-current Assets -
Fixed Assets 21,296,612
Other Assets 63,764
Fixed Assets (Adjustment) -
TOTAL ASSETS | 30,873,022.70
LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 3,874,696
Other/Accrued Payables 494,228
Current Portion of Capital Leases 63,133
Current Portion of Long-Term Liabilities 9,777,269
Current Liabilities (Adjustment) -
Line of Credit 4,929,288
Non-current Liabilities -
Capital leases 160,420
Long Term Debt 3,776,771
Long Term Debt (Adjustment) 4,732,000
Future Income Taxes 1,971,100
Intercompany Debt 5,970,243
Total Liabilities 35,749,146
Equity
Share Capital 945,374
Retained Earnings (5,696,983)
Net Income (124,514)
Total Equity (4,876,123)
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 30,873,023
Balance (s/b zero) (0)
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “J” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025
QW\W
[

v
A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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E Commercial Banking

South Central Ontario Commercial Banking Centre
1165 Franklin Boulevard, Unit H
Cambridge, Ontario

N3E OE1
Telephone No.: (519) 579-2216
Fax No.: (519) 621-4857

May 18, 2023

JBT TRANSPORT INC.
105 Guthrie Street,
Ayr, Ontario

NOB 1E0

Attention Mr. Denis Medeiros, Mr. Randy Bowman, Mrs. Kelly Gates and Mr. Kyle Medeiros:

Dear Denis, Randy, Kelly and Kyle,

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

Internal

We are pleased to offer the Borrower the following credit facilities (the "Facilities"), subject to the following terms
and conditions.

BORROWER

JBT TRANSPORT INC. (the "Borrower" A)
WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. (the "Borrower" B)
MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. (the "Borrower" C)
HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC. (the "Borrower" D)
DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED (the "Borrower" E)
HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. (the "Borrower" F)
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the "Borrower" G)

JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK
LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. and HERITAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. are collectively referred to herein as the 'Borrower".

LENDER

The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the "Bank"), through its Kitchener branch, in Kitchener, ON.
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CREDIT LIMIT

Borrower A, 10)
D, E, F and
G

Borrower A, 18)

B, C, D, and

G

Borrower B 20)

21)

22)

24)

25)

Borrower C 30)

31)
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Ensure outstanding advances under Facility 10, including the face amount of any

outstanding undrawn L/Cs and L/Gs will be at all times the lesser of:

a) CDN$7,500,000 [or its US$ Equivalent] and,
b) the TOTAL of:

i. 85% of Government / Investment Grade Accounts Receivable (Investment
Grade is rated BBB(S&P) or Baa3(Moody's) or better), net of any accounts
over 90 days, and;

ii. 80% of all other Accounts Receivable, net of any accounts over 90 days,
contras, related parties, and owner/operator payables > 31 days, Broker
payables, and statutory payables (wages payable, WSIB/worker's
compensation, CPP, El., etc), and;

iii. 100% of USD credit balances up to a maximum CAD equivalent of
$1,000,000.

CAD$2,719,688 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$81,489 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$331,931 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$258,970 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$560,899 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$4,443,039 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$933,245 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

CAD$7,747,203 as reduced pursuant to the section headed "Repayment and Reduction of
Amount of Credit Facility".

TYPE OF CREDIT AND BORROWING OPTIONS

10) Operating Loan available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")
- United States Base Rate Loans in USD$ ("USBR Loans")
- Letters of Credit in CAD$ or USD$ ("L/Cs")

Internal
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17)

18)

20)

21)

22)

24)

25)

30)

31)
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Demand Leasehold Loan available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Multiple Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

Committed Reducing Term Facility (Single Draw) available at the Borrower's option by way of:
- Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
- Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
- Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ("Prime Based Loans")

A237



Internal

234
A238

PURPOSE
10) To finance working capital requirement.
18) To finance renovations and leasehold improvements at 105 Guthrie and 425 Melair, Ayr, ON.
20) To refinance BDC loan over 5 years against 105 Guthrie St, Ayr, ON.
21) To refinance BDC loan over 25 years against 105 Guthrie St, Ayr, ON.
22) To finance 37 acres of Roseville land purchase, supported by 105 Guthrie St, Ayr, ON.
24) To assume the existing Commercial Mortgage on 105 Guthrie St from Drumbo Transport Limited.
25) To provide mortgage financing for the purchase of 105 Guthrie St, Ayr, ON.
30) To assume the existing Commercial Mortgage on 425 Melair Dr, Ayr ON from 1969285 Ontario Inc.
31) To provide mortgage financing for the purchase 425 Melair Dr, Ayr ON.
TENOR
10) Uncommitted.
18) Uncommitted until drawn.
20, 21, 22,
24, 25, 30,
31) Committed.
CONTRACTUAL
TERM
10) No term.
18) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.

Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.
20) Fixed Rate option selected for 4 years through amortization date of January 25, 2025.
21) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.

Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.

- Fixed Rate selected for 5 years to January 25, 2026 contractual renewal.

22) Fixed Rate option selected for 4 years through amortization date of March 25, 2025.
24) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.

Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.
25) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.

Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.

- Fixed Rate selected for 3 years to February 15, 2025 contractual renewal.

30) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.

Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.
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- Fixed Rate selected for 5 years to April 25, 2027 contractual renewal.

31) Floating Rate: Up to 1 year and reviewed annually.
Fixed Rate: Up to 5 years based on rate term selected, but not to exceed amortization date.
- Fixed Rate selected for 3 years to February 15, 2025 contractual renewal.

RATE TERM

(FIXED RATE

TERM LOAN)

20) Fixed rate: 6 month, 12-48 months but never to exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date.
Floating rate: No term.

18, 21, 22,

24, 25, 30,

31) Fixed rate: 6 month, 12-60 months but never to exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date.
Floating rate: No term .

AMORTIZATION

18) Up to 60 months from the date of drawdown.

20) 4 years to January 25, 2025.

21) 25 years to January 25, 2046.

22) 25 years to March 25, 2046.

24) 15 years to April 25, 2032.

25) 25 years to April 15, 2047.

30) 15 years to April 25, 2032.

31) 25 years to February 15, 2047.

INTEREST RATES AND FEES

Advances shall bear interest and fees as follows:

10) Operating Loan:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 0.50% per annum
- USBR Loans: USBR + 0.50% per annum
- L/Cs & L/Gs: As advised by the Bank at the time of issuance of the L/C

18) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

20) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.
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- Fixed Rate of 2.366% selected through January 25, 2025.
- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

21) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Fixed Rate of 2.719% selected through January 25, 2026.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

22) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Fixed Rate of 2.19% selected through March 25, 2025.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

24) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

25) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Fixed Rate of 3.79% selected through February 15, 2025.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

30) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

- Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
that Fixed Rate Term Loan.

- Fixed Rate of 5.219% selected through April 25, 2027.

- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

31) Committed Reducing Term Facility:

Fixed Rate Term Loans: as determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate Term
selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable to
" that Fixed Rate Term Loan.
- Fixed Rate of 3.79% selected through February 15, 2025.

A240
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- Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 1.00% per annum

For all Facilities, interest payments will be made in accordance with Schedule "A" attached hereto unless
otherwise stated in this Letter or in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable for a particular drawdown.
Information on interest rate and fee definitions, interest rate calculations and payment is set out in the Schedule
"A" attached hereto.

Interest on Fixed Rate Term Loans under Facility 18 is compounded and payable monthly in arrears.

Interest on Fixed Rate Term Loans under Facilities 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 30 and 31 is compounded semi-annually
and payable monthly in arrears.

ADMINISTRATION
FEE

CAD$250 per month. (for Operating Loan)

ANNUAL REVIEW FEE

CAD$8,500 per annum (increase from $7,500).
WORK FEE
CAD$1,000 (one-time).

EXCESS MONITORING FEE

The Borrower shall pay, unless waived by the Bank in the Bank’s sole discretion, an Excess Monitoring Fee of
$350.00, payable in the currency of the Facility, each time that the Credit Limit of a Facility is exceeded. Any
extension of credit above the Credit Limit will be at the Bank’s sole and absolute discretion.

BORROWING BASE DEFAULT FEE

The Borrower shall pay, unless waived by the Bank in the Bank'’s sole discretion, a Borrowing Base Default Fee of
$350.00 payable in the currency of the Facility, each time a default of the Borrowing Base established for the
Facility is not rectified in the reporting period that immediately follows. Any tolerance of a Borrowing Base default
will be at the Bank's sole and absolute discretion.

LATE REPORTING FEE

The Borrower shall pay, unless waived by the Bank in the Bank’s sole discretion, a Late Reporting Fee of $350.00
per occurrence, and monthly thereafter until reporting is provided to the Bank, each time financial reporting is not
provided within the timelines established in the Positive Covenants and Reporting Covenants.

DISCHARGE FEE

The Borrower shall pay, unless waived by the Bank in the Bank’s sole discretion, a Discharge Fee of $250.00 per
collateral charge to prepare the documents needed to register the discharge of any collateral charge under the
Bank Security, in addition to the applicable government fee(s) for registering each discharge.
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DRAWDOWN
10) Available on a revolving basis.
18) Multiple draws permitted (single draw per Borrower) subject to satisfaction of Disbursement
Conditions. $2,719,688 limit results in $1,009,000 available for subsequent draws (non-
revolving — amounts repaid may not be redrawn).
20) $220,875 funded on February 1, 2021 over a 4 year amortization.
21) $396,853 funded on February 1, 2021 over a 25 year amortization.
22) $301,000 funded on March 4, 2021 over a 25 year amortization.
24) $1,000,000 was funded on April 25, 2017 over a 15 year amortization. The mortgage to be assumed

from Drumbo Transport limited with the existing terms and conditions. $746,860 was assumed by
Waydom Management Inc. on closing of the Heritage acquisition on February 1, 2022.

25) $5,108,000 funded on February 1, 2022 over a 25 year amortization.
30) $1,600,000 funded on Apr 25, 2017 over a 15 year amortization. The mortgage to be assumed from

1969285 Ontario Inc. with the existing terms and conditions. $1,185,000 was assumed by Melair
Management on closing of the Heritage acquisition on February 1, 2022.

31) $7,965,000 funded on February 1, 2022 over a 25 year amortization.

Each drawdown under 18, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 30, and 31 will be a "tranche" and each tranche will bear its own
interest rate and repayment terms as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice delivered by the Bank to the
Borrower in respect of that drawdown.

BUSINESS CREDIT
SERVICE

JBT Transport Inc.:

The Borrower will have access to the Operating Loan (Facility 10) via Loan Account Number 2764-9226098 (the
"Loan Account") up to the Credit Limit of the Operating Loan by withdrawing funds from the Borrower's Current
Account Number 2452-5226098 (the "Current Account"). The Borrower agrees that each advance from the Loan
Account will be in an amount equal to $5,000 (the "Transfer Amount") or a multiple thereof. If the Transfer Amount
is NIL, the Borrower agrees that an advance from the Borrower's Loan Account may be in an amount sufficient to
cover the debits made to the Current Account.

Heritage Truck Lines Inc.:

The Borrower will have access to the Operating Loan (Facility 10) via Loan Account Number 2764-9218567 (the
"Loan Account") up to the Credit Limit of the Operating Loan by withdrawing funds from the Borrower's Current
Account Number 2452-5218567 (the "Current Account"). The Borrower agrees that each advance from the Loan
Account will be in an amount equal to $5,000 (the "Transfer Amount") or a multiple thereof. If the Transfer Amount
is NIL, the Borrower agrees that an advance from the Borrower's Loan Account may be in an amount sufficient to
cover the debits made to the Current Account.

Drumbo Transport Limited:

The Borrower will have access to the Operating Loan (Facility 10) via Loan Account Number 2764-9218621 (the
"Loan Account") up to the Credit Limit of the Operating Loan by withdrawing funds from the Borrower's Current
Account Number 2452-5218621 (the "Current Account"). The Borrower agrees that each advance from the Loan
Account will be in an amount equal to $5,000 (the "Transfer Amount") or a multiple thereof. If the Transfer Amount
is NIL, the Borrower agrees that an advance from the Borrower's Loan Account may be in an amount sufficient to
cover the debits made to the Current Account.

Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc.:

The Borrower will have access to the Operating Loan (Facility 10) via Loan Account Number 2764-9218648 (the
"Loan Account") up to the Credit Limit of the Operating Loan by withdrawing funds from the Borrower's Current
Account Number 2452-5218648 (the "Current Account"). The Borrower agrees that each advance from the Loan
Account will be in an amount equal to $5,000 (the "Transfer Amount") or a multiple thereof. If the Transfer Amount
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is NIL, the Borrower agrees that an advance from the Borrower's Loan Account may be in an amount sufficient to
cover the debits made to the Current Account.

The Borrower agrees that:
a) all other overdraft privileges which have governed the Borrower's Current Account are hereby cancelled.

b) all outstanding overdraft amounts under any such other agreements are now included in indebtedness
under this Agreement.

The Bank may, but is not required to, automatically advance the Transfer Amount or a multiple thereof or any
other amount from the Loan Account to the Current Account in order to cover the debits made to the Current
Account if the amount in the Current Account is insufficient to cover the debits. The Bank may, but is not required
to, automatically and without notice apply the funds in the Current Account in amounts equal to the Transfer
Amount or any multiple thereof or any other amount to repay the outstanding amount in the Loan Account.

REPAYMENT AND REDUCTION OF AMOUNT OF CREDIT FACILITY

10) On demand. If the Bank demands repayment, the Borrower will pay to the Bank all amounts
outstanding under the Operating Loan, including all drawn and undrawn L/Gs and L/Cs. All costs to
the Bank and all loss suffered by the Bank in re-employing the amounts so repaid will be paid by the
Borrower.

18) Floating Rate: Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
Fixed Rate: Equal blended monthly payments of principal and interest.

20) Floating Rate: Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
Fixed Rate: Equal blended monthly payments of principal and interest.
- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $4,832.82 through January
25, 2025.

21) Floating Rate: Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
Fixed Rate: Equal blended monthly payments of principal and interest.
- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $1,823.07 through January
25, 2026.

22) Fixed Rate - Equal monthly blended payments of principal and interest.
Floating Rate - Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $1,343.01 through March 25,
2025.

24) Fixed Rate - Equal monthly blended payments of principal and interest.
Floating Rate - Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.

25) Fixed Rate - Equal monthly blended payments of principal and interest.
Floating Rate - Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $26,320.91 through February
15, 2025.

30) Floating Rate: Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
Fixed Rate: Equal blended monthly payments of principal and interest.
- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $12,353.41 through April 25,
2027.

31) Fixed Rate - Equal monthly blended payments of principal and interest.
Floating Rate - Equal monthly payments of principal, plus interest.
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- Fixed Rate selected — monthly Principal & Interest payments of $41,042.68 through February
15, 2025.

PREPAYMENT

Applicable to all Committed Term facilities (Facility #18, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 30 and 31):

Fixed Rate Option: The Borrower has the option to select the 10% Prepayment Option and accordingly, Fixed
Rate Term Loans under this Facility may be prepaid in accordance with Section 4a) and 4b) of Schedule A.
Floating Rate Option: Permitted without penalty.

SECURITY

The following security shall be provided, shall, unless otherwise indicated, support all present and future
indebtedness and liability of the Borrower and the grantor of the security to the Bank including without limitation
indebtedness and liability under guarantees, foreign exchange contracts, cash management products, and
derivative contracts, shall be registered in first position, and shall be on the Bank's standard form, supported by
resolutions and solicitor's opinion, all acceptable to the Bank:

aa) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from JBT TRANSPORT INC. representing a First charge on all
its present and after acquired personal property.

ab) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by JBT TRANSPORT INC. (the 'Guarantor') in support
of HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR
MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, and
HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

ac) Assignment of Fire Insurance from JBT TRANSPORT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC.,
DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., and HERITAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. in amounts deemed satisfactory to the Bank.

ba) General Security Agreement ('GSA") from WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal property.

bb) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. (the 'Guarantor') in
support of HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC., JBT TRANSPORT INC., MELAIR
MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, and
HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

bc) Continuing Collateral Mortgage, representing a First charge, in the principal amount of CAD
$12,200,000 beneficially owned by and registered in the name of MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC., on
real property located at 425 Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO.

bd) Assignment of Fire Insurance from MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. for real property located at 425
Melair Drive, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO in an amount satisfactory to the Bank.

ca) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. representing a First charge
on all its present and after acquired personal property.

cb) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. (the 'Guarantor') in
support of JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES
INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., and
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

cc) Continuing Collateral Mortgage, representing a First charge, in the principal amount of CAD
$7,800,000 beneficially owned by and registered in the name of WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., on
real property located at 105 Guthrie Street, Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EOQ.

cd) Assignment of Fire Insurance from WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. for real property located at 105
Guthrie St., Ayr, Ontario, NOB 1EO in amounts deemed satisfactory to the Bank.

da) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC. representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal property.

db) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC. (the 'Guarantor') in
support of JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT
INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., HERITAGE
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WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

ea) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal property.

eb) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED (the 'Guarantor")
in support of JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT
INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., and HERITAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

fa) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. representing a
First charge on all its present and after acquired personal property.

fb) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. (the
'Guarantor') in support of JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR
MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, and
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

ga) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
representing a First charge on all its present and after acquired personal property.

gb) Unlimited Guarantee of Advances executed by HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
(the 'Guarantor') in support of JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR
MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, and
HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

ha) Postponement and Assignment of Creditor's Claim executed by AIDEN-ELLA HOLDINGS INC. relating
to Heritage Truck Lines Inc. — On Hand.

hb) Postponement and Assignment of Creditor's Claim executed by WINDRUSH HOLDINGS INC. relating
to Heritage Truck Lines Inc. — On Hand.

hc) Postponement and Assignment of Creditor's Claim executed by AIDEN-ELLA HOLDINGS INC.
relating to JBT TRANSPORT INC.

hd) Postponement and Assignment of Creditor's Claim executed by WINDRUSH HOLDINGS INC.
relating to JBT TRANSPORT INC.

All persons and entities required to provide a guarantee shall be referred to in this Agreement individually as a
"Surety" and/or "Guarantor" and collectively as the "Guarantors";

All of the above security and guarantees shall be referred to collectively in this Agreement as "Bank Security".

DISBURSEMENT CONDITIONS

The obligation of the Bank to permit any drawdown hereunder is subject to the Standard Disbursement Conditions
contained in Schedule "A" and the following additional drawdown conditions:

Delivery to the Bank of the following, all of which must be satisfactory to the Bank:

Facility #18
1) Executed Agreement to be on hand prior to funding.

2) Invoices to be on hand. Financing offered up to 100% of invoice cost, net of HST.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

All representations and warranties shall be deemed to be continually repeated so long as any amounts remain
outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment under this Agreement remains in
effect. The Borrower makes the Standard Representations and Warranties set out in Schedule "A".

POSITIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment
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under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will and will ensure that its subsidiaries and each of the
Guarantors will observe the Standard Positive Covenants set out in Schedule "A" and in addition:

Seq # | Description
1) Borrower is to notify the Bank of any material events (environmental, litigation, etc.).
2) Borrower to maintain all operating accounts at TD Bank.

REPORTING COVENANTS

Seq # Description

1) Annual consolidated notice to reader financial statements for The JBT Transport Group
of Companies within 120 calendar days of fiscal year end, including a cash flow
statement.

Consolidated financial statements to include JBT Transport Inc., Waydom Management
Inc., Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Drumbo Transport Ltd, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.,
Heritage Warehousing & Distributions Inc. and Melair Management Inc.

2) Annual audited financial statements for JBT Transport Inc. and Heritage Truck Lines Inc.
within 120 calendar days of fiscal year end.
3) Annual notice to reader financial statements for Waydom Management Inc., Drumbo

Transport Ltd, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distributions
Inc. and Melair Management Inc. within 120 calendar days of fiscal year end.

4) Provide confirmation to the Bank on an annual basis that property taxes are current, such
confirmation to be in a format acceptable to the Bank.
5) Quarterly company prepared consolidated financial statements within 45 calendar days

of fiscal quarter end. Quarterly reporting to be accompanied by a compliance certificate.

Consolidated financial statements to include JBT Transport Inc., Waydom Management
Inc., Heritage Truck Lines Inc., Drumbo Transport Ltd, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc.,
Heritage Warehousing & Distributions Inc. and Melair Management Inc.

6) Monthly Aged Accounts Receivables and Accounts Payables listing within 25 calendar
days of month end. Borrower to specifically outline owner operator payables aged greater
than 31 days. Monthly reporting to be accompanied by a compliance certificate.

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment
under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will and will ensure that its subsidiaries and each of the
Guarantors will observe the Standard Negative Covenants set out in Schedule "A" and in addition:

Seq # | Description

1) No further indebtedness, except for Permitted Liens.

2) No change of control/ownership, acquisitions or re-organization without the prior written consent of
the Bank.

3) Limitations on investments and/or financial assistance to non-Guarantors without the prior written
consent of the Bank.

4) No acquisitions or mergers without the prior written consent of the Bank.

5) Limitations on asset dispositions outside of the ordinary course of business. For clarity, trailers
sold to repay the temporary bridge loan are permitted.

6) No Distributions if an Event of Default is continuing or will occur on a pre and post payment basis.

Distributions are defined as dividends, share redemptions, repayment of shareholder or related
party loans, and advances to shareholders or related parties.

7) No distributions are permitted while Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratio is greater than

2.50x.
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PERMITTED LIENS

Permitted Liens as referred to in Schedule "A" are:

Seq # | Description

1) Purchase Money Security Interests in equipment which Purchase Money Security Interests exist
on the date of this Agreement ("Existing PMSIs") which are known to the Bank and all future
Purchase Money Security Interests on equipment acquired to replace the equipment under
Existing PMSIs, provided that the cost of such replacement equipment may not exceed the cost of
the equipment subject to the Existing PMSI by more than 10%.

PMSiIs acceptable to the Bank as per the PPSA Searches dated as follows:
- JBT Transport Inc. dated January 18, 2022.
- Waydom Management Inc. dated November 26, 2021.
- Heritage Truck Lines Inc. dated May 8, 2023.
- Heritage Warehousing & Distribution Inc. dated May 8, 2023.
- Heritage Northern Logistics Inc. dated May 8, 2023.
- Drumbo Transport Limited dated May 8, 2023.
- Melair Management Inc. dated May 8, 2023.

FINANCIAL COVENANTS

The Borrower agrees at all times to:

Seq # | Description
1) Maintain a Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratio of not greater than 3.25x, calculated
quarterly.

Debt is defined as the Borrower's total indebtedness less loans made by the shareholders to the
Borrower which are subordinated and postponed in favour of the Bank.

Tangible Net Worth is defined as shareholder's equity plus loans made by the shareholders to the
Borrower which are subordinated and postponed in favour of the Bank, less loans to its
shareholders, employees and other related parties and less intangible assets including without
limitation, goodwill, research and development, franchises, patents and trademarks.

*Consolidated refers to JBT Transport Inc., Waydom Management Inc., Heritage Truck Lines Inc.,
Drumbo Transport Ltd, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distributions Inc.
and Melair Management Inc.

2) Maintain a Consolidated* Debt Service Coverage ratio (DSC) of not less than 1.20x, to be
calculated on a rolling 4 quarter basis.

The DSC is calculated as follows:
(Adjusted EBITDA - Unfinanced CAPEX - Net Distributions) / (Scheduled Principal + Interest)

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as Earnings before Interest, Income Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization plus normalization adjustments related to the acquisition of Heritage Group, as
approved by the Bank until February 28, 2023 (Q2 Fiscal 2023) period only.

Unfinanced CAPEX is defined as total capital expenditures net of long-term debt advanced in
support of such expenditures plus proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.

Net Distributions is defined as dividends, share redemptions, repayment of shareholder or related
party loans, and advances to shareholders or related parties. Inflows from shareholders and
related parties can be netted off Distributions but only to the extent if does not result in an add
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back to the numerator.

*Consolidated refers to JBT Transport Inc., Waydom Management Inc., Heritage Truck Lines Inc.,
Drumbo Transport Ltd, Heritage Northern Logistics Inc., Heritage Warehousing & Distributions Inc.
and Melair Management Inc.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Bank may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under any committed credit facility hereunder and
cancel any undrawn portion of any committed credit facility hereunder, at any time after the occurrence of any one
of the Standard Events of Default contained in Schedule "A" attached hereto.

ANCILLARY
FACILITIES

As at the date of this Agreement, the following uncommitted ancillary products are made available. These
products may be subject to other agreements.

1) TD Visa Business card (or cards).

AVAILABILITY OF
OPERATING LOAN

The Operating Loan is uncommitted, made available at the Bank's discretion, and is not automatically available
upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions, conditions precedent, or financial tests set out herein.

The occurrence of an Event of Default is not a precondition to the Bank's right to accelerate repayment and
cancel the availability of the Operating Loan.

SCHEDULE "A" - STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Schedule "A" sets out the Standard Terms and Conditions ("Standard Terms and Conditions") which apply to
these credit facilities. The Standard Terms and Conditions, including the defined terms set out therein, form
part of this Agreement, unless this letter states specifically that one or more of the Standard Terms and
Conditions do not apply or are modified.

We trust you will find these facilities helpful in meeting your ongoing financing requirements. We ask that if you
wish to accept this offer of financing (which includes the Standard Terms and Conditions), please do so by
signing and returning the attached duplicate copy of this letter to the undersigned. This offer will expire if not
accepted in writing and received by the Bank on or before May 31, 2023.

Yours truly,

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

/
% - —
4’/
Efic Befgerbn Chris Sajecki
Senior Relationship Manager Senior Manager Commercial Credit
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TO THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK:

JBT TRANSPORT INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of , 2023. The

Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be used
by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of , 2023.

The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be
used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of , 2023. The

Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be used
by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature

Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
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HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of , 2023.
The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be
used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of , 2023.

The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be
used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of

, 2023. The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed herein shall
not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature

Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
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HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of
, 2023. The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed
herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature

Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
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cc. Guarantor(s)

The Bank is providing the guarantor(s) with a copy of this letter as a courtesy only. The delivery of a copy of
this letter does not create any obligation of the Bank to provide the guarantor(s) with notice of any changes to
the credit facilities, including without limitation, changes to the terms and conditions, increases or decreases in
the amount of the credit facilities, the establishment of new credit facilities or otherwise. The Bank may, or may
not, at its option, provide the guarantor(s) with such information, provided that the Bank will provide such
information upon the written request of the guarantor.
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SCHEDULE "A" - STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. INTEREST RATE DEFINITIONS

Prime Rate means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 365 day year) established and reported by the
Bank to the Bank of Canada from time to time as the reference rate of interest for determination of interest rates
that the Bank charges to customers of varying degrees of creditworthiness in Canada for Canadian dollar loans
made by it in Canada.

The Stamping Fee rate per annum for CAD B/As is based on a 365 day year and the Stamping Fee is calculated
on the Face Amount of each B/A presented to the Bank for acceptance. The Stamping Fee rate per annum for
USD B/As is based on a 360 day year and the Stamping Fee is calculated on the Face Amount of each B/A
presented to the Bank for acceptance.

CDOR means, for any day, the annual rate for B/As denominated in Canadian Dollars for a specified term that
appears on the Reuters Screen CDOR Page as of 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day (or, if such day is not a
Business Day, then on the immediately preceding Business Day).

LIBOR means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 360 day year) as determined by the Bank (rounded
upwards, if necessary to the nearest whole multiple of 1/16th of 1%) at which the Bank may make available
United States dollars which are obtained by the Bank in the Interbank Euro Currency Market, London, England at
approximately 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the second Business Day before the first day of, and in an amount
similar to, and for the period similar to the interest period of, such advance.

USBR means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 365 day year) established by the Bank from time to time
as the reference rate of interest for the determination of interest rates that the Bank charges to customers of
varying degrees of creditworthiness for US dollar loans made by it in Canada.

Interest rates will never be less than zero. If Prime Rate, CDOR, LIBOR, USBR or any other applicable base rate
changes, resulting in a variable or floating annual interest rate that is a negative number, the interest rate will be
0.00%. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Floating Rate Loan with an interest rate based on CDOR or LIBOR has
been hedged in its entirety with an interest rate swap with the Bank (the "Swap") and the Swap does not include a
negative interest rate floor, the foregoing restriction on CDOR or LIBOR never being less than 0.00% shall not
apply. However, for purposes of certainty, if the Swap is subsequently terminated or novated the restriction on
CDOR or LIBOR never being less than 0.00% shall apply.

Any interest rate based on a period less than a year expressed as an annual rate for the purposes of the Interest
Act (Canada) is equivalent to such determined rate multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year in
which the same is to be ascertained and divided by the number of days in the period upon which it was based.

2. INTEREST CALCULATION AND PAYMENT

Interest on Prime Based Loans and USBR Loans is calculated daily (including February 29 in a leap year) and
payable monthly in arrears based on the number of days the subject loan is outstanding unless otherwise
provided in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice. Interest is charged on February 29 in a leap year.

The Stamping Fee is calculated based on the amount and the term of the B/A and is payable upon acceptance by
the Bank of the B/A. The net proceeds received by the Borrower on a B/A advance will be equal to the Face
Amount of the B/A discounted at the Bank's then prevailing B/A discount rate for CAD B/As or USD B/As as the
case may be, for the specified term of the B/A less the B/A Stamping Fee. If the B/A discount rate (or the rate
used to determine the B/A discount rate) is less than zero, it shall instead be deemed to be zero for purposes of
this Agreement.

Interest on LIBOR Loans and CDOR Loans is calculated and payable on the earlier of contract maturity or
quarterly in arrears, for the number of days in the LIBOR or CDOR interest period, as applicable.

L/C and L/G fees are payable at the time set out in the Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement applicable to the
issued L/C or L/G.
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Interest on Fixed Rate Term Loans is compounded monthly and payable monthly in arrears unless otherwise
provided in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice.

Interest is payable both before and after maturity or demand, default and judgment.

Each payment under this Agreement shall be applied first in payment of costs and expenses, then interest and
fees and the balance, if any, shall be applied in reduction of principal.

For loans not secured by real property, all overdue amounts of principal and interest and all amounts outstanding
in excess of the Credit Limit shall bear interest from the date on which the same became due or from when the
excess was incurred, as the case may be, until the date of payment or until the date the excess is repaid at the
Bank's standard rate charged from time to time for overdrafts, or such lower interest rate if the Bank agrees to a
lower interest rate in writing. Nothing in this clause shall be deemed to authorize the Borrower to incur loans in
excess of the Credit Limit.

If any provision of this Agreement would oblige the Borrower to make any payment of interest or other amount
payable to the Bank in an amount or calculated at a rate which would be prohibited by law or would result in a
receipt by the Bank of “interest” at a “criminal rate” (as such terms are construed under the Criminal Code
(Canada)), then, notwithstanding such provision, such amount or rate shall be deemed to have been adjusted
with retroactive effect to the maximum amount or rate of interest, as the case may be, as would not be so
prohibited by applicable law or so result in a receipt by the Bank of “interest” at a “criminal rate”, such adjustment
to be effected, to the extent necessary (but only to the extent necessary), as follows: first, by reducing the amount
or rate of interest, and, thereafter, by reducing any fees, commissions, costs, expenses, premiums and other
amounts required to be paid to the Bank which would constitute interest for purposes of section 347 of the
Criminal Code (Canada).

3. DRAWDOWN PROVISIONS
Prime Based and USBR Loans

There is no minimum amount of drawdown by way of Prime Based Loans and USBR Loans, except as stated in
this Agreement. The Borrower shall provide the Bank with 3 Business Days' notice of a requested Prime Based
Loan or USBR Loan over $1,000,000.

B/As

The Borrower shall advise the Bank of the requested term or maturity date for B/As issued hereunder. The Bank
shall have the discretion to restrict the term or maturity dates of B/As. In no event shall the term of the B/A exceed
the Contractual Term Maturity Date or Maturity Date, as applicable. Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement,
the minimum amount of a drawdown by way of B/As is $1,000,000 and in multiples of $100,000 thereafter. The
Borrower shall provide the Bank with 3 Business Days' notice of a requested B/A drawdown.

The Borrower shall pay to the Bank the full amount of the B/A at the maturity date of the B/A.

The Borrower appoints the Bank as its attorney to and authorizes the Bank to (i) complete, sign, endorse,
negotiate and deliver B/As on behalf of the Borrower in handwritten form, or by facsimile or mechanical signature
or otherwise, (ii) accept such B/As, and (iii) purchase, discount, and/or negotiate B/As.

LIBOR and CDOR

The Borrower shall advise the Bank of the requested LIBOR or CDOR contract maturity or interest period. The
Bank shall have the discretion to restrict the LIBOR or CDOR contract maturity. In no event shall the term of the
LIBOR or CDOR contract exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date or Maturity Date, as applicable. Except as
otherwise stated in this Agreement, the minimum amount of a drawdown by way of a LIBOR Loan or a CDOR
Loan is $1,000,000, and shall be in multiples of $100,000 thereafter. The Borrower will provide the Bank with 3
Business Days' notice of a requested LIBOR Loan or CDOR Loan.

L/C and/or L/IG

The Bank shall have the discretion to restrict the maturity date of L/Gs or L/Cs.

A254



Internal

251
A255

B/A, LIBOR and CDOR - Conversion

Any portion of any B/A, LIBOR or CDOR Loan that is not repaid, rolled over or converted in accordance with the
applicable notice requirements hereunder shall be converted by the Bank to a Prime Based Loan effective as of
the maturity date of the B/A or the last day in the interest period of the LIBOR or CDOR contract, as applicable.
The Bank may charge interest on the amount of the Prime Based Loan at the rate of 115% of the rate applicable
to Prime Based Loans for the 3 Business Day period immediately following such maturity. Thereafter, the rate
shall revert to the rate applicable to Prime Based Loans.

B/A, LIBOR and CDOR — Market Disruption

If the Bank determines, in its sole discretion, that a normal market in Canada for the purchase and sale of B/As or
the making of CDOR or LIBOR Loans does not exist, any right of the Borrower to request a drawdown under the
applicable borrowing option shall be suspended until the Bank advises otherwise. Any drawdown request for
B/As, LIBOR or CDOR Loans, as applicable, during the suspension period shall be deemed to be a drawdown
notice requesting a Prime Based Loan in an equivalent amount.

LIBOR Discontinuation

On the earliest of:
(a) the date that the administrator of LIBOR has permanently or indefinitely ceased to make LIBOR available;

(b)  the governmental authority having jurisdiction over the administrator of LIBOR has made a public statement
or publication of information announcing LIBOR is no longer representative; and

(c) the Early Opt-in Effective Date,

the LIBOR Successor Rate will replace LIBOR for all purposes hereunder and under any other documents (other
than any swap agreement, but including any other Bank Security) required in connection herewith, in respect of
any interest period and contract maturity of such benchmark on such day and all subsequent interest periods and

contract maturities without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any party to this Agreement. If the
LIBOR Successor Rate is Daily Simple SOFR, all interest payments will be payable on a monthly basis unless
otherwise agreed by the Bank. Notwithstanding anything else herein, any definition of the LIBOR Successor Rate
(exclusive of any margin) shall provide that in no event shall such LIBOR Successor Rate be less than zero for
the purposes of this Agreement.

The Bank does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the
administration, submission or any other matter related to LIBOR or the LIBOR Successor Rate including without
limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of the LIBOR Successor Rate, will be similar to, or produce
the same value or economic equivalence of, LIBOR or have the same volume or liquidity as did LIBOR prior to its
discontinuance or unavailability.

In connection with the implementation and administration of the LIBOR Successor Rate, the Bank will have the
right to make LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Agreement or in any Bank Security or other document provided in connection herewith, any
amendments implementing such LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any
further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement.

The Bank will promptly notify the Borrower of (i) the occurrence of an Early Opt-in Election, (ii) the implementation
of the LIBOR Successor Rate and (iii) the effectiveness of any LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes. Any
determination, decision or election that may be made by the Bank pursuant to this Section, including any
determination with respect to a interest period, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an
event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action, will be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error and may be made in its sole discretion and without consent from any other party
hereto, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section.

Cash Management

The Bank may, and the Borrower hereby authorizes the Bank to, drawdown under the Operating Loan or Farm
Property Line of Credit to satisfy any obligations of the Borrower to the Bank in connection with any cash
management service provided by the Bank to the Borrower. The Bank may drawdown under the Operating Loan
or Farm Property Line of Credit even if the drawdown results in amounts outstanding in excess of the Credit Limit.
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Notice

Prior to each drawdown under a Fixed Rate Term Loan, other than a Long Term Farm Loan, an Agriculture Term
Loan, a Canadian Agricultural Loans Act Loan, a Dairy Term Loan or a Poultry Term Loan and at least 10 days
prior to the maturity of each Rate Term, the Borrower will advise the Bank of its selection of drawdown options
from those made available by the Bank. The Bank will, after each drawdown, other than drawdowns by way of
BA, CDOR, or LIBOR Loan or under the operating loan, send a Rate and Payment Terms Notice to the Borrower.

4. PREPAYMENT

Fixed Rate Term Loans

10% Prepayment Option Chosen.

(@) Once, each calendar year, ("Year"), the Borrower may, provided that an Event of Default has not occurred,
prepay in one lump sum, an amount of principal outstanding under a Fixed Rate Term Loan not exceeding
10% of the original amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan, upon payment of all interest accrued to the date of
prepayment without paying any prepayment charge. If the prepayment privilege is not used in one Year, it
cannot be carried forward and used in a later Year.

(b)  Provided that an Event of Default has not occurred, the Borrower may prepay more than 10% of the original
amount of a Fixed Rate Term Loan in any Year, upon payment of all interest accrued to the date of
prepayment and an amount equal to the greater of:

i)  three months' interest on the amount of the prepayment (the amount of prepayment is the amount of
prepayment exceeding the 10% limit described in Section 4(a)) using the interest rate applicable to
the Fixed Rate Term Loan being prepaid; and

i)  the Yield Maintenance, being the difference between:
a. the current outstanding principal balance of the Fixed Rate Term Loan; and

b. the sum of the present values as of the date of the prepayment of the future payments to be
made on the Fixed Rate Term Loan until the last day of a Rate Term, plus the present value of
the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan that would have been due on the maturity of
the Rate Term, when discounted at the Government of Canada bond yield rate with a term which
has the closest maturity to the unexpired term of the Fixed Rate Term Loan.

10% Prepayment Option Not Chosen.

(c) The Borrower may, provided that an Event of Default has not occurred, prepay all or any part of the
principal then outstanding under a Fixed Rate Term Loan upon payment of all interest accrued to the
date of prepayment and an amount equal to the greater of:

i) three months' interest on the amount of the prepayment using the interest rate applicable to the
Fixed Rate Term Loan being prepaid; and
i)  the Yield Maintenance, being the difference between:
a. the current outstanding principal balance of the Fixed Rate Term Loan; and
b. the sum of the present values as of the date of the prepayment of the future payments to be
made on the Fixed Rate Term Loan until the last day of the Rate Term, plus the present
value of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan that would have been due on the
maturity of the Rate Term when discounted at the Government of Canada bond yield rate

with a term which has the closest maturity to the unexpired term of the Fixed Rate Term
Loan.

Floating Rate Term Loans

The Borrower may prepay the whole or any part of the principal outstanding under a Floating Rate Term Loan, at
any time without the payment of prepayment charges.
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5. STANDARD DISBURSEMENT CONDITIONS

The obligation of the Bank to permit any drawdowns hereunder at any time is subject to the following conditions
precedent:

a) The Bank shall have received the following documents which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to
the Bank:

i) A copy of a duly executed resolution of the Board of Directors of the Borrower empowering the
Borrower to enter into this Agreement;

i) A copy of any necessary government approvals authorizing the Borrower to enter into this
Agreement;

i) All of the Bank Security and supporting resolutions and solicitors' letter of opinion required hereunder;
iv) The Borrower's compliance certificate certifying compliance with all terms and conditions hereunder;
v) All operation of account documentation; and

vi) For drawdowns under the Facility by way of L/C or L/G, the Bank’s standard form Letter of Credit
Indemnity Agreement

b) The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are correct.

c) No event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes an Event of Default or would constitute an Event
of Default, but for the requirement that notice be given or time elapse or both.

d) The Bank has received the arrangement fee payable hereunder (if any) and the Borrower has paid all legal
and other expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the Agreement or the Bank Security.
6. STANDARD REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower hereby represents and warrants, which representations and warranties shall be deemed to be
continually repeated so long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as
any commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, that:

a) The Borrower is a duly incorporated corporation, a limited partnership, partnership, or sole proprietorship,
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction where the
Branch/Centre is located and each other jurisdiction where the Borrower has property or assets or carries
on business and the Borrower has adequate corporate power and authority to carry on its business, own
property, borrow monies and enter into agreements therefore, execute and deliver the Agreement, the Bank
Security, and documents required hereunder, and observe and perform the terms and provisions of this
Agreement.

b) There are no laws, statutes or regulations applicable to or binding upon the Borrower and no provisions in
its charter documents or in any by-laws, resolutions, contracts, agreements, or arrangements which would
be contravened, breached, violated as a result of the execution, delivery, performance, observance, of any
terms of this Agreement.

c) No Event of Default has occurred nor has any event occurred which, with the passage of time or the giving
of notice, would constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement or which would constitute a default
under any other agreement.

d) There are no actions, suits or proceedings, including appeals or applications for review, or any knowledge
of pending actions, suits, or proceedings against the Borrower and its subsidiaries, before any court or
administrative agency which would result in any material adverse change in the property, assets, financial
condition, business or operations of the Borrower.

e)  All material authorizations, approvals, consents, licenses, exemptions, filings, registrations and other
requirements of governmental, judicial and public bodies and authorities required to carry on its business
have been or will be obtained or effected and are or will be in full force and effect.
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The financial statements and forecasts delivered to the Bank fairly present the present financial position of
the Borrower, and have been prepared by the Borrower and its auditors in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards or GAAP for Private Enterprises.

All of the remittances required to be made by the Borrower to the federal government and all provincial and
municipal governments have been made, are currently up to date and there are no outstanding arrears.
Without limiting the foregoing, all employee source deductions (including income taxes, Employment
Insurance and Canada Pension Plan), sales taxes (both provincial and federal), corporate income taxes,
corporate capital taxes, payroll taxes and workers' compensation dues are currently paid and up to date.

If the Bank Security includes a charge on real property, the Borrower or Guarantor, as applicable, is the
legal and beneficial owner of the real property with good and marketable title in fee simple thereto, free from
all easements, rights-of-way, agreements, restrictions, mortgages, liens, executions and other
encumbrances, save and except for those approved by the Bank in writing.

All information that the Borrower has provided to the Bank is accurate and complete respecting, where
applicable:

i) the names of the Borrower’s directors and the names and addresses of the Borrower’s beneficial
owners;

i)  the names and addresses of the Borrower’s trustees, known beneficiaries and/or settlors; and
iii) the Borrower’s ownership, control and structure.

7. STANDARD POSITIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment
under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will, and will ensure that its subsidiaries and each of the
Guarantors will:

)

Internal

Pay all amounts of principal, interest and fees on the dates, times and place specified herein, under the
Rate and Payment Terms Notice, and under any other agreement between the Bank and the Borrower.

Advise the Bank of any change in the amount and the terms of any credit arrangement made with other
lenders or any action taken by another lender to recover amounts outstanding with such other lender.

Advise promptly after the happening of any event which will result in a material adverse change in the
financial condition, business, operations, or prospects of the Borrower or the occurrence of any Event of
Default or default under this Agreement or under any other agreement for borrowed money.

Do all things necessary to maintain in good standing its corporate existence and preserve and keep all
material agreements, rights, franchises, licenses, operations, contracts or other arrangements in full force
and effect.

Take all necessary actions to ensure that the Bank Security and its obligations hereunder will rank ahead of
all other indebtedness of and all other security granted by the Borrower.

Pay all taxes, assessments and government charges unless such taxes, assessments, or charges are
being contested in good faith and appropriate reserves shall be made with funds set aside in a separate
trust fund.

Provide the Bank with information and financial data as it may request from time to time, including, without
limitation, such updated information and/or additional supporting information as the Bank may require with
respect to any or all the matters in the Borrower’s representation and warranty in Section 6(i).

Maintain property, plant and equipment in good repair and working condition.

Inform the Bank of any actual or probable litigation and furnish the Bank with copies of details of any
litigation or other proceedings, which might affect the financial condition, business, operations, or prospects
of the Borrower.

Provide such additional security and documentation as may be required from time to time by the Bank or its
solicitors.
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k) Continue to carry on the business currently being carried on by the Borrower its subsidiaries and each of
the Guarantors at the date hereof.

) Maintain adequate insurance on all of its assets, undertakings, and business risks.

m)  Permit the Bank or its authorized representatives full and reasonable access to its premises, business,
financial and computer records and allow the duplication or extraction of pertinent information therefrom.

n) Comply with all applicable laws.

8. STANDARD NEGATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment
under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will not and will ensure that its subsidiaries and each of the
Guarantors will not:

a) Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist, any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lien, security interest,
assignment, charge, or encumbrance (including without limitation, any conditional sale, or other title
retention agreement, or finance lease) of any nature, upon or with respect to any of its assets or
undertakings, now owned or hereafter acquired, except for those Permitted Liens, if any, set out in the
Letter.

b) Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any other indebtedness for borrowed money (except for
indebtedness resulting from Permitted Liens, if any) or guarantee or act as surety or agree to indemnify the
debts of any other Person.

c) Merge or consolidate with any other Person, or acquire all or substantially all of the shares, assets or
business of any other Person.

d) Sell, lease, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any of its now owned or hereafter acquired
assets (including, without limitation, shares of stock and indebtedness of subsidiaries, receivables and
leasehold interests), except for inventory disposed of in the ordinary course of business.

e) Terminate or enter into a surrender of any lease of any property mortgaged under the Bank Security.

f) Cease to carry on the business currently being carried on by each of the Borrower, its subsidiaries, and the
Guarantors at the date hereof.

g) Permit any change of ownership or change in the capital structure of the Borrower.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Borrower represents and warrants (which representation and warranty shall continue throughout the term of
this Agreement) that the business of the Borrower, its subsidiaries and each of the Guarantors is being operated
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations respecting the discharge, omission, spill or disposal of any
hazardous materials and that any and all enforcement actions in respect thereto have been clearly conveyed to
the Bank.

The Borrower shall, at the request of the Bank from time to time, and at the Borrower's expense, obtain and
provide to the Bank an environmental audit or inspection report of the property from auditors or inspectors
acceptable to the Bank.

The Borrower hereby indemnifies the Bank, its officers, directors, employees, agents and shareholders, and
agrees to hold each of them harmless from all loss, claims, damages and expenses (including legal and audit
expenses) which may be suffered or incurred in connection with the indebtedness under this Agreement or in
connection with the Bank Security.

10. STANDARD EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Bank may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under any committed credit facility hereunder and
cancel any undrawn portion of any committed credit facility hereunder, at any time after the occurrence of any one
of the following Events of Default:
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Non-payment of principal outstanding under this Agreement when due or non-payment of interest or fees
outstanding under this Agreement within 3 Business Days of when due.

If any representation, warranty or statement made hereunder or made in connection with the execution and
delivery of this Agreement or the Bank Security is false or misleading at any time.

If any representation or warranty made or information provided by the Guarantor to the Bank from time to
time, including without limitation, under or in connection with the Personal Financial Statement and Privacy
Agreement provided by the Guarantor, is false or misleading at any time.

If there is a breach or non-performance or non-observance of any term or condition of this Agreement or the
Bank Security and, if such default is capable to being remedied, the default continues unremedied for 5
Business Days after the occurrence.

If the Borrower, any one of its subsidiaries, or, if any of the Guarantors makes a general assignment for the
benefit of creditors, files or presents a petition, makes a proposal or commits any act of bankruptcy, or if
any action is taken for the winding up, liquidation or the appointment of a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy,
custodian, curator, sequestrator, receiver or any other officer with similar powers or if a judgment or order
shall be entered by any court approving a petition for reorganization, arrangement or composition of or in
respect of the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors or if the Borrower, any of its
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors is insolvent or declared bankrupt.

If there exists a voluntary or involuntary suspension of business of the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or
any of the Guarantors.

If action is taken by an encumbrancer against the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors
to take possession of property or enforce proceedings against any assets.

If any final judgment for the payment of monies is made against the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any
of the Guarantors and it is not discharged within 30 days from the imposition of such judgment.

If there exists an event, the effect of which with lapse of time or the giving of notice, will constitute an event
of default or a default under any other agreement for borrowed money in excess of the Cross Default
Threshold entered into by the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.

If the Borrower, any one of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors default under any other present or
future agreement with the Bank or any of the Bank’s subsidiaries, including without limitation, any other loan
agreement, forward foreign exchange transactions, interest rate and currency and/or commodity swaps.

If the Bank Security is not enforceable or if any party to the Bank Security shall dispute or deny any liability
or any of its obligations under the Bank Security, or if any Guarantor terminates a guarantee in respect of
future advances.

If, in the Bank's determination, a material adverse change occurs in the financial condition, business
operations or prospects of the Borrower, any of the Borrower's subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.

If the Borrower or a Guarantor is an individual, the Borrower or such Guarantor dies or is found by a court to
be incapable of managing his or her affairs.

11. ACCELERATION

If the Bank accelerates the payment of principal and interest hereunder, the Borrower shall immediately pay to the
Bank all amounts outstanding hereunder, including without limitation, the amount of unmatured B/As, CDOR and
LIBOR Loans and the amount of all drawn and undrawn L/Gs and L/Cs. All cost to the Bank of unwinding CDOR
and LIBOR Loans and all loss suffered by the Bank in re-employing amounts repaid will be paid by the Borrower.

The Bank may demand the payment of principal and interest under the Operating Loan or Farm Property Line of
Credit (and any other uncommitted facility) hereunder and cancel any undrawn portion of the Operating Loan or
Farm Property Line of Credit (and any other uncommitted facility) hereunder, at any time whether or not an Event
of Default has occurred.
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12. INDEMNITY

The Borrower agrees to indemnify the Bank from and against any and all claims, losses and liabilities arising or
resulting from this Agreement. USD loans must be repaid with USD and CAD loans must be repaid with CAD and
the Borrower shall indemnify the Bank for any loss suffered by the Bank if USD loans are repaid with CAD or vice
versa, whether such payment is made pursuant to an order of a court or otherwise. In no event will the Bank be
liable to the Borrower for any direct, indirect or consequential damages arising in connection with this Agreement.

13. TAXATION ON PAYMENTS

All payments made by the Borrower to the Bank will be made free and clear of all present and future taxes
(excluding the Bank's income taxes), withholdings or deductions of whatever nature. If these taxes, withholdings
or deductions are required by applicable law and are made, the Borrower, shall, as a separate and independent
obligation, pay to the Bank all additional amounts as shall fully indemnify the Bank from any such taxes,
withholdings or deductions.

14. REPRESENTATION

No representation or warranty or other statement made by the Bank concerning any of the Facilities shall be
binding on the Bank unless made by it in writing as a specific amendment to this Agreement.

15. CHANGING THE AGREEMENT

a) The Bank may, from time to time, unilaterally change the provisions of this Agreement where (i) the
provisions of the Agreement relate to the Operating Loan or Farm Property Line of Credit (and any other
uncommitted facility), including changing or adding fees that may be charged in connection therewith, or (ii)
such change is for the benefit of the Borrower, or made at the Borrower’s request, including without
limitation, decreases to fees or interest payable hereunder or (iii) where such change makes compliance
with this Agreement less onerous to the Borrower, including without limitation, release of security. These
changes can be made by the Bank providing written notice to the Borrower of such changes in the form of a
specific waiver or a document constituting an amending agreement. The Borrower is not required to
execute such waiver or amending agreement, unless the Bank requests the Borrower to sign such waiver
or amending agreement. A change in the Prime Rate and USBR is not an amendment to the terms of this
Agreement that requires notification to be provided to the Borrower.

b) Changes to the Agreement, other than as described in a) above, including changes to covenants and fees
payable by the Borrower, are required to be agreed to by the Bank and the Borrower in writing, by the Bank
and the Borrower each signing an amending agreement.

c) The Bank is not required to notify a Guarantor of any change in the Agreement, including any increase in
the Credit Limit.
16. ADDED COST

If the introduction of or any change in any present or future law, regulation, treaty, official or unofficial directive, or
regulatory requirement, (whether or not having the force of law) or in the interpretation or application thereof,
relates to:

i) the imposition or exemption of taxation of payments due to the Bank or on reserves or deemed reserves in
respect of the undrawn portion of any Facility or loan made available hereunder; or,

ii) any reserve, special deposit, regulatory or similar requirement against assets, deposits, or loans or other
acquisition of funds for loans by the Bank; or,

i)  the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by the Bank as a result of the existence of the
advances or the commitment made hereunder;

and the result of such occurrence is, in the sole determination of the Bank, to increase the cost of the Bank or to

reduce the income received or receivable by the Bank hereunder, the Borrower shall, on demand by the Bank,

pay to the Bank that amount which the Bank estimates will compensate it for such additional cost or reduction in

income and the Bank's estimate shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.
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17. EXPENSES

The Borrower shall pay, within 5 Business Days following notification, any fees and expenses (including but not
limited to all legal fees) incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation, registration, ongoing
administration, and discharge of this Agreement and the Bank Security and with the enforcement of the Bank's
rights and remedies under this Agreement and the Bank Security whether or not any amounts are advanced
under the Agreement. These fees and expenses shall include, but not be limited to, any outside counsel fees and
expenses, and any in-house legal fees and expenses (if in-house counsel are used), and any outside professional
advisory fees and expenses, and any registration, renewal and discharge fees in connection with the Bank
Security, including but not limited to, as applicable, land registry, intellectual property registry, Personal Property
Security Act, and Le Registre des droits personnels et réels mobiliers fees as established by the applicable
federal, provincial and/or territorial government(s) from time to time. The Borrower shall pay interest on unpaid
amounts due pursuant to this paragraph at the All-In Rate plus 2% per annum.

Without limiting the generality of Section 25, the Bank or the Bank’s agent, is authorized to debit any of the
Borrower’s accounts with the amount of the fees and expenses owed by the Borrower hereunder, including any
registration, renewal and discharge fee as described in this section in connection with the Bank Security, even if
that debiting creates an overdraft in any such account. If there are insufficient funds in the Borrower’s accounts to
reimburse the Bank or it's agent for payment of the fees and expenses owed by the Borrower hereunder, the
amount debited to the Borrower’s accounts shall be deemed to be a Prime Based Loan under the Operating Loan
or Farm Property Line of Credit.

The Borrower will, if requested by the Bank, sign a Pre-Authorized Payment Authorization in a format acceptable
to the Bank to permit the Bank’s agent to debit the Borrower’s accounts as contemplated in this Section.

18. NON WAIVER

Any failure by the Bank to object to or take action with respect to a breach of this Agreement or any Bank Security
or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not constitute a waiver of the Bank's right to take action at a
later date on that breach. No course of conduct by the Bank will give rise to any reasonable expectation which is
in any way inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Bank Security or the Bank's
rights thereunder.

19. EVIDENCE OF INDEBTEDNESS

The Bank shall record on its records the amount of all loans made hereunder, payments made in respect thereto,
and all other amounts becoming due to the Bank under this Agreement. The Bank's records constitute, in the
absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the Borrower to the Bank pursuant to this
Agreement.

The Borrower will sign the Bank’s standard form Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement for all L/Cs and L/Gs
issued by the Bank.

With respect to chattel mortgages taken as Bank Security, this Agreement is the Promissory Note referred to in
same chattel mortgage, and the indebtedness incurred hereunder is the true indebtedness secured by the chattel
mortgage.

20. ENTIRE AGREEMENTS

This Agreement replaces any previous letter agreements dealing specifically with terms and conditions of the
credit facilities described in the Letter. Agreements relating to other credit facilities made available by the Bank
continue to apply for those other credit facilities. This Agreement, and if applicable, the Letter of Credit Indemnity
Agreement, are the entire agreements relating to the Facilities described in this Agreement.

21. NON-MERGER

Notwithstanding the execution, delivery or registration of the Bank Security and notwithstanding any advances
made pursuant thereto, this Agreement shall continue to be valid, binding and enforceable and shall not merge as
a result thereof. Any default under this Agreement shall constitute concurrent default under the Bank Security.
Any default under the Bank Security shall constitute concurrent default under this Agreement. In the event of an
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inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Bank Security, the terms of this
Agreement shall prevail and the inclusion of any term in the Bank Security that is not dealt with in this Agreement
shall not be an inconsistency.

22. ASSIGNMENT

The Bank may assign or grant participation in all or part of this Agreement or in any loan made hereunder without
notice to and without the Borrower's consent.

The Borrower may not assign or transfer all or any part of its rights or obligations under this Agreement.

23. RELEASE OF INFORMATION

The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs the Borrower's accountant, (the "Accountant") to deliver
all financial statements and other financial information concerning the Borrower to the Bank and agrees that the
Bank and the Accountant may communicate directly with each other.

24. FX CLOSE OUT

The Borrower hereby acknowledges and agrees that in the event any of the following occur: (i) Default by the
Borrower under any forward foreign exchange contract ("FX Contract"); (ii) Default by the Borrower in payment of
monies owing by it to anyone, including the Bank; (iii) Default in the performance of any other obligation of the
Borrower under any agreement to which it is subject; or (iv) the Borrower is adjudged to be or voluntarily becomes
bankrupt or insolvent or admits in writing to its inability to pay its debts as they come due or has a receiver
appointed over its assets, the Bank shall be entitled without advance notice to the Borrower to close out and
terminate all of the outstanding FX Contracts entered into hereunder, using normal commercial practices
employed by the Bank, to determine the gain or loss for each terminated FX contract. The Bank shall then be
entitled to calculate a net termination value for all of the terminated FX Contracts which shall be the net sum of all
the losses and gains arising from the termination of the FX Contracts which net sum shall be the "Close Out
Value" of the terminated FX Contracts. The Borrower acknowledges that it shall be required to forthwith pay any
positive Close Out Value owing to the Bank and the Bank shall be required to pay any negative Close Out Value
owing to the Borrower, subject to any rights of set-off to which the Bank is entitled or subject.

25. SET-OFF

In addition to and not in limitation of any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law, the Bank may at
any time and from time to time without notice to the Borrower or any other Person, any notice being expressly
waived by the Borrower, set-off and compensate and apply any and all deposits, general or special, time or
demand, provisional or final, matured or unmatured, in any currency, and any other indebtedness or amount
payable by the Bank (irrespective of the place of payment or booking office of the obligation), to or for the credit of
or for the Borrower's account, including without limitation, any amount owed by the Bank to the Borrower under
any FX Contract or other treasury or derivative product, against and on account of the indebtedness and liability
under this Agreement notwithstanding that any of them are contingent or unmatured or in a different currency than
the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement.

When applying a deposit or other obligation in a different currency than the indebtedness and liability under this
Agreement to the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement, the Bank will convert the deposit or other
obligation to the currency of the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement using the exchange rate
determined by the Bank at the time of the conversion.

26. SEVERABILITY

In the event any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason, including under any
applicable statute or rule of law, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that part will be severed from this
Agreement and will not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement, which shall remain
in full force and effect.

27. MISCELLANEOUS

i) The Borrower has received a signed copy of this Agreement;
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ii) If more than one Person, firm or corporation signs this Agreement as the Borrower, each party is jointly and
severally liable hereunder, and the Bank may require payment of all amounts payable under this Agreement
from any one of them, or a portion from each, but the Bank is released from any of its obligations by
performing that obligation to any one of them;

i)  Accounting terms will (to the extent not defined in this Agreement) be interpreted in accordance with
accounting principles established from time to time by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (or
any successor) consistently applied, and all financial statements and information provided to the Bank will
be prepared in accordance with those principles;

iv)  This Agreement is governed by the law of the Province or Territory where the Branch/Centre is located;
V) Unless stated otherwise, all amounts referred to herein are in Canadian dollars.

vi)  If the Borrower qualifies as an Eligible Enterprise and the facility/ies hereunder are not secured by a
mortgage on real property, the Borrower has the right to cancel this Agreement without incurring a
cancellation charge until the end of the third Business Day after the day on which this Agreement is entered
into and may be entitled to the refund of certain fees other than (i) any amounts related to the use of the
product or service prior to its cancellation; and (ii) any expense that the Bank has reasonably incurred in
providing the product or service. Eligible Enterprise, as defined in the Bank Act, means a business with
authorized credit of less than CAD$1,000,000, fewer than 500 employees and annual revenues of less than
CAD$50,000,000

28. CUSTOMER RESOLUTION PROCESS

Tell us about your problem or concern in the way that is most convenient for you. You may contact a Customer
Service Representative at your Branch or Business Unit that handles your account, call us toll free at 1-833-259-
5980, contact us by mail at Customer Service, TD Centre, P.O. Box 193, Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1H6, by fax at 1-
877-983-2932 or by e-mail at customer.service@td.com. As a next step, if your concern remains unresolved, the
Manager will offer to elevate your problem to a representative of the Senior Management Office. Alternatively, if
you prefer to elevate the problem yourself, you may contact the Manager, or one of our telephone banking
specialists at the toll-free number above, and they will assist you.

If your concern remains unresolved, you may contact the Senior Customer Complaints Office by email at
td.scco@td.com, by mail at P.O. Box 1, TD Centre, Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1A2, or toll free at 1-888-361-0319. If
your concern still remains unresolved, you may then contact the ADR Chambers Banking Ombuds Office
(ADRBO) by mail at 31 Adelaide Street East, P.O. Box 1066, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1K9 or telephone: 1-800-
941-3655 or toll free fax: 1-877-307-5127 and at www.bankingombuds.ca or contact@bankingombuds.ca. For a
more detailed overview please obtain a copy of our "If You Have a Problem or Concern" brochure from any
branch or from our website at www.td.com.

Financial Consumer Agency of Canada (FCAC) - If you have a complaint regarding a potential violation of a
consumer protection law, a public commitment, or an industry code of conduct, you can contact the FCAC in
writing at: 6th Floor, Enterprise Building, 427 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario K1R 1B9. The FCAC can also
be contacted by telephone at 1-866-461-3222 (en frangais 1-866-461-2232) or through its website at www.fcac-
acfc.gc.ca. Please note that the FCAC does not become involved in matters of redress or compensation - all
such requests must follow the process set out above.

29. CONSENT TO THE COLLECTION, USE AND/OR DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION - INDIVIDUALS
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In this Section, "you" and “your” means: (i) any individual, or that individual's authorized representative, who is
the Borrower; (ii) any individual, or that individual's authorized representative, who has offered to provide a
guarantee for any product or service offered by us to the Borrower; (iii) any individual who is a partner of the
Borrower; and (iv) the signing authorities, as identified to us, of the Borrower. In this Section and in Section 30,
the words "we", "us" and "our" mean TD Bank Group ("TD"). TD includes The Toronto-Dominion Bank and its
world-wide affiliates, which provide deposit, investment, loan, securities, trust, insurance and other products or
services. The word "Information" means financial, personal and other details about you, that you provide to us
and we obtain from others outside our organization, including through the products and services that are provided
by us to the Borrower. You agree that, at the time you request to begin a relationship with us and during the
course of our relationship, we may share your Information within TD, and collect, use and disclose your
Information as described in the Privacy Agreement separately provided to you and available at any TD Canada
Trust branch or online at td.com, including for, but not limited to, the purposes of identifying you, providing you
with ongoing service, helping us serve you better, protecting us both from fraud and error, complying with legal
and regulatory requirements, and marketing products and services to you.

We may communicate with you for any of these purposes by telephone, fax, text messaging, or other electronic
means, and automatic dialing-announcing device, at the numbers you have provided to us, or by ATM, internet,
mail, email and other methods. If:

a) there are changes to the signing authorities of the Borrower; or

b) at the time of obtaining a product or service from us, the Borrower has indicated that the product or service
will be used by or on behalf of a third party who is an individual; or

c) at the time of obtaining a product or service from us, the Borrower, if a corporation, has any individual who
owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 25 per cent or more of the shares of the corporation, or has any
director, where such individual or director is not, as such time, either a signing authority of the corporation
or a personal banking customer of TD; or

d) at the time of obtaining a product or service from us, such Borrower, if other than a corporation, has any
individual who owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 25 per cent or more of such Borrower, where such
individual is not, at such time, either a signing authority of the Borrower or a personal banking customer of
TD;

then the Borrower agrees to make such signing authorities and any such individual or director aware of the
Privacy Agreement, advise them that they are subject to such agreement and inform them that a copy of such
agreement is available at any TD Canada Trust branch or online at td.com. The definition of "you" in the Privacy
Agreement shall be deemed to include any such individual or director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, c) and d)
shall not apply where the Borrower is a public body, or a corporation that has minimum net assets of $75 million
on its last audited balance sheet and whose shares are traded on a Canadian stock exchange or a stock
exchange that is prescribed by section 3201 of the Income Tax Regulations, as may be amended from time to
time, and operates in a country that is a member of the Financial Action Task Force.

To understand how you can withdraw your consent, refer to the "Marketing Purposes" section of the Privacy
Agreement or contact us at 1-866-567-8888.

30. CONSENT TO THE COLLECTION AND/OR DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION — BORROWER (OTHER
THAN AN INDIVIDUAL)

In addition to any rights the Bank may have regarding the collection and disclosure of the Borrower’s information,
the Borrower authorizes the Bank to obtain information about the Borrower from, and disclose information about
the Borrower to, TD, other lenders, credit reporting or credit rating agencies, credit bureaus, auditors,
governmental and regulatory authorities, references provided by the Borrower and any supplier, agent or other
party that performs services for the Borrower or for the Bank.

31. DEFINITIONS

Capitalized Terms used in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:
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"Agreement” means the agreement between the Bank and the Borrower set out in the Letter and this Schedule
"A" - Standard Terms and Conditions, as amended from time to time in accordance with Section 15 of this
Schedule "A".

"All-In Rate" means the greater of the interest rates that the Borrower pays for Floating Rate Loans or the highest
fixed rate paid for Fixed Rate Term Loans.

"Business Day" means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) that the Branch/Centre is open for business.

"Branch/Centre" means The Toronto-Dominion Bank branch or banking centre noted on the first page of the
Letter, or such other branch or centre as may from time to time be designated by the Bank.

"Contractual Term Maturity Date" means the last day of the Contractual Term period. If the Letter does not set out
a specific Contractual Term period but rather refers to a period of time up to which the Contractual Term Maturity
Date can occur, the Bank and the Borrower must agree on a Contractual Term Maturity Date before first
drawdown, which Contractual Term Maturity Date will be set out in the Rate and Payments Terms Notice.

“Cross Default Threshold” means the cross default threshold set out in the Letter. If no such cross default
threshold is set out in the Letter it will be deemed to be zero.

“Face Amount" means, in respect of:
(i) a B/A, the amount payable to the holder thereof on its maturity;

(i)  AL/C orL/G, the maximum amount payable to the beneficiary specified therein or any other Person to
whom payments may be required to be made pursuant to such L/C or L/G.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback
being established by the Bank in accordance with the conventions for this rate recommended by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially
endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, or any successor thereto, for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for bilateral business loans; provided,
that if the Bank decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Bank, then the Bank may
establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

“Early Opt-in Effective Date” means, with respect to any Early Opt-in Election, the sixth (6th) Business Day after
the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Borrower.

“Early Opt-in Election” means the occurrence of:

(i)  adetermination by the Bank that at least five currently outstanding U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated or
bilateral credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a
SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark
rate, and

(i)  the election by the Bank to trigger a fallback from LIBOR and the provision by the Bank of written notice of
such election to the Borrower.

"Fixed Rate Term Loan" means any drawdown in Canadian dollars under a Facility at an interest rate which is
fixed for a Rate Term at such rate as is determined by the Bank at its sole discretion.

"Floating Rate Loan" means any loan drawn down, converted or extended under a Facility at an interest rate
which is referenced to a variable rate of interest, such as the Prime Rate.

"Inventory Value" means, at any time of determination, the total value (based on the lower of cost or market) of
the Borrower's inventories that are subject to the Bank Security (other than (i) those inventories supplied by trade
creditors who at that time have not been fully paid and would have a right to repossess all or part of such
inventories if the Borrower were then either bankrupt or in receivership, (ii) those inventories comprising work in
process and (iii) those inventories that the Bank may from time to time designate in its sole discretion) minus the
total amount of any claims, liens or encumbrances on those inventories having or purporting to have priority over
the Bank.

"l etter" means the letter from the Bank to the Borrower to which this Schedule "A" - Standard Terms and
Conditions is attached.
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"Letter of Credit" or "L/C" means a documentary letter of credit or similar instrument in form and substance
satisfactory to the Bank.

"Letter of Guarantee" or "L/G" means a stand-by letter of guarantee or similar instrument in form and substance
satisfactory to the Bank.

"LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes" means any technical, administrative or operational changes
(including changes to applicable definitions, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of
interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and
length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative or
operational matters) that the Bank decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of the
LIBOR Successor Rate and the Bank's administration thereof in a manner substantially consistent with market
practice (or, if the Bank decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively
feasible or determines that no market practice for the administration of the LIBOR Successor Rate exists, in such
other manner of administration as the Bank decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration
of this Agreement and the other documents required hereunder).

"LIBOR Successor Rate" means, for any interest period as of the applicable date of determination, the first
alternative set forth below that can be determined by the Bank:

(i)  the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) 0.11448% (11.448 basis points) for an interest period of 1 month,
0.26161% (26.161 basis points) for an interest period of 3 months, and 0.42826% (42.826 basis points)
for an interest period of 6 months, or

(i)  the sum of: (x) Daily Simple SOFR and (y) the spread adjustment selected or recommended by the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee
officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto, for the replacement of the contract maturity of
LIBOR with a SOFR-based rate having approximately the same length as the interest payment period
specified in the "LIBOR Discontinuation" clause in Section 3 of this Schedule A.

"Maturity Date" for a Facility, means the date on which all amounts outstanding under such Facility are due and
payable to the Bank.

"Person" includes any individual, sole proprietorship, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated
association, association, institution, entity, party, or government (whether national, federal, provincial, state,
municipal, city, county, or otherwise and including any instrumentality, division, agency, body, or department
thereof).

"Purchase Money Security Interest” means a security interest on an asset which is granted to a lender or to the
seller of such asset in order to secure the purchase price of such asset or a loan incurred to acquire such asset,
provided that the amount secured by the security interest does not exceed the cost of the asset and provided that
the Borrower provides written notice to the Bank prior to the creation of the security interest, and the creditor
under the security interest has, if requested by the Bank, entered into an inter-creditor agreement with the Bank,
in a format acceptable to the Bank.

"Rate Term" means that period of time as selected by the Borrower from the options offered to it by the Bank,
during which a Fixed Rate Term Loan will bear a particular interest rate. If no Rate Term is selected, the Borrower
will be deemed to have selected a Rate Term of 1 year.

"Rate and Payment Terms Notice" means the written notice sent by the Bank to the Borrower setting out the
interest rate and payment terms for a particular drawdown.

"Receivable Value" means, at any time of determination, the total value of those of the Borrower's trade accounts
receivable that are subject to the Bank Security other than (i) those accounts then outstanding for 90 days, (ii)
those accounts owing by Persons, firms or corporations affiliated with the Borrower, (iii) those accounts that the
Bank may from time to time designate in its sole discretion, (iv) those accounts subject to any claim, liens, or
encumbrance having or purporting to have priority over the Bank, (v) those accounts which are subject to a claim
of set-off by the obligor under such account, MINUS the total amount of all claims, liens, or encumbrances on
those receivables having or purporting to have priority over the Bank.
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"Receivables/Inventory Summary" means a summary of the Borrower's trade account receivables and
inventories, in form as the Bank may require and certified by a senior officer/representative of the Borrower.

“SOFR” means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate
for such Business Day published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the
secured overnight financing rate) on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org (or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by
the administrator of the secured financing rate from time to time), on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

“Term SOFR” means, for the applicable corresponding interest period, the forward-looking term rate based on
SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

"USD" or "USD Equivalent” means, on any date, the equivalent amount in United States Dollars after giving effect
to a conversion of a specified amount of Canadian Dollars to United States Dollars at the exchange rate
determined by the Bank at the time of the conversion.
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E Commercial Banking

Financial Restructuring Group

66 Wellington Street West, 12t Floor
Toronto, Ontario

M5K 1A2

Telephone No.: (416) 476-2473

Fax No.: (416) 982-6076

January 10, 2024

JBT Transport Inc.
105 Guthrie St.
Ayr, ON, NOB-1EOQ

Attention: Denis Medeiros & Randy Bowman
Dear Sirs,

The following amending agreement (the "Amending Agreement") amends the terms and conditions of the credit
facilities (the "Facilities") provided to the Borrower pursuant to the Agreement dated May 18, 2023:

BORROWER

(A) JBT TRANSPORT INC.

(B) WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC.

(C) MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC.

(D HERITAGE TRUCK LINES INC.

(E) DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED

(F) HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC.

(G) HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

LENDER

The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the "Bank"), through its Financial Restructuring Group in Toronto, Ontario

INTEREST RATES
AND FEES

The following has been amended:

10) Operating Loan:

- Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate + 2.00% per annum
- USBR Loans: USBR + 2.00% per annum
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LANGUAGE
PREFERENCE

This Agreement has been drawn up in the English language at the request of all parties. (Cet acte a été rédigé en
langue anglaise a la demande de toutes les parties.)

SCHEDULE "A" -
STANDARD TERMS
AND CONDITIONS

Schedule "A" sets out the Standard Terms and Conditions ("Standard Terms and Conditions") which apply to
these credit facilities. The Standard Terms and Conditions, including the defined terms set out therein, form part
of this Agreement, unless this letter states specifically that one or more of the Standard Terms and Conditions do
not apply or are modified.

Unless otherwise stated, the amendments outlined above are in addition to the Terms and Conditions of the
existing Agreement. All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

We ask that the Borrower sign and return the attached duplicate copy of this Amending Agreement to the Bank
on or before January 12, 2024, which is the date the amendments will come into force (the “Effective Date”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower’s continued use of the Credit Facilities or failure to repay the Credit
Facilities in full after the Effective Date constitutes the Borrower's acknowledgement and acceptance of this
Amending Agreement

ACCURACY OF
INFORMATION

The Borrower hereby represents and warrants that all information that it has provided to the Bank is accurate and
complete respecting, where applicable:

(i) the names of the Borrower’s directors and the names and addresses of the Borrower’s beneficial
owners;

(i) the names and addresses of the Borrower’s trustees, known beneficiaries and/or settlors; and

(iii) the Borrower’s ownership, control and structure.

The Borrower will provide, or cause to be provided, such updated information and/or additional supporting
information as the Bank may require from time to time with respect to any or all the matters in the Borrower’s
foregoing representation and warranty.

Yours truly,
THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Daryl Coelho Anthony Ch%rubin
Director, FRG Associate Director, FRG
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TO THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK:

JBT TRANSPORT INC., WAYDOM MANAGEMENT INC., MELAIR MANAGEMENT INC., HERITAGE TRUCK
LINES INC., DRUMBO TRANSPORT LIMITED, HERITAGE NORTHERN LOGISTICS INC., HERITAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTIONS INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this day of

2024. The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facilities detailed herein shall not be
used by or on behalf of any third party.

Signature Signature

Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “K” REFERRED TO IN THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DENIS MEDEIROS AFFIRMED REMOTELY BY DENIS MEDEIROS STATED
AS BEING LOCATED IN THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO THIS
6TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2025
(D

A COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVITS
JASMINE LANDAU
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TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank h T—

5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor

Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7

Phone: 905-403-4770 Fax: 905-403-4771

Date:
Lender
Borrower

Borrower’s Address

Credit Limit

Type of Credit
and Borrowing Options

Term
Amortization
Interest Rate

Administration Fee

Guaranter(s).if applicable

Drawdown

Repayment

No Prepayment

Security

Disbursement Conditions

Events of Default

August 24, 2022
TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (*“ TD Equipment Finance”)
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the “Borrower™)

105 GUTHRIE ST
AYR ON NOB 1E0

The borrowings not to exceed: Two hundred ten thousand five hundred ten dollars and forty cents ($210,510.40)

Equipment Financing Term Facility available by way of a Fixed Rate Term Loan in Canadian Dollars
36 months from the date of drawdown;

3 years

Fixed Rate - 6.11% per annum

The Borrower has paid or will pay prior to a drawdown hereunder a non-refundable administration fee of $250.00

One time drawdown prior to September 14, 2022. Amounts repaid may not be redrawn.

Interest shall be computed from the day of the drawdown. The principal and interest shall be repaid in

36 Monthly payment(s) of $6,414.63 CAD

commencing on the 31% day of August, 2022 and continuing on a Monthly basis period thereafter. The balance, if any, of
the principal and interest shall be paid on or before the last day of the Term period. Each installment shall be applied first
in payment of interest and the balance, if any, shall be applied in reduction of principal.

Except as expressly provided for herein, or as otherwise agreed to by TD Equipment Finance in writing (and on terms and
conditions set by TD Equipment Finance in its sole and absolute discretion), the Borrower shall have no right to prepay the

outstanding principal in whole or in part during the Term .

The following documentation (“Security) shall be provided and shall, unless otherwise indicated, support all present and
future indebtedness and liability of the Borrower to TD Equipment Finance, shall be registered in first position, and shall
be on TD Equipment Finance’s standard form, supported by resolutions and Solicitor’s Letter of Opinion, if required, all
acceptable to TD Equipment Finance:

. Security Agreement for Specified Assets (“Security Agreement”)

. Sublease Addendum (if applicable)

. Postponement of Shareholders Loans (if applicable)

Such other security as may be reasonably required by TD Equipment Finance and its legal counsel.

The obligation of TD Equipment Finance to permit the drawdown hereunder is subject to the following Disbursement
Conditions:

TD Equipment Finance shall have received the following documents which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to
TD Equipment Finance:

Duly executed resolution of the Board of Directors of the Borrower empowering the Borrower to enter into
this Loan Agreement;

. Duly executed original copies of all required Security

. Duly executed copy of this Loan Agreement;

. Executed Letter of Direction re disbursement of the drawdown,;

° Pre-Authorized Debit (PAD) Agreement

. Confirmation of Insurance of PL/PD coverage with TD Equipment Finance noted as loss payee ;

Confirmation that all Collateral (as defined in the Security Agreement for Specified Assets) to be
domiciled in Canada

. Delivery and Acceptance Certificate

. Confirmation of PPSA/RDPRM registration

Subordination/Priorities Agreements or Postponement on specific equipment (if applicable)

. Confirmation that all applicable taxes to be paid up front by Borrower

A copy of the Borrower’s most recent quarterly financial statements, TD Equipment Finance credit review
of Collateral to confirm satisfactory including copy of invoice, full description of Collateral and
amortization schedule based on proposed Collateral.

. Any additional security as required by TD Equipment Finance

The representations and warranties contained in the Security Agreement for Specified Assets are true and correct.

TD Equipment Finance may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under this Loan Agreement, at any time after
the occurrence of any one of the following Events of Default:

a)  Non-payment of principal outstanding under this Loan Agreement when due or non-payment of interest or
fees outstanding under this Loan Agreement within 3 Business Days of when due.
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Assignment

Expenses
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b)  If there is a breach or non-performance or non-observance of any term or condition of this A@?—Zg@mem
or the Security and, if such default is capable to being remedied, the default continues unremedied for 5
Business Days after the occurrence.

¢) Ifthe Borrower makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, files or presents a petition, makes
a proposal or commits any act of bankruptcy, or if any action is taken for the winding up, liquidation or the
appointment of a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, custodian, curator, sequestrator, receiver or any other
officer with similar powers or if a judgment or order shall be entered by any court approving a petition for
reorganization, arrangement or composition of or in respect of the Borrower or if the Borrower is insolvent
or declared bankrupt.

d) If there exists an event, the effect of which with lapse of time or the giving of notice, will constitute an
event of default or a default under any other agreement for borrowed money entered into by the Borrower.

e) If the Security is not enforceable or if any party to the Security shall dispute or deny any liability or any of
its obligations under the Security.

“Business Day” means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) that TD Equipment Finance is open for business.

Should the Borrower fail to pay when due the whole or any part of any payments or any other sum owed to Lender under
this Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall pay to TD Equipment Finance in addition thereto, a collection charge equal to the
greater of ten dollars ($10.00) for each month or part thereof for which said payment or other sum shall be overdue, or the
interest on any and all overdue payments and amounts in default from date thereof until paid in full at the rate of eighteen
percent (18%) per annum (or such other rate as may be notified to the Borrower from time to time) calculated and
compounded monthly. Such collection charges shall be due and payable on demand. TD Equipment Finance shall have the
right to deduct such collection charges and interest from any payment received before crediting the balance of such payment
to the debt owed by the Borrower, other overdue payments and amounts in default. The Borrower further agrees to pay to
TD Equipment Finance a fee for cheques returned due to non-sufficient funds or other reasons (an “NSF Cheque™) to
reimburse TD Equipment Finance for its time and expense incurred with respect to an NSF Cheque. Such NSF charge shall
be $48.00 (which amount is subject to change at the sole discretion of TD Equipment Finance). If any provision of this
Loan Agreement would obligate the Borrower to make any payment of interest or other amount payable to TD Equipment
Finance in an amount or calculated at a rate which would be prohibited by law or would result in a receipt by TD
Equipment Finance of interest at a criminal rate (as such terms are construed under the Criminal Code (Canada)) then,
notwithstanding such provisions, such amount or rate shall be deemed to have been adjusted with retroactive effect to the
maximum amount or rate of interest, as the case may be, as would not be so prohibited by law or so result in a receipt by TD
Equipment Finance of interest at a criminal rate, such adjustment to be effected, to the extent necessary, as follows:

(1) firstly, by reducing the amount or rate of interest required to be paid to TD Equipment Finance under this
Loan Agreement, and

(2) thereafter, by reducing any fees, commissions, premiums and other amounts required to be paid to TD
Equipment Finance which would constitute “interest” for purposes of Section 347 of the Criminal Code
(Canada).

If TD Equipment Finance accelerates the payment of principal and interest hereunder, the Borrower shall immediately pay
to TD Equipment Finance all amounts outstanding hereunder.

TD Equipment Finance shall record on its records the amount of all loans made hereunder, payments made in respect
thereto, and all other amounts becoming due to TD Equipment Finance under this Loan Agreement. TD Equipment
Finance's records constitute, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the Borrower to
TD Equipment Finance pursuant to this Loan Agreement.

All information that the Borrower has provided to TD Equipment Finance respecting, where applicable:
(i) the names of the Borrower's directors and the names and addresses of the Borrower's beneficial owners;
(ii) the names and addresses of the Borrower's trustees, known beneficiaries and/or settlors; and
(iii) the Borrower's ownership, control and structure,

is accurate and complete.

TD Equipment Finance reserves the right to request from the Borrower updated information and/or additional supporting
information.

TD Equipment Finance may assign or grant participation in all or part of this Loan Agreement or in any loan made
hereunder without notice to and without the Borrower's consent. The Borrower may not assign or transfer all or any part of
its rights or obligations under this Loan Agreement.

Borrower shall pay TD Equipment Finance all reasonable fees including but not limited to all reasonable legal and
documentation fees and expenses incurred by TD Equipment Finance in establishing, completing its due diligence,
documenting and monitoring the loan as well as the expenses of TD Equipment Finance in connection with the enforcement
of its rights under this Loan Agreement whether or not the final loan and security documentation are executed or any
amounts are advanced, including, without limitation, any outside or in-house counsel fees and expenses, any professional
advisory fees and expenses, and any fees and expenses relating to the registration, perfection, preservation, renewal or
discharge of any security/hypothec granted to or taken by TD Equipment Finance (including, without limitation, as
applicable, Personal Property Security Act and Le Registre des droits personnels et réels mobiliers registration fees
established by the applicable federal, provincial and/or territorial government(s)), the registration, licensing, possession, use
or operation of the Collateral and all taxes and duties on or relating to the Collateral together with all other expenses and
outgoings relating to the Collateral, the failure of Borrower to pay or perform any of the obligations of this Loan Agreement,
the enforcement by any means of any of the obligations or any provision of this Loan Agreement, the exercise of any rights,
powers or remedies under this Loan Agreement or any other agreement evidencing or relating to the obligations hereunder
(including all such fees and expenses in connection with recovering or taking possession of the Collateral, removing or
taking custody of, the storing, preserving, processing, repair, reconditioning or dismantling of Collateral, preparing
Collateral for lease, sale or other disposition and leasing, selling or otherwise disposing of Collateral), the rendering of
financial services under this Loan Agreement (including, without limitation, for processing of payment and rendering
statements to Borrower) and the preparation of end of Term documentation, at TD Equipment Finance's discr%i\
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If Borrower qualifies as an Eligible Enterprise as defined in the Bank Act (an "Eligible Enterprise” is Mi?es with
authorized credit of less than CAD$1,000,000, fewer than 500 employees and annual revenues of less than
CAD$50,000,000) and the facility/ies hereunder are not secured by a mortgage on real property, Borrower has the right to
cancel this Loan Agreement without incurring a cancellation charge until the end of the third business day after the day on
which the Loan Agreement is entered into and Borrower may be entitled to the refund of certain fees other than (i) any
amounts related to Borrower's use of this product or service prior to the cancellation; and (ii) any expense that TD
Equipment Finance has reasonably incurred in providing this product or service.

Consent to the Collection, Use and/or Disclosure of Information - Individuals

In this section, "you" means: (i) any individual, or that individual's authorized representative, who is the Borrower; (ii) any
individual who is a partner of the Borrower; and (iii) the signing authorities, as identified to us, of the Borrower. In this
section and in the section, “Consent to the Collection and/or Disclosure of Information — Business Customer (other than an
Individual)” below, the words "we", "us" and "our" mean TD Bank Group ("TD"). TD includes The Toronto-Dominion
Bank and its world-wide affiliates, including TD Equipment Finance, which provide deposit, investment, loan, securities,
trust, insurance and other products or services. The word "Information” means financial, personal and other details about
you, that you provide to us and we obtain from others outside our organization, including through the products and services
that are provided by us to the Borrower. You agree that, at the time you request to begin a relationship with us and during
the course of your relationship with us, we may share your Information with our world-wide affiliates, and collect, use and
disclose your Information as described in the Privacy Agreement separately provided to you and available online at td.com,
including for, but not limited to, the purposes of identifying you, providing you with ongoing service, helping us serve you
better, protecting us both from fraud and error, complying with legal and regulatory requirements, and marketing products
and services to you. We may communicate with you for any of these purposes by telephone, fax, text messaging, or other
electronic means, and automatic dialing-announcing device, at the numbers you have provided to us, or by ATM, internet,
mail, email and other methods. To understand how you can withdraw your consent, refer to the "Marketing Purposes"
section of the Privacy Agreement or contact us at 1-866-567-8888. If:
a) there are changes to the signing authorities of the Borrower; or
b) at the time of entering into this Loan Agreement, the Borrower, if a corporation, has any individual who owns or
controls, directly or indirectly, 25 per cent or more of the shares of the corporation, or has any director, where
such individual or director is not, at such time, either a signing authority of the corporation or a personal
banking customer of TD; or
c) at the time of entering into this Loan Agreement the Borrower, if other than a corporation, has any individual
who owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 25 per cent or more of the Borrower, where such individual is not,
at such time, either a signing authority of the Borrower or a personal banking customer of TD;
then the Borrower, agrees to make such signing authorities and any such individual or director aware of the Privacy
Agreement, advise them that they are subject to such agreement and inform them that a copy of such agreement is available
online at td.com. The definition of "you" in the Privacy Agreement shall be deemed to include any such individual or
director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, b) and ¢) shall not apply where the Borrower is a public body, or a corporation that
has minimum net assets of $75 million on its last audited balance sheet and whose shares are traded on a Canadian stock
exchange or a stock exchange that is prescribed by section 3201 of the Income Tax Regulations, as may be amended from
time to time, and operates in a country that is a member of the Financial Action Task Force.

Consent to the Collection and/or Disclosure of Information — Business Customer (other than an Individual)

Customer Resolution Process

In this section, “you” means the business customer that is not an individual. In addition to any rights TD may have
regarding the collection and disclosure of your information, you authorize TD to obtain information about you from, and
disclose information about you to, our world-wide affiliates, other lenders, credit reporting or credit rating agencies, credit
bureaus and any supplier, agent or other party that performs services for you or on TD's behalf.

If the Borrower has a problem or concern the Borrower may contact TD Equipment Finance toll free at 1-800-263-3216, by
email at tdefcacs@td.com or the Borrower may visit TD Equipment Finance at 5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor,

- Burlington, Ontario L7L 5Y7. For a more detailed overview of TD Equipment Finance’s complaint process visit

English Language

www.td.com. Financial Consumer Agency of Canada (FCAC) — If the Borrower has a complaint regarding a potential
violation of a consumer protection law, a public commitment, or an industry code of conduct, the Borrower can contact the
FCAC in writing at: 6th Floor, Enterprise Building, 427 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario KIR 1B9. The FCAC can also
be contacted by telephone at 1-866-461-3222 (en frangais 1-866-461-2232) or through its website at www.fcac-acfe.ge.ca.
Please note that the FCAC does not become involved in matters of redress or compensation.

The parties hereto confirm their express wish that this Loan Agreement as well as all other documents related hereto,
including schedules and notices, be drawn up in the English language only; les parties aux présentes confirment leur volonté
expresse de voir la présente entente de prét de méme que tous les documents, y compris tous les annexes et avis, s’y
rattachant, rédigés en langue anglaise seulement.

We trust you will find this credit facility helpful in meeting your ongoing financing requirements. We ask that if you wish to accept this offer of financing, please do so by
signing and returning this Loan Agreement to the undersigned. This offer will expire if not accepted in writing and received by TD Equipment Finance on or before

September 14, 2022.

Yours truly,
TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of
The Toronto-Dominion Bank

Name/Title: Jennifer L Smith
T Manager Business Banking

A276



273
A277

TO: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

The Borrower hereby accepts the foregoing offer this 5 | day &\Q\ ,20 ZZ' The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit

facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

(Borrower):

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING &
DISTRIBUTION INC.

=
Per: ‘_) / --_\&
Name/Title: _b‘EN =Y %&E{Rﬁﬁ ; QZ_EQ \?@\3\
Per: %//;\ﬁ\
er. i
[ v

Name/Titleb‘&— Y}(’,\\ ; ( v -\-71)\\& A

cc. Guarantor(s)

TD Equipment Finance is providing the guarantor(s) with a copy of this Loan Agreement as a courtesy only. The delivery of a copy of this Loan Agreement does not create
any obligation on TD Equipment Finance to provide the guarantor(s) with notice of any changes to the credit facility(ies), including without limitation, changes to the terms
and conditions, increases or decreases in the amount of the credit facility(ies), the establishment of new credit facilities or otherwise. TD Equipment Finance may, or may not,
at its option, provide the guarantor(s) with such information, provided that TD Equipment Finance will provide such information upon the written request of the guarantor.
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Letter of Direction

Attached to and forming an integral part of Loan Agreement

#22112570 dated August 24, 2022

TO: TD EQUIPMENT FINANCE CANADA, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD Equipment Finance”)
FROM: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (“Borrower”)
RE: Direction to Pay $210,510.40 (the “Advance”)

To: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION (“Vendor”)

$210,510.40 (the “Advance”)
INC.

TD Equipment Finance is hereby irrevocably authorized and directed to pay the Advance to Vendor and this shall be TD Equipment Finance’s good and sufficient
authority for doing so.

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. Date: August 24, 2022

Borrower’s Name

The undersigned affirms that he/she/they is/are duly authorized to execute this Letter of Direction on behalf of Borrower. (Borrower must determine the required number
of corporate signatories. Witnesses are mandatory if the Borrower is an individual,)

By: ‘/7 4/ 2 : N

By:

Name/Title: ﬁ)ﬂ/ f%?(,p ( ﬂm‘/ﬁs—;?[.&g

Name/Title: c

Witness (if the Borrower is an individual):

Signature:

Name/Address of Witness
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Schedule “B”
TD EQUIPMENT FINANCE CANADA,

A division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

PRE-AUTHORIZED DEBIT (PAD) AGREEMENT

This PAD Agreement is attached to and forms part of Loan Agreement No. 22112570 (the “Agreement”) between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION
INC. (the “Borrower”) and TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“ TD Equipment”).

Borrower authorizes TD Equipment to debit the account indicated below or such other replacement account as indicated on a new void specimen cheque provided by
Borrower (each a “PAD Account”), with the amount of each loan payment on the due date thereof (specified in the “Repayment” section of the Agreement) and all other
amounts due by Borrower to TD Equipment from time to time pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement. Borrower waives any right to receive
pre-notification of the amount or due dates of any PAD .

Borrower acknowledges that this authorization is for business pre-authorized debits (“PADs™) and is being provided for TD Equipment’s benefit and the benefit of the
financial institution where the PAD Account is held (the “Processing Institution”), and is being provided in consideration of such Processing Institution agreeing to process
pre-authorized debit requests against the PAD Account in accordance with the rules of the Canadian Payments Association.

Name and Address of Borrower’s Financial Institution (Processing Institution):

Processing Institution Number: f Transit Number: Z—Lf <5‘ 2/ L Account Number: % é I?L %/
@ OO (Attach sample void cheque) 5 Z- I

Borrower acknowledges that 'delivery of this authorization to TD Equipment constitutes delivery by Borrower to the Processing Institution. Borrower agrees that the
Processing Institution is not required to verify that each PAD submitted by TD Equipment has been issued in accordance with this authorization (including the amount) or that
the purpose of the payment for which a PAD was made has been fulfilled as a condition of honouring a PAD.

Borrower may change or cancel this authorization at any time on fifteen (15) days prior written notice to TD Equipment. Borrower understands that this PAD Agreement only
applies to the method of payment under the Agreement and neither this authorization nor the cancellation thereof affects Borrower’s obligations to TD Equipment under the

Agreement. To obtain a sample cancellation form, or for more information on Borrower’s right to cancel a PAD Agreement, Borrower may contact its financial institution or
visit www.cdnpay.ca.

Borrower has certain recourse rights if any debit does not comply with this PAD Agreement such as the right to receive reimbursement for any debit that is not authorized or is
not consistent with this PAD Agreement. To obtain more information on recourse rights, Borrower may contact its financial institution or visit www.cdnpay.ca.

Borrower will notify TD Equipment promptly in writing of any change to the PAD Account at least two (2) weeks prior to the next due date of a PAD.

Borrower acknowledges that Borrower has received a signed copy of this PAD Agreement.

Contact Information: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor
Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7
Phone: 905-403-4770 Fax: 905-403-4771

Date: August 24, 2022

Borrower’s Name:
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

e
Signature of Authorized Signatory

A)MLA 4@@%? ! /Auwu of{}\f

Name and Title of Signing Officer=
(Complete only ifBprrower is a Col

ation)

T

P /
Signature’of Authorized Signatory

Name and=Fitle of Signing Offider
(Complete only if Borrower is a Corporation)
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SECURITY AGREEMENT FOR SPECIFIED
ASSETS #22112570

TO: The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the “Bank”)
Branch of the Bank: 5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor, Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7
Granted By: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

(the “Grantor™)

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Grantor agrees with the Bank as follows:

1. Security Interest

The Grantor hereby grants to the Bank a security interest in, and assigns, mortgages, charges and pledges (collectively the "Security Interest") to the Bank, the personal
property of the Grantor described or referred to in Schedule "A" together with the Proceeds (collectively called the "Collateral").

2. Obligations Secured

The Security Interest secures the payment and performance of all present and future obligations of the Grantor to the Bank, including all debts and liabilities, direct or indirect,
absolute or contingent, matured or not, wheresoever and howsoever incurred, whether incurred before, at the time of, or after the execution of this Agreement, whether the
indebtedness and liability is from time to time reduced and thereafter increased or entirely extinguished and thereafter incurred again, whether arising from dealings between
the Bank and the Grantor or from other dealings or proceedings by which the Bank may be or become in any manner whatsoever a creditor of the Grantor, and in any
currency, whether incurred by the Grantor alone or with another or others and whether as a principal or surety, including all interest thereon and all amounts owed by the
Grantor under this Agreement for fees, costs and expenses and in respect of indemnities granted under this Agreement (collectively called the "Obligations").

3.  Definitions

(@)  Any word or term that is not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning given to it in the Personal Property Security Act of the province in which
the Branch of the Bank is located, as amended from time to time, and being referred to in this Agreement as the "PPSA". Any reference herein to "Collateral" shall,
unless the context requires otherwise, be deemed to be a reference to "Collateral or any part thereof”.

(b)  The following terms shall have the respective meanings set out below:
"Branch of the Bank" means the branch of the Bank located at the address specified above.
"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the province in which the Branch of the Bank is located.

"Person" means any individual, sole proprictorship, joint venture, partnership, corporation, company, firm, association, co-operative, estate, government,
government agency, regulatory authority, trust, or any entity of any nature.

"Proceeds" means all proceeds of the property described above, including any property in any form derived directly or indirectly from any use or dealing with the
Collateral or the proceeds therefrom or that indemnifies or compensates for damage or loss to the Collateral or the proceeds therefrom.

4.  Representations & Warranties
The Grantor hereby represents and warrants with the Bank and so long as this Agreement remains in effect shall be deemed to continuously represent and warrant that:
(a) Location of Head Office. The address of the Grantor's chief executive office is set out below the name of the Grantor on the signature page of this Agreement;

(b) Location of Collateral. The Grantor will keep the Collateral at the address(es) specified in Schedule "A", or if left blank, at the address(es) specified on the
signature page of this Agreement or such other locations as have been agreed to by the Bank in writing;

(¢) Collateral Free and Clear. The Collateral is the sole property of the Grantor free and clear of all security interests, liens, charges, mortgages, hypothecs, leases,
licenses, infringements by third parties, encumbrances, statutory liens or trusts, other adverse claims or interests, or any rights of others, except for those security
interests which are expressly approved by the Bank in writing prior to their creation or assumption; and

(d) Status and Binding Obligation. The Grantor (i) if a corporation or company, has been duly incorporated, amalgamated or continued, as the case may be, and is
validly existing as a corporation or company, as the case may be, under the laws of its Jurisdiction of incorporation, amalgamation or continuance, as the case may
be, (ii) if not a corporation or company, has been duly created or established as a partnership, limited partnership or other entity and validly exists under the laws of
the jurisdiction in which it has been created or established, and (iii) is duly qualified to carry on business and own property in each jurisdiction where it carries on
business or where any of its property is located. The Grantor has adequate power, capacity and authority to carry on its business, own property, borrow monies and
enter into agreements therefor, execute and deliver this Agreement, and perform its obligations under this Agreement, which Agreement constitutes a legally valid
and binding obligation of the Grantor enforceable in accordance with its terms. The making of this Agreement will not result in the breach of, constitute a default
under, contravene any provision of, or result in the creation of, any lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance or any other rights of others upon any property of
the Grantor pursuant to any agreement, indenture or other instrument to which the Grantor is a party or by which the Grantor or any of its property may be bound or

affected.
5.  Covenants
The Grantor covenants and agrees with the Bank that:

(a) Place of Business and Location of Collateral. The Grantor shall not change its name, amalgamate with any other Person, or move any of the Collateral from the
address(es) set out on the signature page of this Agreement or the locations specified in Schedule "A" hereto without the prior written consent of the Bank;

(b) Notification. The Grantor shall notify the Bank promptly of: (i) any change in the information contained herein or in Schedule "A" hereto relating to the Grantor,
the Grantor's business or the Collateral; (ii) the details of any claims or litigation affecting the Grantor or the Collateral and will furnish the Bank with copies of the
details of such claims or litigation; and (iii) any loss or damage to the Collateral or any material adverse change in the value of the Collateral;
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(¢) Performance of Obligations. The Grantor shall observe and perform all its obligations under all material leases, licenses, undertakings and agreer 12 @ich it
is a party, obtain and preserve its rights, powers, licences, privileges, franchises and goodwill thereunder, and comply with all applicable laws, by-laws, rules,
regulations and ordinances in a proper and efficient manner so as to preserve and protect the Collateral and the business and undertaking of the Grantor in all
material respects. The Grantor shall also pay all rents, taxes, rates, levies, assessments and government fees or dues levied, assessed or imposed in respect of the

Collateral and other charges or any part thereof as and when the same become due and payable, and shall provide to the Bank, when requested, the receipts and
vouchers evidencing payment;

(d) Payment of Fees and Expenses. The Grantor will pay the Bank on demand all costs, fees and expenses (including legal fees on a solicitor and his own client
basis) incurred by the Bank in the preparation, execution, registration and perfection of this Agreement and the carrying out of any of the provisions of this
Agreement, including, protecting and preserving the Security Interest and enforcing by legal process or otherwise the remedies provided herein. All such costs and
expenses payable by the Grantor to the Bank shall bear interest from time to time at the highest interest rate then applicable to any of the Obligations, calculated
and compounded monthly, and shall be added to and form part of the Obligations secured hereunder;

(¢) Maintenance and Protection of Collateral/No Fixtures. The Grantor shall care for, protect and preserve the Collateral and not permit its value to be impaired
and will not permit the Collateral to be affixed to real or personal property so as to become a fixture or accession without the prior written consent of the Bank. The
Grantor shall keep the Collateral in good order, condition and repair and shall not use the Collateral in violation of the provisions of this Agreement or any other
agreement relating to the Collateral or any policy insuring the Collateral or any applicable statute, law, by-law, rule, regulation or ordinance. The Grantor shall
defend title to the Collateral against all claims and demands of all other Persons claiming the same or an interest therein;

()  Dealing with Collateral. (i) The Grantor will not sell, lease, transfer, assign, deliver or otherwise dispose of the Collateral or any interest therein without the prior
written consent of the Bank; (ii) All Proceeds shall continue to be subject to the Security Interest, granted hereby and all money received by the Grantor as Proceeds
shall be received as trustee for the Bank and shall be held separate and apart from other money of the Grantor, and shall be paid over to the Bank upon request; (iii)
All money collected or received by the Bank in respect of the Collateral may be applied on account of such parts of the Obligations as the Bank in its sole
discretion determines, or may be held unappropriated in a collateral account, or in the discretion of the Bank may be released to the Grantor, all without prejudice
to the Bank's rights against the Grantor. The Bank shall have the right at any time and from time to time to verify the existence and state of the Collateral in any
manner the Bank may consider appropriate and the Grantor agrees to furnish all assistance and information and to perform all such acts as the Bank may
reasonably request in connection therewith and for such purpose to grant to the Bank or its agents access to all places where Collateral may be located and to all
premises occupied by the Grantor;

(g) Maintenance of Records. The Grantor will keep proper books of account in accordance with sound accounting practice and mark any and all such records and the
Collateral at the Bank's request so as to indicate the Security Interest. The Grantor shall furnish to the Bank such financial information and statements and such
information and statements relating to the Collateral as the Bank may from time to time require and shall permit the Bank or its agents at any time at the expense of
the Grantor to examine the books of account and other financial records and reports relating to the Collateral and to make copies thereof and take extracts
therefrom and to make inquiries of third parties for the purpose of verification of such information. The Grantor authorizes any Person holding any books and
records to make them available, in a readable form, upon the request of the Bank;

(h)  Negative Pledge. The Grantor will not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lien, security interest, assignment, charge,
hypothec, encumbrance or statutory lien or trust (including any conditional sale, or other title retention agreement or finance lease) of any nature, on any of the
Collateral without the express prior written consent of the Bank;

() Insurance. The Grantor will keep the Collateral insured under policies with such coverage, for such amounts and with such insurers as are satisfactory to the Bank
from time to time, with loss thereunder, payable to the Bank and shall furnish the Bank with a copy of any policy of insurance, certificate of insurance or other
evidence satisfactory to the Bank that such insurance coverage is in effect;

(j)  Further Assurances. The Grantor will from time to time forthwith, at the expense of the Grantor, duly authorize, execute and deliver such further instruments and
documents, and take such further action, as the Bank may request for the purpose of obtaining or preserving the benefits of, and the rights and powers granted by,
this Agreement (including the filing of any financing statements or financing change statements under any applicable legislation with respect to the Collateral) and
for the purpose of correcting any deficiencies or clerical errors in this Agreement; and

(k) Landlord Agreement. The Grantor will, at the request of the Bank, obtain a written agreement from each landlord of premises where any of the Collateral is
located, in favour of the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank, whereby such landlord agrees to give notice to the Bank of any default by the
Grantor under the lease and a reasonable opportunity to cure such default prior to the exercise of any remedies by the landlord and acknowledges the Security
Interest created by this Agreement and the right of the Bank to enforce the Security Interest created by this Agreement in priority to any claim of such landlord,
including the right of the landlord to distrain on the Collateral for arrears of rent.

6. Survival of Representations and Warranties and Covenant

All agreements, representations, warranties and covenants made by the Grantor in this Agreement are material, will be considered to have been relied on by the Bank and will

survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any investigation made at any time by or on behalf of the Bank and any disposition or payment of the Obligations
until the indefeasible repayment and performance in full of the Obligations.

7.  Performance of Covenants by the Bank

(a) The Bank may, in its sole discretion and upon notice to the Grantor, perform any covenant of the Grantor under this Agreement that the Grantor fails to perform
including any covenant the performance of which requires the payment of money, provided that the Bank will not be obligated to perform such covenant on behalf
of the Grantor. The performance by the Bank of any such covenant shall not oblige the Bank to continue to perform any such covenant or other covenants nor
relieve the Grantor from any default or derogate from the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement. The Grantor agrees to indemnify and to reimburse
the Bank for all costs and expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the performance by it of any such covenant, and all such costs and expenses shall be
payable by the Grantor to the Bank on demand, shall bear interest at the highest rate per annum applicable to any of the Obligations, calculated and compounded
monthly, and shall be added to and form part of the Obligations.

(b)  In holding any Collateral, the Bank and any agent or nominee on its behalf is only bound to exercise the same degree of care as it would exercise with respect to
similar property of its own or of similar value held in the same or similar location. The Bank and any agent or nominee on its behalf will be deemed to have
exercised reasonable care with respect to the custody and preservation of the Collateral if it takes such action for that purpose as the Grantor reasonably requests in
writing, but failure of the Bank or its nominees to comply with any such request will not of itself be deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care.

8. Dealing with Security Interest

The Bank may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, give up any of the Security Interest, abstain from perfecting any of the Security Interest, accept compositions,
grant releases and discharges and waive rights against and otherwise deal with the Grantor, debtors of the Grantor, sureties and others and with any of the Collateral and any
other security as the Bank may see fit without prejudice to the liability of the Grantor or the Bank's right to hold and realize any of the Security Interest. The Bank shall not be
accountable to the Grantor for the value of any of the Security Interest released except for any moneys actually received by the Bank.
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Events of Default A2 8 2

Obligations not payable on demand shall, at the option of the Bank, become immediately due and payable upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events (each,
n "event of default"):

(a)
(b)
(©)

(@

(e)
®

(g)
(h)

()
®
k)
(0]

the Grantor fails to pay when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise, any of the Obligations;
the Grantor fails to perform any provision of this Agreement or of any other agreement to which the Grantor and the Bank are parties;

if any certificate, statement, representation, warranty, audit report or financial statement heretofore or hereafter furnished by or on behalf of the Grantor pursuant to
or in connection with this Agreement, or as an inducement to the Bank to extend any credit to or to enter into this or any other agreement with the Grantor, is
shown to have been false in any material respect or to have omitted any material fact; or if upon the date of execution of this Agreement, there shall have been any
material adverse change in any of the facts disclosed by any such certificate, representation, statement, warranty, audit report or financial statement, which change
shall not have been disclosed to the Bank at or prior to the time of such execution;

the Grantor ceases or threatens to cease to carry on business, commits an act of bankruptcy, becomes insolvent, proceedings or other actions are taken by or against
the Grantor under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) or similar legislation whether in Canada or
elsewhere, or the Grantor transfers all or substantially all of its assets to another Person;

a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official is appointed in respect of the Grantor or any of the Grantor's property;

the institution by or against the Grantor of any formal or informal proceeding for the dissolution or liquidation or settlement of claims against or winding up of
affairs of the Grantor;

an encumbrancer takes possession of any of the Collateral or any process of execution or distress is levied or enforced upon or against any of the Collateral;

any indebtedness or liability of the Grantor, other than to the Bank, becomes due and payable, or capable of being declared due and payable, before the stated
maturity thereof or any such indebtedness or liability shall not be paid at the maturity thereof or upon the expiration of any stated applicable grace period thereof,
or the Grantor fails to make payment when due under any guarantee given by the Grantor;

if the Grantor is an individual, the Grantor dies or is found by a court to be incapable of managing his or her affairs;
an execution or any other process of any court shall become enforceable against the Grantor;
if the Grantor is a partnership, the death of a partner; or

any other event which causes the Bank, in good faith, to deem itself insecure; and the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances or other extension of
credit that constitutes an Obligation.

Remedies
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Upon the occutrence of an event of default that has not been cured or waived, the Bank, in addition to any right or remedy otherwise provided herein or by law, will
have the rights and remedies set out below, which may be enforced successively or concurrently:

(i)  to take such steps as the Bank considers desirable to maintain, preserve or protect the Collateral or its value;

(i)  to take possession of the Collateral and require the Grantor to assemble the Collateral and deliver or make the Collateral available to the Bank at such place as
may be specified by the Bank and the Bank will not be or be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession by virtue of any such actions;

(iii) to exercise and enforce all rights and remedies of the Grantor with respect to the Collateral;
(iv) to carry on or concur in carrying on all or any part of the business of the Grantor;

(v) for the maintenance, preservation or protection of the Collateral or for carrying on any of the business of the Grantor, to borrow money on the security of the
Collateral, which security will rank in priority to the Security Interest, or on an unsecured basis;

(vi) to the exclusion of all others, including the Grantor, to enter upon, occupy and use all or any of the premises, buildings and plants owned or occupied by the
Grantor and use all or any of the Collateral of the Grantor for such time as the Bank requires to facilitate the preservation and realization of the Collateral, free
of charge, and the Bank will not be liable to the Grantor for any neglect in so doing or in respect of any rent, charges, depreciation or damages in connection
with such actions;

(vii) to sell, lease, license or otherwise dispose of or concur in selling. leasing, licensing or otherwise disposing of the Collateral upon such terms and conditions as
the Bank may determine;

(viii) to dispose of any of the Collateral in the condition in which it was at the date possession of it was taken, or after any commercially reasonable repair,
processing or preparation thereof for disposition;

(ix) if any part of the Collateral is perishable or will decline speedily in value, to sell or otherwise dispose of same without giving any notice of such disposition;
(x) to make any arrangement or compromise which the Bank shall think expedient in the interests of the Bank;
(xi) to appoint a consultant or monitor, at the Grantor's expense, to evaluate the value of the Collateral, and to review the options available to the Bank; and

(xii) to appoint or reappoint by instrument in writing any person or persons, whether an officer or officers or employee or employees of the Bank or not, to be a
receiver or receivers or a receiver and manager of the Collateral and remove or replace any person or persons so appointed or apply to any court for the
appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager (each hereinafter called a "Receiver").

Any Receiver so appointed shall be deemed to be the agent of the Grantor and not the Bank, and the Grantor and not the Bank, shall be solely responsible for the
Receiver's acts or defaults and for the Receiver's remuneration and expenses. The Bank shall not be in any way responsible for any misconduct, negligence or
failure to act on the part of any such Receiver, its servants, agents or employees.

The Grantor agrees to pay all costs, charges and expenses incurred by the Bank or any Receiver appointed by the Bank, whether directly or for services rendered
(including reasonable legal and auditors' costs and expenses and Receiver remuneration), in operating the Grantor's accounts, in preparing or enforcing this
Agreement, taking and maintaining custody of, preserving, repairing, processing, preparing for disposition and disposing of the Collateral and in enforcing or
collecting the Obligations, and all such costs, charges and expenses, together with any amounts owing as a result of any borrowing by the Bank or any Receiver
appointed by the Bank, as permitted hereby, shall be a first charge on the Collateral and shall be secured hereby.

The Bank will give the Grantor such notice, if any, of the date, time and place of any public sale or of the date after which any private disposition of the Collateral
is to be made as may be required by the PPSA.

The Grantor appoints any officer or employee of the Bank to be its attorney in accordance with applicable legislation with full power of substitution, to do on the
Grantor's behalf anything that is required to assign, license or transfer, and to record any assignment, license or transfer of the Collateral. This power of attorney,
which is coupled with an interest, is irrevocable until the release or discharge of the Security Interest.

ﬁzm’ngs

The Grantor authorizes the Bank to file such financing statements, financing change statements and other documents and do such acts, mA\Z



11.

279

(including completing and adding schedules hereto identifying any Collateral or identifying the locations at which the Collateral is located an 2!’8t1 any
clerical errors or deficiencies in this Agreement) as the Bank may deem appropriate to perfect on an ongoing basis and continue the Security Interest, {0 protect and
preserve the Collateral and to realize upon the Security Interest. The Grantor hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Bank and any of its officers or
employees from time to time as the true and lawful attorney of the Grantor, with full power of substitution, to do any of the foregoing in the name of the Grantor
whenever and wherever it may be deemed necessary or expedient. This power of attorney, which is coupled with an interest, is irrevocable until the release or
discharge of the Security Interest.

If the disposition of the Collateral fails to satisfy the Obligations secured by this Agreement including the expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the
preservation and realization of the Collateral as described above, the Grantor shall be liable to pay any deficiency to the Bank forthwith on demand.

Miscellaneous
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Interpretation. The division of this Agreement into Sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the
construction or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms "this Agreement", "hereof”, "hereunder” and similar expressions refer to this Agreement (including any
schedule now or hereafter annexed hereto) and not to any particular Section or other portion hereof. Unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to a Section or
Schedule refers to the specified Section of or Schedule to this Agreement. In this Agreement: (i) words importing the singular number only shall include the plural
and vice versa and words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa; (ii) the words "include", "includes" and
"including" mean "include”, "includes" or "including", in each case, "without limitation"; (iii) reference to any agreement or other instrument in writing means such
agreement or other instrument in writing as amended, modified. replaced or supplemented from time to time; (iv) unless otherwise indicated, time periods within
which a payment is to be made or any other action is to be taken hereunder shall be calculated excluding the day on which the period commences and including the
day on which the period ends; and (v) whenever any payment to be made or action to be taken hereunder is required to be made or taken on a day other than a
Business Day, such payment shall be made or action taken on the next following Business Day.

Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators,
successors and permitted assigns. In any action brought by an assignee of this Agreement and the Security Interest or any part thereof to enforce any rights
hereunder, the Grantor shall not assert against the assignee any claim or defence which the Grantor now has or hereafter may have against the Bank.

Amalgamation. The Grantor acknowledges and agrees that in the event it amalgamates with any other company or companies it is the intention of the parties
hereto that the term "Grantor" when used herein shall apply to each of the amalgamating companies and to the amalgamated company, such that the Security
Interest granted hereby shall (i) extend to any "Collateral” in which the amalgamated company thereafter has any rights, and (ii) shall secure the "Obligations" (as
that term is herein defined) of each of the amalgamating companies and the amalgamated company to the Bank at the time of amalgamation and any "Obligations"
of the amalgamated company to the Bank thereafter arising.

Joint and Several. If there is more than one Grantor named herein, the term "Grantor" shall mean all and each of them, their obligations under this Agreement
shall be joint and several, the Obligations shall include those of all or any one of them and no Grantor shall have the right of subrogation, exoneration,
reimbursement or indemnity whatsoever and no right of recourse to the Collateral for the Obligations hereunder unless and until all of the Obligations have been

paid or performed in full, notwithstanding any change for any cause or in any manner whatsoever in the composition of or membership of any firm or company
which is a party hereto.

Attachment of Security Interest. The Grantor acknowledges that value has been given and that the Security Interest granted hereby will attach when the Grantor
signs this Agreement and will attach to Collateral in which the Grantor subsequently acquires any rights, immediately upon the Grantor acquiring such rights. The
parties do not intend to postpone the attachment of any Security Interest created by this Agreement.

No Obligation to Advance. Neither the execution of this Agreement nor any advance of funds shall oblige the Bank to advance any funds or any additional funds
or enter into any transaction or renew any note or extend any time for payment of any of the Obli gations of the Grantor to the Bank.

Information. The Bank may provide any financial and other information it has about the Grantor, the Security Interest and the Collateral to any one acquiring or
who may acquire an interest in the Security Interest or the Collateral from the Bank or anyone acting on behalf of the Bank.

Assignment. The Bank may assign or transfer any of its rights under this Agreement without the consent of the Grantor. The Grantor may not assign its obligations
under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Bank.

Amendment. Subject to Section 10(f) of this Agreement, no amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by
all of the parties hereto. No course of conduct by the Bank will be deemed to result in an amendment of this Agreement.

Term. This Agreement shall be a continuing agreement in every respect for the payment of the Obligations and it shall remain in full force and effect until all of the
Obligations shall be indefeasibly paid in full or discharged by the Bank and until the Bank shall no longer have any commitment to the Grantor or any other
Person, the fulfillment of which, might result in the creation of Obligations of the Grantor.

Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity or
unenforceability will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Jjurisdiction where the Branch of the Bank is located.

Waiver by the Bank. No delay or omission by the Bank in exercising any right or remedy hereunder or with respect to any Obligations shall operate as a waiver
thereof or of any other right or remedy, and no single or partial exercise thereof shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other right or remedy.
Furthermore, the Bank may remedy any default by the Grantor hereunder or with respect to any Obligations in any reasonable manner without waiving the default
remedied and without waiving any other prior or subsequent default by the Grantor. No course of conduct of the Bank will give rise to any reasonable expectation
which is in any way inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement or the Bank's rights hereunder. All rights and remedies of the Bank granted or
recognized herein are cumulative and may be exercised at any time and from time to time independently or in combination.

Non-Substitution. The Security Interest is in addition to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafter held by the Bank.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement including any schedule now or hereafter annexed hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the Grantor and the Bank
with respect to the subject matter hereof. There are no representations, warranties, terms and conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or
statutory, between the parties except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

Acknowledgment. The Grantor acknowledges receipt of a fully exccuted copy of this Agreement and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, waives the right to
receive a copy of any financing statement, financing change statement or verification statement in respect of any registered financing statement or financing change
statement prepared, registered or issued in connection with this Agreement.

Execution. The Grantor agrees that this Agreement may be executed electronically and in counterparts.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Grantor has executed this Agreement this 24 day of August, 2022.

Witness as to execution

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTR

IBUTION IN
— )

Per:

280
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(authorized sigﬂamre)

Per:

(authorized’s

Per:

(authorized sig%rure)

Per:

(authorized signature)

Signature:

Name:

Address of Grantor:

Signature:

Name:

Address of Grantor:
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SCHEDULE “A” A285

THE COLLATERAL IS NOW AND WILL HEREAFTER BE LOCATED AT THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS(ES) (include Street/Town/City/Province): {If the Collateral is
customarily used in more than one location, list each location}

LOCATION OF COLLATERAL

105 GUTHRIE ST, AYR ON NOB 1E0

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION

SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICABLE)

2022 Pallet Racking c/w attachments and accessories
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EQUIPMENT DELIVERY ACKNOWLEDGESENT

TO: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor
Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7

RE: Loan and Security Agreement #22112570 between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. as Borrower/Guarantor and TD

Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

The undersigned hereby acknowledges and confirms that the equipment referred to in Invoice various dated various was delivered to the above noted customer
on the following date(s):

This contract is not entered into on behalf of a Third Party or intended to be used by a Third Party.

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

Pef: P / - .

Name/Title: AM ;,4 A&f}l Y e Kk U"«A"B(,\_/ -
M 7

b

Per: — :
Name/Title:, g é (A rﬂm // Ve Cf/’)u/{‘lf) /\3\
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FROM:

TO:

RE:

Customer hereby acknowledges that it is entering into an Agreement with TD Equipment Finance for the following equipment:

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (“Customer”)

TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD Equipment Finance”)
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Agreement dated the 24" day of August, 2022 between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. as Customer and TD Equipment Finance
(“Agreement”)

EQUIPMENT
NEW/ YEAR MAKE/MODEL DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER/
USED VIN
NEW 2022 Pallet Racking c/w attachments and accessories

Customer acknowledges it is unable to provide confirmation of payment with respect to the Equipment and hereby confirms that all Equipment pertaining to the Agreement and

between TD Equipment Finance and Customer is as per invoices and as per locations specified in the Agreement.

Customer further confirms that the Equipment has been paid for in full and is free and clear of all encumbrances, liens, claims and charges arising by or through Customer
(collectively, “Liens”) and Customer has all necessary right, title and interest in and to the Equipment to effectively convey title in and to the Equipment to TD Equipment Finance.
Customer agrees to indemnify and save TD Equipment Finance harmless from any and all damages, costs, losses, claims or demands which TD Equipment Finance sustains, incurs

or becomes liable as a result of any repossession, seizure or resale of such Equipment arising from the inability of Customer to convey title to the Equipment to TD Equipment
Finance free and clear of all Liens.

DATED this 24'" day of August, 2022.

Acknowledged by:

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

S~

By: &)

Name/Title:_ 4

By:

A

o

TN

Name/Title:

e
o

N 2ot

Co Eodln

1

AZBT
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Payment Adjustment Addendum - COF Changes

This Payment Adjustment Addendum is attached to and forms part of Agreement #22112570 dated August 24, 2022 the “Agreement”) between HERITAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the “Customer”) and TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TDEF”)

For good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

The Customer acknowledges and agrees that the periodic rent or loan payments set out in the Agreement are estimates only, based upon the anticipated interest rate of 6.11%
(the "Contract Rate"), which is the rate of interest based upon TDEF's cost of funds ("COF Rate") as of the date of the calculation and preparation of the Agreement.

The Customer acknowledges that the actual COF Rate interest rate on the date on which TDEF pays for such equipment or makes an advance in the case of a loan, may differ
from the above rate which will affect the Contract Rate. Accordingly, the required periodic rent or loan payments under the Agreement will be adjusted upwards or
downwards, as the case may be and in the same proportion to any increase or decrease in the Contract Rate as at the date on which TDEF pays for such equipment or makes
an advance in the case of a loan. TDEF is hereby expressly authorized to make all such adjustments to the Agreement (including adjusting the required periodic rent or loan
payments) as may be necessary to reflect any such change in the COF Rate.

TDEF will provide notice to the Customer of such change to the required periodic rent or loan payment under the Agreement.

Agreed and acknowledged this 24" day of August, 2022.

TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
Toronto-Dominion Bank

Per MM Per (—_\” ﬁ/ W\k

’ Jenl?hrLSmm\

Per___ [ el
Name/Title: / m/, ,44 /—t_/. .
VAT )
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TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor

Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7
Phone: 905-403-4770 Fax: 905-403-4771

Date: August 24, 2022

Bill To:
105 GUTHRIE ST
AYR ON NOB 1E0

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Admin Fee

$250.00

Total Due

$250.00

—/

s
Authorized Signatory

GST/HST# 105255145RT

285
INVOICE #9283570
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AMORTIZATION SCHIDOULE
TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor
Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7
Phone: 905-403-4770 Fax: 905-403-4771
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. - Contract # 22112570
FOR ACCOUNTING PURPOSES ONLY - NOT TO BE USED FOR PAYOUT PURPOSES
Compound Period: Monthly
Nominal Annual Rate: 6.11%
Date Payment Interest Principal Balance
Classical Loan 08/01/2022 210,510.40
1 08/31/2022 6,414.63 1,071.85 5,342.78 205,167.62
2 09/30/2022 6.414.63 1,044.65 5,369.98 199,797.64
3 10/31/2022 6,414.63 1,017.30 5,397.33 194,400.31
4 11/30/2022 6,414.63 989.82 5,424.81 188,975.50
5 12/31/2022 6,414.63 962.20 5,452.43 183,523.07
2022 Totals 32,073.15 5,085.82 26,987.33
6 01/31/2023 6,414.63 934.44 5,480.19 178,042.88
7 02/28/2023 6,414.63 906.54 5,508.09 172,534.79
8 03/31/2023 6,414.63 878.49 5,536.14 166,998.65
9 04/30/2023 6,414.63 850.30 5,564.33 161,434.32
10 05/31/2023 6,414.63 821.97 5,592.66 155,841.66
11 06/30/2023 6,414.63 793.49 5,621.14 150,220.52
12 07/31/2023 6,414.63 764.87 5,649.76 144,570.76
13 08/31/2023 6,414.63 736.11 5,678.52 138,892.24
14 09/30/2023 6,414.63 707.19 5,707.44 133,184.80
15 10/31/2023 6.414.63 678.13 5,736.50 127,448.30
16 11/30/2023 6,414.63 648.92 5,765.71 121,682.59
17 12/31/2023 6,414.63 619.57 5,795.06 115,887.53
2023 Totals 76,975.56 9,340.02 67,635.54
18 01/31/2024 6.414.63 590.06 5,824.57 110,062.96
19 02/29/2024 6,414.63 560.40 5,854.23 104,208.73
20 03/31/2024 6,414.63 530.60 5,884.03 98,324.70
21 04/30/2024 6,414.63 500.64 5.913.99 92,410.71
22 05/31/2024 6,414.63 470.52 5,944.11 86,466.60
23 06/30/2024 6,414.63 440.26 597437 80,492.23
24 07/31/2024 6,414.63 409.84 6,004.79 74,487.44
25 08/31/2024 6,414.63 379.27 6,035.36 68,452.08
26 09/30/2024 6,414.63 348.54 6,066.09 62,385.99
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Date Payment Interest Principal A2 9311ance
27 10/31/2024 6,414.63 317.65 6,096.98 56,289.01
28 11/30/2024 6,414.63 286.60 6,128.03 50,160.98
29 12/31/2024 6.414.63 255.40 6,159.23 44,001.75
2024 Totals 76.975.56 5,089.78 71,885.78
30 01/31/2025 6.414.63 224.04 6,190.59 37.811.16
31 02/28/2025 6,414.63 192.52 6,222.11 31,589.05
32 03/31/2025 6,414.63 160.84 6,253.79 25,335.26
33 04/30/2025 6,414.63 129.00 6,285.63 19,049.63
34 05/31/2025 6,414.63 96.99 6,317.64 12,731.99
35 06/30/2025 6,414.63 64.83 6,349.80 6,382.19
36 07/31/2025 6,414.63 3244 6,382.19 0.00
2025 Totals 44902.41 900.66 44,001.75
Grand Totals 230,926.68 20,416.28 210,510.40

Amounts listed are exclusive of all applicable taxes.
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BILL OF SALE

BETWEEN JBT TRANSPORT INC. (the “Seller”) and HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the “Buyer”).

WHEREAS the Seller wishes to sell and the Buyer wishes to buy all those goods as described on Schedule “A™ hereto attached (the “Assets”), on the terms and
conditions as described and in consideration of the following amounts:

Purchase Price: $1.00

Total: $0.00

NOW THEREFORE this Bill of Sale witnesses that for good and valuable consideration now paid by the Buyer to the Seller at or before the execution and
delivery of this Bill of Sale (the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged), the Seller grants, bargains, sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and sets over to
the Buyer, its successors and assigns, the Assets together with all right, title and interest of Seller therein and every part thereof.

The Seller covenants, promises and agrees with the Buyer that the Seller is now rightfully entitled to the sold, assigned and transferred property and Assets and
that the Seller now has good and valid right, title and authority to sell, assign and transfer to the Buyer, its successors and assigns, according to the true intent and
meaning of these presents and that the Buyer shall immediately after execution and delivery have possession of and may from time to time and at all times
peacefully and quietly have, hold, possess and enjoy the same and every part thereof to and for its own use and benefit without any manner of hindrance,
interruption, molestation, claim or demand whatsoever of, from or by the Seller or any person whomsoever and with good and marketable title thereto, free and
clear and absolutely released and discharged from and against all former and other bargains, sales, gifts, grants, mortgages, pledges, security interests, adverse
claims, liens, charges and encumbrances of any nature or kind whatsoever, and the Seller indemnifies and shall save the Buyer harmless with respect thereto.

The Seller covenants and agrees with the Buyer, its successors and assigns, that it will from time to time and at all times hereafter, on every reasonable request of
the Buyer, its successors and assigns, make do and execute or cause and procure to be made, done and executed all further acts, deeds or assurances as may be
reasonably required by the Buyer, its successors and assigns, for more effectually and completely vesting in the Buyer, its successors and assigns, the property and
assets sold, assigned and transferred in accordance with the terms of this Bill of Sale or for the purpose of registration or otherwise.

It is agreed that this Bill of Sale and everything herein contained shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the executors, administrators and assigns or
successors of the parties hereto respectively.

It is agreed that this Bill of Sale shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the Province of Ontario and of Canada, except
where all the Assets are in a province other than Ontario, in which case this Bill of Sale shall be governed by the applicable laws of that Province.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Seller has executed this Bill of Sale this 24t day of August, 2022.

Seller's GST/HST Number:

JBT TRANSPORT INC.
o

Per:

Title:

Per:

Title:
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SCHEDULE “A” A293

This is Schedule “A” to Bill of Sale dated August 24, 2022 between JBT TRANSPORT INC. as Seller and HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. as
Buyer.

YEAR MAKE/MODEL DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER/VIN

2022 Pallet Racking c/w attachments and accessories
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TD Equipment Finance Canada, o division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

5045 South Scrvice Road, 4th Floor

Burlington. ON L7L 37

Phene: 905-403-4770 Fax: 905-403-4771

Date:
Lender
Borrower

Borrower’s Address

Credit Limit

Type of Credit
and Borrowing Options

Term

Amortization

Interest Rate
Administration Fee
Guarantor(s).if applicable

Drawdown

Repavment

No Prepavment

Security

Disbursement Conditions

Events of Default

January 20, 2023
TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (* TD Equipment Finance™)
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the “Borrower™)

105 GUTHRIE ST
AYR ON NOB 1E0

The borrowings not to exceed: Four hundred twenty-two thousand eight hundred thirty-one dollars ($422,831.00)

Equipment Financing Term Fucility available by way of a Fixed Rate Term Loan in Canadian Dollars
36 months from the date of drawdown:

3 yeurs

Fixed Rate - 6.45% per annum

The Borrower has paid or will pay prior 1o a drawdown hereunder a non-refundable administeation foe of 750,00

One time drawdown prior to February 10, 2023 Amounts repaid may not be redrawn.

Interest shall be computed from the day of the drawdown. The principal and interest shall be repaid in

36 Monthly payment(s) of’ $12,949.73 CAD

commencing on the 23" duy of February, 2023 and continuing on a Monthly basis period thereufier, The balance. if
any. of the principal and interest shall be puid on or before the last day of the Term period, Each installment shall be
applied first in payment of interest and the balanee. it any, shall be applied in reduction of principal.

Except as expressly provided for herein, or as otherwise agreed to by TD Equipment Finance in writing (and on terms and
conditions set by TD Equipment Finance in its sole and absolute discretion), the Borrower shall have no right o prepay the

outstanding principal in whole or in part during the Term ,

The following documentation (“Security™) shall be provided and shall, unless otherwise indicated, support all present and
future indebtedness and liability of the Borrower to TD Equipment Finance, shall be registered in first position, and shall
be on TD Equipment Finance's standard form, supported by resolutions and Solicitor’s Letter of Opinion, if required, all
acceptable to TD Equipment Finance:

. Security Agreement for Specified Assets (“Security Agreement™)

. Sublease Addendum (if applicable) !

. Postponement of Shareholders Loans (if applicable)

Such other security as may be reasonably required by TD Equipment Finance and its legal counsel,

The obligation of TD Equipment Finance to permit the drawdown hereunder is subject to the following Disbursement
Conditions:

TD Equipment Finance shall have reecived the following documents which shall be in form and substance sutsfaciory to
TD Lquipment Finance:

. Duly executed resolution of the Board of Directors of the Borrower empowering the Borrow cr b i nito
this Loun Agreement:

. Duly executed original copies of all required Security

. Duly executed copy of this Loan Agreement;

. Executed Letter of Direction re disbursement of the drawdown:

. Pre-Authorized Debit (PAD) Agreement

*  Confirmation of Insurance of PL/PD coverage with TD Equipment Finance noted as loss puy e

. Confirmation that all Collateral (as defined in the Security Agreement for Speciticd Aswisi ta be
domiciled m Canada
- Delivery and Acceptance Certificate

. Confirmation of PPSA/RDPRM registration

. Subordination/Priorities Agreements or Postponement on specific equipment (if applicable)

* Confirmation that all applicable axes 1o be paid up front by Borrower

. A copy of the Borrower's most recent quarterly financial statements, TD Equipment Finance credit review
of Collateral to confirm satisfactory including copy of invoice, full description of Collateral and
amortization schedule based on proposed Collateral.

. Any additional security as required by TD Equipment Finance

The representations and warranties contained in the Security Agreement for Specified Assets are true and correct.

TD Equipment Finance may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under this Loan Agreemenl, at any time after
the occurrence of any one of the following Events of Default:

ay  Non-payment of principal outstanding under this Loan Agreement when due or nun-puyAngEcrcsl or
fees outstanding under this Loan Agreement within 3 Business Days of when due.
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b)  Ifthere is a breach or non-| pLI'ﬂH'I]MIILL‘ or non-observance of any term or condition of th lz%cmncm
or the Seeurity and, if such default is capable 1o being remedied, the default mntlnus. b for 5
Business Days after the oceurrence.

¢) Ifthe Borrower makes & general assignment for the benefit of ereditors, files or presents a petinon. makes
a proposal or commits any act of bunkruptey. or if any action is taken for the windizg up. Ly wion o the
appointment of a liquidator, trustee in bankruptey. custodian, curator, sequestrator, receiver o aiy aiher
officer with similar powers or if' a judgment or order shall be entered by any court approving a petition for
reorganization, arrangement or composition of or in respect of the Borrower or if the Borrower is insolvent
or declared bankrupt.

d) I there exists an event. the effect of which with lapse of time or the giving of notice. will constituie an
event of default or a default under any other agreement for borrowed money entered into by the Borrower,

e)  Ifthe Seeurity is not enforceable or if any party o the Secunity shall dispute or den wny liabiliy o any of
its obligations under the Security.

“Business Day™ means any day (other than a Sawrday or Sunday) that TD Equipment Finance is open for business,

Should the Borrower fail 1o pay when due the whole or any part of any payments or any other sum owed to Lender under
this Loan Agreement, the Borvower shall pay to TD Equipment Finance in addition thereto, a collection charge equal to the
greater of ten dollars (§10.00) for each month or part thereof for which said payment or other sum shall be overdue. or the
interest on any and all overdue payments and amounts in default from date thereof until paid in full at the rate of eighteen
percent (18%) per annum (or such other rate as may be notified o the Borrower from time to time) caleulated and
compounded monthly. Such collection charges shall be due and payable on demand. TD Equipment Finance shall have the
right to deduct such collection charges and interest from any payment received before crediting the balance of such payment
lo the debt owed by the Borrower, other overdue payments and amounts in default, The Borrower further agrees 1o pay to
TD Equipment Finance a fee for cheques returned due to non-sufficient funds or other reasons (an “NSF Cheque™) to
reimburse TD Equipment Finance for its time and expense incurred with respect to an NSF Cheque. Such NSF charge shall
be $48.00 (which amount is subject to change at the sole discretion of TD Equipment Finance). If uny provision of this
Loan Agreement would obligate the Borrower 1o make any payment of interest or other amount payable to TD Equipment
Finance in an amount or calculated at a rate which would be prohibited by law or would result in a receipt by TD
Equipment Finance of interest at a criminal rate (as such terms are construed under the Criminal Code (Canada)) then,
nolwnhslandmb such provisions. such amount or rate shall be deemed to have been adjusted with retroactive effect to the
maximum amount or rate of interest, as the case may be, as would not be so prohibited by law or so result in a receipt by TD
Equipment Finance of interest at & criminal rate. such adjustment to be effected, to the extent necessary. as follows:

(1) firstly, by reducing the amount or rate of interest required to be paid to TD Equipnient Fininee ander this
Loan Agreement. and

(2) thereafier, by reducing any fees. commissions, premiums and other amounts required (v be pad (0 1D
Equipment Finance which would constitute “interest™ for purposes of Section 347 of the Criminal Code
(Canada).

If TD Eguipment Finance aceclerates the payment of principal and interest hereunder, the Borrower shall invncdiately pay
to T'D Equipment Finance all amounts outstanding hereunder.

TD Equipment Finance shall record on its records the amount of all loans made hereunder, payinenis made m respect
thereto, and all other amounts becoming due o TD Equipment Finance under this Loan Agrecment. 1D Lquipment
Finance's records constitute, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the Borrower to
TD Equipment Finance pursuant Lo this Loan Agreement.

All information that the Borrower has provided to TD Eguipment Finance respecting, where applicable:
(i) the names of the Borrower's directors and the names and addresses of the Borrower's beneficial owners:
(i) the names and addresses of the Borrower's trustees. known beneficiaries and/or settlors: and
(iii) the Borrower's ownership. control and structure.

15 accurate and complete.

TD Equipment Finance reserves the right to request from the Borrower updated information and/or additional supporting
information.

TD Equipment Finance may assign or grant participation in all or part of this Loan Agreement or in any loan made
hereunder without notice to and without the Borrower's consent. - The Borrower may not assign or transfer all or any part of
its rights or obligations under this Loan Agreement.

Borrower shall pay TD Equipment Finance all reasonable fees including but not limited to all reasonable legal and
documentation fees and expenses incurred by TD Equipment Finunce in establishing, completing its due diligence,
documenting and monitoring the loan as well as the expenses of TD Equipment Finance in connection with the enforcement
of its rights under this Loun Agreement whether or not the final loan and security documentation are executed or any
amounts are advanced, including, without limitation, any owtside or in-house counsel fees and expunses, iy professional
advisory fees and expenses, and any fees and expenses relating o the registration, perfection, preserva o, renwal or
discharge of any security/hypothee granted to or wken by TD Equipment Finance (including, sithout lination os
applicable, Personal Property Security Act and Le Registre des droits personnels et réels mobilicrs regisition [ees
estublished by the applicable federal, provincial and/or territorial government(s)). the registration, licensing, possession. use
or operation of the Collateral and all taxes and duties on or relating to the Collateral together with all other expenses and
outgoings relating 1o the Collateral, the failure of Borrower to pay or perform any of the obligations of (his Loan Agreenent,
the enforcement by any meuns of uny of the obligations or any provision of this Loan Agreement. the excrcise of any rizhts,
powers or remedies under this Loan Agreement or any other agreement evidencing or relating 1o the oblivation, hercunder
(including all such fees and expenses in connection with recovering or taking possession of the Cuollucil, remoying or
taking custody of. the storing. preserving. processing. repair, reconditioning or dismantling ol Collieral. preparing
Collateral for lease, sale or other disposition and leasing. selling or otherwise disposing of Collateral), the rendering of
finuncial services under this Loan Agreement (:mludmb. without limitation, for processing of payn ndering
statements to Borrower ) and the preparation of end of Term documentation. at TD Equipment Finanee's Aggé
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If Borrower qualifics as an Eligible Enterprise as defined in the Bank Act (an "Eligible linlurprisc"m%z:is with
authorized credit of less thun CADS1,000.000, fewer than 500 employees and annual reverfudy s than
CADS$50,000,000) and the facility/ies hereunder are not secured by a mortgage on real property, Borrower has the right to
cancel this Loan Agreement without incurring a cancellation charge until the end of the third business day after the day on
which the Loan Agreement is entered into and Borrower may be entitled 1o the refund of certain fees other than (i) any
amounts related to Borrower's use of this product or service prior to the cancellation: and (i) any expense that TD
Equipment Finance has reasonably incurred in providing this product or service.

Consent to the Collection, Use and/or Disclosure of Information - Individuals

In this section, "you" means: (i) any individual, or that individual's authorized representative. who is the Borrower: (ii) any
individual who is a partner of the Borrower; and (iii) the signing authorities, as identified to us, of the Borrower, In this
section and in the section, "Consent to the Collection and/or Disclosure of Information — Business Customer (other than an
Individual)” below, the words "we", "us" and "our” mean TD Bank Group ("TD"). TD includes The Toronto-Dominion
Bank and its world-wide affiliates, including TD Equipment Finance, which provide deposit, investment. loan. securities,
trust, insurance and other produets or services. The word "Information means financial, personal und oier details about

you, that you provide 1o us and we obtain from others owside our organization, including through the prodie s nlsoriees
that are provided by us to the Borrower, You agree that. at the time you request to begin a relationship wik us o durmg
the course of your relationship with us, we may share your Information with our world-wide affiliates, und collocl e and

disclose your Information as deseribed in the Privacy Agreement separately provided to you and available online ol rdeom,
including for, but not limited to, the purposes of identifying you. providing you with ongoing service, helping us serve yvou
better, protecting us both from fraud and error, complying with legal and regulatory requirements, and marketng products
and services to you, We may communicate with you for any of these purposes by telephone, fux. text messazing, or other
electronic means, and autemartic dialing-announcing device, at the numbers you have provided 1o us, or by VAL fnerel,
mail, email and other methods, To understand how you can withdraw your consent, refer to the "VMarkenny Purposes”
section of the Privacy Agreement or contact us at 1-866-567-8888. If;
a) there are changes to the signing authorities of the Borrower; or
by at the time of entering into this Loun Agreement, the Borrower, it a corporation, has any individual who owns or
controls, directly or indirectly. 25 per cent or more of the shares of the corporation, or has any dircetor, where
such individual or director is not, at such time. either a signing authority of the corporation or a personal
banking customer of TD: or
¢)  at the time of entering into this Loan Agreement the Borrower, if other than a corporation, has any individual
who owns or controls, directly or indireetly, 25 per cent or more of the Borrower, where such individual is not,
at such time, either a signing authority of the Borrower or a personal banking customer of TD:
then the Borrower, agrees to make such signing authorities and any such individual or director aware of the Privacy
Agreement, advise them that they are subject 1o such agreement and inform them that 4 copy of such agreement is available
online at td.com. The definition of "you" in the Privacy Agreement shall be deemed to include any such individual or
director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, b) and ¢} shall not apply where the Borrower is a public body. or a corporation that
has minimum net assets of $75 million on its last audited balance sheet and whose shares are traded on a Canadian stock
exchange or a stock exchunge that is prescribed by section 3201 of the Income Tax Regulations, as may be amended from
time to time, and operates in u country that is a member of the Financial Action Task Force.

Consent to the Collection and/or Disclosure of Information — Business Customer (other than an Individual)

Customer Resolution Process

English Language

In this section, “you™ means the business customer that is not an individual. In addition to any rights TD may have
regarding the collection and disclosure of your information, you authorize TD to obtain information about you from. and
disclose information about you to. our world-wide affiliates, other lenders. credit reporting or credit rating agencies., credit
bureaus and any supplicr, agent or other party that performs services for you ar on TD's behalf.

If the Borrower has a problem or concern the Borrower may contact TD Equipment Finance toll free ar [-500-2
email at tdefeacs@td.com or the Borrower may visit TD Equipment Finance at 5045 South Serviee Road. b oo,
Burlington, Ontario L7L 5Y7. For a more detailed overview of TD Equipment Finance's complaint process visil
www.td.com. Financial Consumer Agency of Canada (FCAC) — If the Borrower has a complaint regarding o porential
violation of a consumer protection law, a public commitment, or an industry code of conduct, the Borrower can contiwt the
FCAC in writing at: 6th Floor. Enterprise Building, 427 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario KR 189, The ['CAC can also
be contacted by telephone at 1-866-461-3222 (en frangiis 1-806-461-2232) or through its website al www Jeacsiele.geca,
Please note that the FCAC does not become mvolved in matters of redress or compensation,

The parties hereto confirm their express wish thar this Loan Agreement as well as all other documents reloed hereto,
including schedules und notices, be drawn up in the English language only; les parties aux présentes contivment leur volonié
expresse de voir la présenie entente de prét de méme que tous les documents, y compris lous les annexes et avis, s’y
rattachant, rédigés en langue anglaise seulement,

We trust you will find this credit facility helpful in meeting your ongoing financing requirements. We ask that if you wish to accept this offer of financing, pleuse do so by
signing and returning this Loan Agreement to the undersigned. This offer will expire if not accepted in writing and received by TD Equipment Finance on or before

February 10, 2023,

Yours truly,
TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of
The Toronto-Dominion Bank

Per:

Name/Title:

A297



294
A298

TO: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

The Borrower hereby accepts the foregoing offer this (,Q day E‘_kmn &' .2(’%5 . The Borrower confirms that, excepl as may be set out above. the credit

facility(ics) detailed herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

(Borrower):

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING &
DISTRIBUTION INA
Per: __; /
namerne eSS Mecde i ros, Presidiert

Per;

vamere: K 1\ Gates, Corroller

ce. Guarantor(s)

.
TD Equipment Finance is providing the guarantor(s) with a copy of this Loan Agreement as a courtesy only. The dehvery of a copy of this Lo Agrecnient does not creale
any obligation on TD Equipment Finance to provide the guarantor(s) with notice of any changes to the eredit facilityties), including without limitation. chanpes o the erms
and conditions, increases or decreases in the amount of the credit facility(ies). the establishment of new credit facilities or otherwise. TD Equipment Finanee niay, or may not,
at its option, provide the guarantor(s) with such information, provided that TD Equipment Finance will provide such information upon the written request of the guarantor.
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Letter of Direction

Attached to and forming an integral part of Loan Agreement

#23001470 dated January 20, 2023

TO: TD EQUIPMENT FINANCE CANADA, a division of The Toronte-Dominion Bank (*TD Equipment Finance™)
FROM: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC, (“Borrower™)
RE: Direction to Pay $422,831.00 (the “Advance™)
To: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.  (*Vendor™) $422.831.00 (the “Advance™)

TD Equipment Finance is hereby irrevocably authorized and directed to pay the Advance to Vendor and this shall be TD Equipment Finance’s good and sufficient
authority for deing so.

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. Date; January 20, 2023

Borrower's Name

.

The undersigned affirms that he/she/they istare duly authorized to execure this Letter of Divection on behalf of Borrower. (Borrower must determine the required number
of corporate signatories. Witnesses are mandatory if the Borrower is an individiuual.)

B €2 / = e _"Kjﬂ%\iﬁ[&hﬁ,_
«\':mw‘Tin'e:.‘-Dg [ |\ > l I !S L \'Of qurs : }. Q(‘_“ﬂ \ Name/Tiile: Ktl\\ll. &‘ﬁﬁ:%\ CDM m\\ep

Witness (if the Borrower is an individual):

Signature:

Name/Address of Witness
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Schedule “B”
TD EQUIPMENT FINANCE CANADA,

A division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

PRE-AUTHORIZED DEBIT (PAD) AGREEMENT

This PAD Agreement is attached to and forms part of Loan Agreement No. 23001470(the ~“Agreement”™) between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION
INC. (the “Borrower™) and TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (* TD Equipment™).

Borrower authorizes TD Equipment to debit the account indicated below or such other veplacement account as indicated on a new void -\pulmw chegue provided by
Borrower (each a “PAD Account™), with the amount of each loan payment on the due date thereof (specified in the “Repayment™ section of the At it ail ather
amounts due by Borrower to TD Equipment from time to tme pursuant (o the terms and conditions of the Agreement. Borrower waives m,\ Pheh i pecvive
pre-notification of the amount or due dates of any PAD .

Borrower acknowledges that this authorization is for business pre-uuthorized debits (“PADs™) and is being provided for TD Equipment’s benefit and the benetic of the
financial institution where the PAD Account is held (the “Processing Institution™), and is being provided in consideration of such Processing Institution sgrecing 1o provess
pre-authorized debit requests against the PAD Account in accordance with the rules of the Canadian Payments Association.

Name and Address of Borrower’s Financial Institution (Processing Institution);

Processing Institution Number: Transit Number: Account Number:

(Attach sample void cheque)

Borrower acknowledges that delivery of this authorization to TD Equipment constitutes delivery by Borrower to the Processing Institution, Borrower agrees that the
Processing Institution is not required to verify that each PAD submitted by TD Equipment has been issued in accordunce with this authorization (including the amount) or that
the purpose of the payment for which a PAD was made has been fulfilled as a condition of honouring a PAD.

Borrower may change or cancel this authorization at any time on fifteen (15) days prior written notice to TD Equipment.  Borrower understands that this PAD Agreement only
applies to the method of payment under the Agreement and neither this authorization nor the cancellation thereof affects Borrower’s obligations to TD Equipment under the
Agreement, To obtain a sample cancellation form, or for more information on Borrower’s right to cancel a PAD Agreement, Borrower may contact its financial institution or
visit www.cdnpay.ca.

Borrower has certain recourse rights if any debit does not comply with this PAD Agreement such as the right to receive reimbursement for any debit that is not authorized or is
not consistent with this PAD Agreement. To obtain more information on recourse rights, Borrower may contact its financial nstitution or visit www.cdnpay.ca.

Borrower will notify TD Equipment promptly in writing of any change to the PAD Account at least two (2} weeks prior to the next due date of a PAD.
Borrower acknowledges that Borrower has received a signed copy of this PAD Agreement,

Contact Information: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road, 4th Floor
Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7
Phone: 905-403-4770  Fax: 905-403-4771

Date: banuary 20, 2023

Borrower’s Name:
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

”“))A

SignawrE of Authorized Signatory

Denis
Name and Title of Signing Officer
(Complete only if Borrower is a Corporation)

ol Naho,

Signature O“Auﬂlonzed Signatory

Relly Goles, Controlie

Name antd Title of Signing Officer
(Complete only if Borrower is a Corporation)
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SECURITY AGREEMENT FOR 51 IED
ASSETS #23001470

TO: The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the “Bank™)
Branch of the Bank: 3045 South Service Road, 4th Floor, Burlington. ON L7L 5Y7
Granted By: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

{the “Grantor™)

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Grantor agrees with the Bank as follows:

1. Security Interest

The Grantor hereby grants to the Bank a security interest in, and assigns, morigages, charges and pledges (collectively the "Security Interest”) 1o the Bank, the personal
property of the Grantor described or referred to in Schedule "A" together with the Proceeds (collectively called the "Collateral™).

2. Obligations Secured

The Security Interest secures the payment and performance of all present and future obligations of the Grantor to the Bank. including all debts and habilities, dicect or indirect,
absolute or contingent, matured or not, wheresoever and howsoever incurred, whether incurred before, at the time of, or after the execution of this Agreement, whether the
indebtedness and liability is from time to time reduced and thereafier increased or entirely extinguished und thereafier incurred again, whether arising from dealings between
the Bank and the Grantor or from other dealings or proceedings by which the Bank may be or become in any manner whatsoever a creditor of the Grantor, and in any
currency, whether incurred by the Grantor alone or with another or others and whether as a principal or surety. including all interest thereon and all amounts owed by the
Grantor under this Agreement for fees, costs and expenses and in respeet of indemnities granted under this Agreement (collectively called the "Obligations"),

3. Definitions

() Any word or term that is not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning given o it in the Personal Property Security Act of the provinee i which
the Branch of the Bank is located, as amended from time to time, .uul being referred to in this Agreementas the "PPSA". Any reference hercin o "Colluteral” shull,
» unless the context requires otherwise, be deemed to be a reference to "Collaterul or any part thereof”,

(b)  The following terms shall have the respective meanings sct out below:
"Branch of the Bank" means the branch of the Bank located at the address specified above.
"Business Day" means any day other than a Satrday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the provinee in which the Branch of the Bank is located

"Person” means any individual, sole proprictorship, joint venture, partnership, corporation, company. firm, association, co-operative, estate, government,
government agency. regulatory authority, trust, or any entity of any nature,

"Proceeds" means all proceeds of the property described above. including any property inany form derived direetly or indireetly from any use or dealing with the
Collateral or the proceeds therefrom or that indemnifies or compensates for damage or loss 1o the Collateral or the proceeds therefrom.

4. Representations & Warranties
The Grantor hereby represents and warrants with the Bank and so long as this Agreement remains in effect shall be deemed to continuously represent and warrant that:
(1) Location of Head Office. The address of the Grantor's chief executive office is set out below the name of the Grantor on the signature page of this Agreement:

(b) Location of Collateral, The Grantor will keep the Collateral at the address(es) specified in Schedule "A", or if left blank, at the addressies) specified on the
signature page of this Agreement or such other locations as have been agreed to by the Bank in writing:

(¢) Collateral Free and Clear. The Collateral is the sole property of the Grantor free and clear of all security interests, liens, charges, mortgages. hypothees, leases,
licenses, infringements by third parties, encumbrances, statutory liens or trusts, other adverse claims or interests, or any rights of others, except for those security
interests which are expressly approved by the Bank in writing prior to their creation or assumption: and

(d) Status and Binding Obligation. The Grantor (1) if a corporation or company, has been duly incorporated. amalgamated or continued. as the case may be, and is
validly existing as a corporation or company, as the case may be, under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, amalgamation or continuance. us the cise may
be, (ii) if not a corporation or company. has been duly created or estublished as a partnership. limited partnership or other entity and validly ¢xists inde the iws of
the jurisdiction in which it has been created or established. and (iii) is duly qualified 1o carry on business and own property in each jurisdiction | [ eyics on

= business or where any of its property is located. The Grantor has adequate power, capacity and authority o carry on its business, own property, boros o ind
enter into agreements therefor, execute and deliver this Agreement, and perform its obligations under this Agreement, which Agreement constituies valid
and binding obligation of the Grantor enforceable in accordunce with its terms. The making of this Agreement will not result in the breach of, L\III‘*“LHh a detiault
under, contravene any provision of, or result in the creation of, any lien, charge. security interest, encumbrance or any other rights of others upon uny property ol
the Grantor pursuant to any agreement, indenture or other instrument to which the Grantor is a party or by which the Grantor or any of its property may be bowd o
affected.

5. Covenants
The Grantor covenants and agrees with the Bank that

(2) Place of Business and Location of Collateral. The Grantor shall not change its name, amalgamate with any other Person, or move any of the Collateral from  the
address(es) set out on the signature puge of this Agreement or the locations specitied i Schedule "A" hereto without the prior written consent of the Bank:

(b) Notification. The Grantor shall notify the Bank promptly of: (1) any change in the information contained herein or in Schedule A" hereto relating to the Grantor,
the Grantor's business or the Collateral; (ii) the details of uny claims or litigation affecting the Grantor or the Collateral and will furnish the Bank with copies of the
details of such ¢laims or litigation; and (iii) any loss or damage 1o the Collateral or any material adverse change in the value of the Collateral;



(c)

(d)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Performance of Obligations. The Grantor shall observe and perform all its obligations under all material leases, licenses, undertakings and agreements to which it
is a party, obtain and preserve its rights, powers, licences, privileges, franchises and goodwill thereunder. and comply with all applicable IA-BIOQ[M rules.
regulations and ordinances in a proper and efficient manner so as o preserve and protect the Collateral and the business and undertaking of the Grimtor in all
material respects. The Grantor shall also pay all rents, taxes, rates, levies, assessments and government fees or dues levied, assessed or imposed in respect of the
Collateral and other charges or any part thereof as and when the same become due and payable, and shall provide to the Bank, when requested, the receipts and
vouchers evidencing payment;

Payment of Fees and Expenses. The Grantor will pay the Bank on demand all costs. fees and expenses (including legal fees on a soliciior and his own client
basis) incurred by the Bank in the preparation, execution, registration and perfeetion of this Agreement and the carrying out of any of the provisions of this
Agreement, including, protecting and preserving the Security Interest and enforcing by legal process or otherwise the remedies provided herein. All such costs and
expenses payable by the Grantor o the Bunk shall bear interest from time to time at the highest interest rate then applicable to any of the Oblizations, caleulated
and compounded monthly, and shall be added 1o and form part of the Obligatons secured hereunder:

Maintenance and Protection of Collateral/No Fixtures, The Grantor shall care for, proteet und preserve the Collateral and not permit s value v i poied
and will not permit the Collateral to be affixed to real or personal property so as to become a fixture or accession without the prior written consent of the Bank, The
Grantor shall keep the Collateral in good order, condition and repair and shall not use the Collateral in violation of the provisions of this Agreement or winy oiher
agreement relating to the Collateral or any policy insuring the Collateral or any applicable statute, law, by-law, rule, regulation or ordinunce. The Grantur <hall
defend title to the Collateral against all claims and demands of ull other Persons claiming the same or an interest therein:

Dealing with Collateral. (i) The Grantor will not sell, lease, transter, assign, deliver or otherwise dispose of the Collateral or any interest therein without (he prior
written consent of the Bank; (ii) All Proceeds shall continue to be subject 1o the Security Interest, granted hereby and all money received by the Gt as Poceeds
shall be received as trustee for the Bunk and shall be held separute and apart from other money of the Grantor. und shall be paid over (o the Bunk upoon gt i)
All money collected or received by the Bank in respect of the Collateral may be applied on account of such parts of the Obligations as the Baulo e its sole
disceretion determines, or may be held unappropriated in o collueral secount, or in the diseretion of the Bunk may be released to the Grantor, all without prejudice
to the Bank's rights against the Grantor, The Bank shall have the might at any time and from time 1o time to verify the existence and state of the Collateral in any
manner the Bank may consider appropriate and the Grantor agrees to furnish all assistance and information and to perform all such acts as the Bank may
reasonably request in connection therewith and for such purpose 1o grant 1o the Bank or its agents aceess to all places where Collateral may be located and 1o all
premises occupied by the Grantor;

Maintenance of Records. The Grantor will keep proper books of account in accordance with sound aceounting practice and mark any and all such records and the
Collateral at the Bank's request so as to indicate the Security Interest, The Grantor shall furnish to the Bank such financial information and statements and such
information and statements relating to the Collateral as the Bank may from time to time require und shall permit the Bank or its agents at any lime at the expense of
the Grantor to examine the books of account and other financial records and reports relating to the Collateral und to make copies thercof and tuke extracts
therefrom and to make inquiries of third parties for the purpose of verification of such information. The Grantor authorizes any Person holding any books and
records 1o make them available, in a readable form, upon the request of the Bank:

Negative Pledge. The Grantor will not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, any mortgage, deed of trust. pledge, lien. security interest. assignment, charge.
hypothec, encumbrance or statutory lien or trust (including any conditional sale, or other title retention agreement or finance lease) of any nature, on any of the
Collateral without the express prior written consent of the Bank:

Insurance. The Grantor will keep the Collateral insured under policies with such coverage. for such amounts and with such insurers as are satistuctory to the Bank
from time to time, with loss thereunder, payable to the Bank and shall furnish the Bank with a copy of any policy of insurance, certificate of insurance or other
evidence satisfactory to the Bank that such insurance coverage is in effect;

Further Assurances. The Grantor will from time to time forthwith. at the expense of the Granior, duly authorize, execute and deliver such further instruments and
documents, and take such further action, as the Bank may request for the purpose of obtaining or preserving the benefits of, and the rights and povar sranted by,
this Agreement (including the filing of any financing statements or financing change statements under any applicable legislation with respect tothe U latern ) and
for the purpose of correcting any deficiencies or elerical errovs in this Agreement: and

Landlord Agreement. The Grantor will, at the request of the Bank, obtain a written agreement from each landlord of premises where any of the Collieral is
located, in fuvour of the Bunk and in form and substance salisfactory 1o the Bank. whereby such landlord agrees to give notice 1o the Bank of any defuult by the
Grantor under the lease and a reasonable opportunity to cure such default prior to the exercise of any remedies by the landlord and acknowleducs e Sceuvin
Interest created by this Agreement and the right of the Bank (o enforce the Secunity Interest ereated by this Agreement in priority (o any claim ol such Ldlord,
including the right of the landlord 1o distrain on the Collateral for arrears of rent.

6. Survival of Representations and Warranties and Covenant

All agreements, representations, warranties and covenants made by the Grantor in this Agreement are material, will be considered to have been relied on by the Bank and will
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any investigation made at any time by or on behall of the Bank and any disposition or payment of the Obligations
until the indefeasible repayment and performance in full of the Obligations.

7. Performance of Covenants by the Bank

(a)

(b)

The Bank may. in its sole discretion and upon notice to the Grantor, perform any covenant of the Grantor under this Agreement that the Grantor fails o perform
including any covenant the performance of which requires the payment of money. provided that the Bank will not be obligated to perform such covenant on behalf
of the Grantor. The performance by the Bank of any such covenant shall not oblige the Bank to continue to perform any such covenant or other covenants nor
relieve the Grantor from any default or derogate from the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement. The Grantor agrees to indemnify and 1o reimburse
the Bank for all costs and expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the performance by it of any such covenant, and all such costs and expenses shall be
payable by the Grantor to the Bank on demand, shall bear interest at the highest rate per annum applicable (o any of the Obligations, caleulated and compounded
monthly. and shall be added to and form part of the Obligations.

In holding any Collateral, the Bank and any agent or nominee on its behalf is only bound to exercise the same degree of care as it would exercise with respect to
similar property of its own or of similar value held in the same or similar location. The Bank and any agent or nominee on its behalf will be deemed 1o have
exercised reusonable care with respect to the custody and preservation of the Collateral if it takes such action for that purpose as the Grantor reasonably requests in
writing, but failure of the Bank or its nominees to comply with any such request will not of itself be deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care,

8. Dealing with Security Interest

The Bank may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, give up any of the Security Interest, abstain from perfecting any of the Security Interest. accopl compusitons,
grant releases and discharges and waive rights against and otherwise deal with the Grantor, deblors of the Grantor, sureties and others and with any of the Collateral dnd any
other security as the Bank may see fit without prejudice to the liability of the Grantor or the Bank's right to hold and realize any of the Security Interest. The Bank shall not be
accountable 1o the Grantor for the value of any of the Security Interest released except for any moneys actually received by the Bank.
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Events of Default

Obligations not payable on demand shall, at the option of the Bank. become mnediately due and payable upon the occurrence of one or more of the hllASOSs each,
an "event of default"):

(1)
(b)
()

(d)

(e)
(

—
—

(g
(h)

(i)
()
(k)
(i

the Grantor fails 1o pay when due, whether by aceeleration or otherwise, any of the Ohlig

Ons!

the Grantor fails to perform any provision of this Agreement or ofany other agrecment to which the Grantor and the Bank are parties:

if any certificate, statement, representation, warranty, audit report or financial statement heretofore or hereafter furnished by or on behalf of the Grantor pursuant to

orin

connection with this Agreement, or as an inducement o the Bank 1o extend any credit to or to enter inte this or any other agreement with the Grantor, 1s

shown to have been false in any material respect or to have omitted any material fact; or if upon the date of execution of this Agreement, there shall have been any
material adverse change in any of the facts disclosed by any such cenificate, representation, statement, warranty, audit report or financial statement, which change
shall not have been disclosed to the Bank at or prior to the time of such execution:

the Grantor ceases or threatens lo cease (o carry on business, commits an act of bankruptey, becomes insolvent, proceedings or other actions are tuken by or against
the Grantor under the Bankruptey and Insolvency Act (Canada). the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) or similar legislation whether in Canada or
elsewhere, or the Grantor transfers all or substantially all of its assels to another Person:

a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official is appointed in respect of the Grantor or any of the Grantor's property:

the institution by or against the Grantor of any formal or informal proceeding for the dissolution or liquidation or settlement of claims aguinst or winding up of
affairs of the Grantor;

an encumbrancer takes possession of any of the Collateral or any process of execution or distress is levied or enforced upon or against any of the Collaterul:

any indebtedness or liability of the Grantor, other than to the Bank, becomes due and payable, or capable of being declared due and pavahle, boline the stated
maturity thereof or any such indebtedness or liability shall not be puid at the maturity thereof or upon the expiration of any stated applical le grooe pood theeof.
or the Grantor fails to make payment when due under any guarantee given by the Grantor:

if the

Grantor is an individual, the Grantor dies or is found by a court 10 be incapable of managing his or her affairs:

in execution or any other process of any court shall become enforceable agamnst the Grantor:

if the

CGirantor is a partnership, the death of u partner; or

any other event which causes the Bank. in good faith, to deem itself insecure: and the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances or other - ension of
credit that constitutes an Obligation.

Remedies

@) Upon the occurrence of an event of default that has not been cured or waived. the Bank, in addition to any right or remedy otherwise provided herein or by law, will
have the rights and remedies set out below, which may be enforced successively or concurrently:

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)

(vil)
(viii)
(ix)
(x)

(xi)

(xii).

to take such steps as the Bank considers desirable to maintain, preserve or protect the Collateral or its value;

to tuke possession of the Collateral and require the Grantor to assemble the Collateral and deliver or make the Collateral available to the Bank at such place as
may be specified by the Bank and the Bank will not be or be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession by virtue of any such actions;

1o exercise and enforce all rights and remedies of the Grantor with respecet to the Collateral:
to carry on or concur in carrying on all or any part of the business of the Grantor:

for the maintenance, preservation or protection of the Collateral or for carrying on any of the business of the Grantor, to borrow money on the security of the
Collateral, which security will rank in priority to the Security Interest, or on an unsecured basis;

to the exclusion of all others, including the Grantor, to enter upon, occupy and use all or any of the premises, buildings and plants owned or occupied by the
Grantor and use all or any of the Collateral of the Grantor for such time as the Bank requires to facilitate the preservation and realization of the Collateral, free
of charge, and the Bank will not be lable to the Grantor for any negleet in so doing or in respect of any rent, charges, depreciation or damages in connection
with such actions;

to sell, lease, license or otherwise dispose of or concur in selling. leasing, licensing or otherwise disposing of the Collateral upon such reoms and conditions as
the Bank may determine:

to dispose of any of the Collateral in the condition in which it was al the date possession of it was taken. or after any commercinlly cooaorable o
processing or preparation thereof for disposition;

if any part of the Collateral is perishable or will decline speedily m value, to sell or otherwise dispose of same without giving any notice of such dispositon:
to make any arrangement or compromise which the Bank shall think expedient in the interests of the Bank:
to appoint a consultant or monitor, at the Grantor's expense, to evaluate the value of the Collateral, and 1o review the options available 1o the Bank:

1o uppoint or reappoint by instrument in writing any person or persons, whether an officer or officers or employee or employees of 1he Buih o0 not 1o be o
receiver or receivers or a receiver and manager of the Collueral and remove or replace any person or persons so appointed or apply 10 iy cour for the
appointment of a receiver or receiver and manager (each hereinafier called a "Receiver”).

Any Reeciver so appointed shall be deemed 1o be the agent of the Grantor and not the Bank. and the Grantor and not the Bank, shall be solely responsible for the
Receiver's ucts or defaults and for the Receiver's remuneration and expenses. The Bank shall not be in any way responsible for any misconduet. negligence or
failure to act on the part of any such Receiver, its servants, agents or employees,

The Grantor agrees to pay all costs, charges and expenses incurred by the Bank or any Receiver appointed by the Bank, whether directly or for services rendered
(including reasonable legal and auditors' costs and expenses and Receiver remuneration), in operating the Grantor's accounts. in preparing or enforcing this
Agreement, taking and maintaining custody of, preserving, repuiring, processing, preparing for disposition and disposing of the Collateral and in enforcing or
collecting the Obligations, and all such costs, charges and expenses, together with any amounts owing as a result of any borrowing by the Bank or any Receiver
appointed by the Bank, as permitted hereby, shall be a first charge on the Collateral and shall be sceured hereby.

The Bank will give the Grantor such notice, if any, of the date, time and place of any public sale or of the date afier which any private disposition of the Collateral
is to be made as may be required by the PPSA.

The Grantor appoints any officer or employee of the Bank 1o be its attorney in accordance with applicable legislation with full power of substitution, 1o do on the
Grantor's behalf anything that is required to assign, license or transfer, and to record any assignment, license or tansfer of the Collateral, This power of atorney,
which is coupled with an interest, is irrevocable until the release or discharge of the Security Interest. A

The Grantor authorizes the Bank to file such financing statements. financing change stutements and other documents and do such acts, matters and things



(including completing and adding schedules hereto identifying any Collateral or identifying the locations at which the Collateral is locatcd ;uQ correcting any
clerical errors or deficiencies in this Agreement) as the Bank may deem appropriale 10 perfect on an ongoing basis and continue the Security ImAa:rD)@iFlcu and
W its oft

preserve the Collateral and to realize upon the Security Interest. The Grantor hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Bank and wiy icers o
employees from time to time as the true and lawful attorney of the Grantor, with full power of substitution. to do any of the foregoing in e nane af the Girantor
whenever and wherever it may be deemed necessary or expedient. This power of attorney. which is coupled with an interest, is irrevoe be | 1 telisine on

discharge of the Sceurity Interest.

If the disposition of the Collateral fails o satisfy the Obligations secured by this Agreement including the expenses incurred by the Bank in conneetion with the
preservation and realization of the Collateral as described above, the Grantor shall be liable 1o pay any deficiency to the Bank forthwith on demand.

Miscellaneous

(i)

(d)

(e)

4]

(®)

(h)

(i)

(k)

U]
(m)

(n)
(0)

(p)

)

Interpretation. The division of this Agreement into Sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only und <hall e aticen the
construction or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms "this Agreement”, "hereof”, "hereunder” and similar expressions refer to this Agreen o (e uding any
schedule now or hereafrer annexed hercto) and not to any particular Section or other portion hereof. Unless otherwise specified, any reference herem oo Section or
Schedule refers to the specified Section of or Schedule to this Agreement. In this Agreement: (i) words importing the singular number only shall inelude the plural
and vice versa and words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa: (ii) the words "include”, "includes” and
"including" mean "include”, "includes” or "including", in each case, "without limituion™: (iii) reference to any agreement or other instrument in writing means such
agreement or other instrument in writing us amended, modified. repliced or supplemented from time 1o times (iv) unless otherwise indicated. time periods within
which a payment is to be made or any other action is to be taken hercunder shall be caleulated excluding the day on which the period commences and including the
day on which the period ends: and (v) whenever any payment to be made or action to be taken hereunder is required to be made or taken on a day other than a
Business Day, such payment shall be made or action taken on the next following Business Day.

Successors and Assigns, This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators,
successors and permitted assigns, In any action brought by an assignee of this Agreement und the Sccurity Interest or any part thereof to enforce any rights
hereunder, the Grantor shall not assert against the assignee any claim or defence which the Grantor now has or hereafier may have against the Bank.

Amalgamation. The Grantor acknowledges and agrees that in the event it amalgamates with any other company or companies it is the intention of the parties
hereto that the term "Grantor" when used herein shall apply to each of the amalgamating companies and to the amalgamated company. such that the Security
Interest granted hereby shall (i) extend to any "Collateral” in which the amalgamated company thereafter has any rights, and (i) shall secure the "Obhgations” (as
that term is herein defined) of each of the amalgamating compinies and the amalgamated company to the Bank at the time of amalgamation and any "Obligations"
of the amalgamated company to the Bank thereafier arising.

Joint and Several. If there is more than one Grantor named herein, the term "Grantor" shall mean all and each of them, their obligations under this Agreement
shall be joint and several, the Obligations shall include those of all or any one of them and no Grantor shall have the right of subrogation, cxoneration,
reimbursement or indemmnity whatsoever and no right of recourse to the Collateral for the Obligations hereunder unless and until all of the Oblizations have been
paid or performed in full, notwithstanding any change for any cause or in any manner whatsoever in the composition of or membership of any firm o company
which is a party hereto.

Attachment of Security Interest, The Grantor acknowledges that value has been given and that the Security Interest granted hereby will aich v e oo
signs this Agreement and will attach to Collateral in which the Grantor subsequently acquires uny rights. immediately upon the Grantor acquiring such tiolis. The
parties do not intend to postpone the attachment of any Security Interest created by this Agreement.

No Obligation to Advance, Neither the execution of this Agreement nor any advance of funds shall oblige the Bank to advance any funds or any additional finds
or enter into any transaction or renew any note or extend any time for payment of any of the Obligations of the Grantor 1o the Bank.

Information. The Bank may provide any financial and other information it has about the Grantor, the Security Interest and the Collateral 10 any 0w wquinig o
who may acquire an interest in the Security Interest or the Collateral from the Bank or anyone acting on behalf of the Bank.

Assignment. The Bank may assign or ransfer any of its rights under this Agreement without the consent of the Grantor, The Grantor may vot assizy i obligations
under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Bank.

Amendment. Subject to Section 10(f) of this Agreement. no amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by
all of the parties hereto, No course of conduct by the Bank will be deemed to result in an amendment of this Agreement.

Term. This Agreement shall be a continuing agreement in every respect for the payment of the Obligations and it shall remain in full force and effect until all of the
Obligations shall be indefeasibly paid in full or discharged by the Bank and until the Bank shall no longer have any commitment to the Grantor or any other
Person, the fulfillment of which, might result in the creation of Obligations of the Grantor,

Severability. [f any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect. such invalidity or
unenforceability will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction where the Branch of the Bank is located.

Waiver by the Bank. No delay or omission by the Bank in exercising any right or remedy hereunder or with respect o any Obligations shull operate as a waiver
thereof or of any other right or remedy, and no single or partial exercise thereof shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other right or remedy.
Furthermore, the Bank may remedy any default by the Grantor hereunder or with respect to any Obligations in any reasonable manner without waiving the default
remedied and without waiving any other prior or subsequent default by the Grantor, No course of conduct of the Bank will give rise to any reasonable expectation
which is in any way inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement or the Bank's rights hereunder. All rights and remedies of the Bank granted or
recognized herein are cumulative and may be exercised al any time and from time to time independently or in combination.

Non-Substitution. The Security Interest is in addition to and not in substitution for any other security now or hereafier held by the Bank

Entire Agreement. This Agreement including any schedule now or hercafter annexed hereto, constitutes the entive agreement between the G e Tank
wilh respect Lo the subject matter hereof. There are no representations. warranties, terms and conditions, undertakings or collateral agréemctis, exfien nplied o

statutory. between the parties except as expressly set forth in this Agreement,

Acknowledgment. The Grantor acknowledges receipt of a fully executed copy of this Agreement and, 1o the extent permitted by applicable luw, witves the e o
receive & copy of any financing statement, financing change statement or verification statement in respect of any registered financing statement or fiuicing change
stitement prepared, registered or issued in connection with this Agreement.

Execution. The Grantor agrees that this Agreement may be executed electronically and in counterparts.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Grantor has exceuted this Agreement this 20™ duy of January, 2023.

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC

e D /\\\___

(authorized signature)

Per: "’K@,QQ_L] %HORQ)

(authorized sfgnatiire)

Per:

(authorized signature)

Per;

(authorized signature)

Signature:

Witness as 1o execution Nume:

Address of Granor:

Signature

Name:

Address of Grantor:
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THE COLLATERAL 1S NOW AND WILL HEREAFTER BE LOCATED AT THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS(ES) (include Street Town/City Provinee). [/ il Conieneral 1s

SCHEDULE “A”

customarily used in more than one location, list each location]

LOCATION OF COLLATERAL

1250 Franklin Blvd, Unit 2 and 3, Cambridge ON NIR 8B7

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

302
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QUANTITY DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICABLE)
2019 Crown Encore RM6025-45 Refurbished narrow msle reach truck. comes with new 2022Enersys 1A550423

18E-125-13 battery (SN:MVDO0144821 ) and 2022 EnersysNIP3-IN-4C charger (SN: RWC00363421),
including all otherattachments and accessories.

180 Boychuk Drive, Cambridge ON N3H 4R6

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

(SN: 017031737) and Crown FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040094), including all other atachments
andacecessories.

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICABLE)
2013 Crown Encore SC35245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 18-100VTE-2 1 battery GA 198860
(SN: 017031738) and Crown FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040062). including all other attachments
andaccessories.
2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklitt, comes with new 2022 Crown 18-100VTE-21battery GA 98860
(SN: 017031735) and Crown FS3-MP346-3 chirger (SN:3M22040042), including all other attachments
andaceessories,
2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 18-100VTE-21battery OA 198864
(SN: 017031736) and Crown F§3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040057). including all other attachments
andaccessories.
2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 18-100VTE-2 1 battery 9A 198936

325 Stirling Ave S, Kitchener ON N2M 3H6

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

(SN: FWC 1062951 A) and 2022 Enersys NIP3-IN-4Ccharger (SN: FWB1062951), including all other
attachmentsand accessories,

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICABLE)
2015 Crown Lncore SC5245-40 Returbished forklifi, comes with new 2022 Enersys 24-E90D-15battery DA219585

501 Manitou Drive, Unit #2, Kitchener ON N2C 1L5

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

QUANTITY

DESCRIPTION

SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICABLE)

2016 Toyotu 8FBCU25 Refurbished forklift. comes with new 2022 Crown 240C85-19battery (SN:
G2FV26794) and 2022 Crown 48-765-320C-H charger(SN: 22L4154). including all other attachments
andaccessories,

72874
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60 Steckle Place, Kitchener ON N2E 2C3

DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL

303
A307

QUANTITY

DESCRIPTION

SERIAL NUMBER
(IF APPLICAEL)

2014 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklifi, comes with new 2022 Enersys 24-E90D- 1 Sbattery
(SN FWC1062951) and 2022 Enersys NIP3-IN-4C charger(SN: FWB1062951A), including all other
attachments andaceessories.

OA207188

2015 Crown Encore FC4525-50 Refurbished lift truck. comes with new 2022 Exide 24-E90D-2 |battery
(SN:RVJ00301338) and 2022 Encrsys NIP3-JN-4COcharger (SN: FWB1062952), including all other
attachmentsand accessories,

9A222041
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EQUIPMENT DELIVERY AC KN()W[?I:Q'&A&B%ENT

TO: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank
5045 South Service Road. 4th Floor
Burlington, ON L7L 5Y7

RE: Loan and Security Agreement #23001470 between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC, as Borrower/Guarantor and TD
Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank

The undersigned hereby acknowledges and confirms that the equipment referred to in Invoice Various dated Various was delivered 1o the above notwd custoner
on the following date(s):

This contract is not entered into on behalt of a Third Party or iniended 1o be used by o Third Party,

HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

Per: ; /f /
© e DE IS Mede] fon, President

Per:

Name/Title: O e,[_\‘
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Payment Adjustment Addendum - COF Changes

I'his Payment Adjustment Addendum is attached to and forms part of Agreement #23000470 dated January 20, 2023 the “Agrecment”™) boetwoo DERTTAGE
WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. (the “Customer™) and T} Lguipment Finance Canada. a division of The Toronte-Dominion Bank (“TD1 1)

For good and valuable consideration, the purties hereto agree as follows:

The Customer acknowledges and agrees that the pertodic rent or loan payments set out in the Agreement are estimates only, based upon the anticipated interest rate of 6.45%
(the "Contract Rate"), which is the rate of interest based upon TDEF's cost of funds ("COF Rauie") as of the dite of the caleulation and preparation of the Agreement.

The Customer acknowledges that the actual COF Rate interest rate on the date on which TDEF pays for such equipment or makes an advance in the case of u loun. may differ
from the above rate which will affect the Contract Rate. Accordingly, the required periodic rent or loan payments under the Agreement will be adjusted upwards or
downwards, as the case may be and in the same proportion to any increase or decrease in the Contract Rate as at the date on which TDEF pays for such equipment or makes
an advance in the case of a loun. TDEF is hereby expressly authorized to make all such adjustments to the Agreement (including adjusting the required periodic rent or loan
payments) as may be necessary to reflect any such change in the COF Rate.

TDEF will provide notice to the Customer of such change to the required periodic rent or loan payment under the Agreement.

Agreed and acknowledged this 20™ day of January, 2023,

TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.
Toronto-Dominion Bank

R
Per Per (j / .
Name/Title: I\';lmc"l'illcmm\‘ia&,l,p(eSUCJ\\ o

Name/Title:
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

FROM: HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. ("Customer™)
TO: TD Equipment Finance Canada, a division of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (D Lguipment Iinance™)
RE: Agreement dated the 20" day of January. 2023 between HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC. as Customer and TD Lquipment [

(“Agreement™)

Customer hereby acknowledges that it is entering into an Agreement with TD Eguipment Finance for the following equipment:

EQUIPMENT

NEW/ YEAR MAKE/MODEL DliS(‘Rll"l’lT)f\' SERIAL NUMBER/
USED VIN
USED 2016 Toyota 8FBCU23 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 72874

240C85-19battery (SN: G2FV26794) and 2022 Crown
48-765-320C-H chargeriSN: 221.4154), including all other
attachments andaccessories.

USED 2015 Crown Lncore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Enersys 9A219585
24-E90D-1 Sbattery (SN: 'WC1062951A) and 2022 Enersys
NIP3-IN-4Ccharger (SN: FWB1062951), including all other
attachmentsand aceessories.

USED 2014 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Enersys 9A207188
24-E90D-15battery (SN: FWC1062951) and 2022 Enersys
NIP3-IN-4C charger(SN: FWB1062931A). including all other
B attachments andaccessories.

USED 2019 Crown Encore RM6025-45 Refurbished narrow aisle reach truek, comes with new 1AS50423
2022Enersys |8E-125-13 battery (SN:MVDO0144821) and
2022 LnersysNIP3-IN-4C charger (SN: RWC00363421),
including all otherattachments and accessories.

USED 2015 Crown Encore FC4525-50 Returbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Exide 24- 9A222041
EQ0D-21 battery (SN: RVIO0301338) and 2022 Enersys -
NIP3-IN-4CO charger (SN-FWRB1062932)_including all
other attachments and accessories

LSED 2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown OA 198860
18-T00VTE-2 I battery (SN: 017031735) and Crown
FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040042), including all other
attachments andaccessories,

USED 2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown DA 198864
18-100VTE=2 Mhattery (SN: 017031736) und Crown
FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040057), including all other
attachments andaceessories.

USED 2013 Crown Encore SC5243-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown IA 198866
18-100VTE-21battery (SN: 017031738) and Crown
FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040062). including all other
attachments andaccessories.

USED 2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 9A198936
18-100VTE-21battery (SN: 017031737) and Crown
FS3-MP346-3 charger (SN:3M22040094), including all other
attachments andaccessories,

Customer acknowledges it is unable to provide confirmation of payment with respect to the Equipment and hereby confirms that all Equipment pertaining to the Agreement and
between TD Equipment Finance and Customer is as per invoices and as per locations specified in the Agreement.

Customer further confirms that the Equipment has been paid for in full and 1s free and clear of all encumbrances, liens, claims and charges arising by or through Customer
(collectively, “Liens™) and Customer has ull necessary right, title and interest in and to the Equipment to effectively convey title in and to the Equipment to TD Equipment Finance.
Customer agrees to indemnify and save TD Equipment Finance harmless from any and all damages, costs, losses, claims or demands which TD Equipment Finance sustains, incurs
or becomes liable us a result of any repossession, seizure or resale of such Equipment arising from the inability of Customer to convey title to the Equipment 1o TT | quipien!
Finange free and clear of all Liens.

A310



DATED this 20 day of January, 2023,
Acknowledged by:
HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC.

By <D / %
NumelTillc:kﬂk ) HEE k \(OS, p[§ ,Ql_ct ]’W'k
By: \’KLD_QU M\l J-DDJ

Name/Title: (N K
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BILL OF SALE

BETWEEN JBT TRANSPORTATION INC. (the “Scller™) and HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION INC, (the “Buyer )

WHEREAS the Seller wishes o sell and the Buyer wishes 1o buy all those goods as deseribed on Schedule "A™ hereto attached (the “Asscis o0 1he wenms and
conditions as deseribed and in consideration of the following wmounts:

Purchase Price: $1.00
Total: $1.00

NOW THEREFORE this Bill of Sale witnesses that for good und valuable consideration now paid by the Buyer to the Seller at or before the execution and
delivery of this Bill of Sale (the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged), the Seller grants, bargains, sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and sets over to
the Buyer, its successors and assigns. the Assets together with all right. title and interest of Seller therein and every part thereof.

The Seller covenants, promises and agrees with the Buyer that the Seller is now rightfully entitled to the sold, assigned and transferred property und Assets and
that the Seller now has good and valid right, title and authority to sell, assign and transfer to the Buyer, its successors and assigns, according to the true intent and
meaning of these presents and that the Buyer shall immediately after execution and delivery have possession of and may from time to time and at all times
peacefully and quietly have, hold, possess and enjoy the same and every part thereof to and for its own use and benefit without any manner of hindrance,
interruption, molestation, claim or demand whatsoever of. from or by the Seller or any person whomsoever and with good and marketable title thereto, free and
clear and absolutely released and discharged from and ugainst all former and other bargains, sales, gifts, grants, mortgages, pledges, security interests, adverse
claims, liens, charges and encumbrances of any nature or kind whatsoever, and the Seller indemnifies and shall save the Buyer harmless with respect thereto.

The Seller covenants and agrees with the Buyer, its successors and assigns, that it will from time to time and at all times hereafter. on every reasonable request of
the Buyer, its successors and assigns, make do and execute or cause and procure to be mude., done and executed all further acts, deeds or assurances as may be
reasonibly required by the Buyer, its successors and assigns, for more effectually and completely vesting in the Buyer, its successors and assigns. the property and
assets sold, assigned and transferred in accordance with the terms of this Bill of Sale or for the purpose of registration or otherwise,

It 1s agreed that this Bill of Sale and everything herein contained shall enure 1o the benefit of and be binding upon the executors, wdministidors i s o
successors of the parties hereto respectively.

It is agreed that this Bill of Sale shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the Province of Ontario und of Canadi. eveept
where all the Assets are in a province other than Ontario, in which case this Bill of Sale shall be governed by the applicable laws of that Provinee,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Seller has executed this Bill of Sule this 20™ day of January, 2023,

Seller's GST/HST Number:

JBT TRANSPORTATION IN

Per: q_;—-)/ %

Tilic:.Dc mfg “§ ! i&“gi )y i e )Qﬁd
Per: \"K | QG 4] bmm
Title: ‘ i
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This is Schedule “A™ to Bill of Sale dated January 20, 2023 between JBT TRANSPORTATION INC. as Seller and HERITAGE WAREHOUSING & DISTRIBUTION

INC. as Buyer.
YEAR MAKE/MODEL DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER/VIN
2013 Crown Encore SC5245-40 Refurbished forklift, comes with new 2022 Crown 18- 100V TE-21battery 9AT98860
(SN2 017031735) und Crown FS3-MP346-3 cha